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6 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

Chairman’s Statement

ERE®RE

Chairman EE
Shi Kancheng  #&{iak

Dear shareholders,

On behalf of Zhong An Real Estate Limited (“Zhong An” or the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”), | am pleased to
present the annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2016 (“2016").

REVIEW OF RESULTS

The audited consolidated revenue of the Group for 2016 was RMB5,007.1
million, representing an increase of about 73.7% from that of 2015. The
gross profit for 2016 was RMB625.0 million, representing an increase of
about 36.8% from that of 2015. The profit attributable to owners of the
parent for 2016 was about RMB125.3 million, representing a decrease
of about 70.2% from that in 2015. The basic earnings per share was
RMBO0.05 (2015: RMBO0.18). The Board did not propose to declare a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2016 (2015: nil).
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MARKET AND BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2016, the real estate market in The People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”) experienced a significant rise in the midst of differentiation among
cities and destocking policy implemented by the government. Facing the
rapid surge of property and land prices, the government successively
promulgated control measures since the fourth quarter, which resulted in
the gradual cool down of the market.

Against such a backdrop and by focusing on the area with competitive
advantages such as Yangtze River Delta region, deploying operating
and marketing strategies in response to the market conditions in a timely
manner and introducing products with high price-performance ratio for
own use, both the volume and amount of contract sales of the Group had
achieved an encouraging upsurge in 2016.

During 2016, the Group had sixteen projects on sale located in six cities
and districts in the Yangtze River Delta Region and the overall sales result
was basically in line with our expectation. For the year ended 31 December
2016, the Group recorded contracted sales of approximately RMB5,030.2
million, representing an increase of 47.4% as compared with that of 2015,
and contracted GFA sold of approximately 504,000 sg.m., representing
an increase of approximately 34.4% as compared with that of 2015, with
contracted average selling price of approximately RMB9,977.1 per sg. m.,
representing an increase of approximately 9.7% as compared with that of
last year.

Besides devoting in residential property development, China New City
Commercial Development Limited (“China New City”), a subsidiary of
the Company listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, has
brought in a professional management team to impel the development of
commercial, investment properties and hotel businesses, and to develop
urban complex creating value for cities as well as expand distinctive
property management and value-added services so as to build up a
diversified business portfolio for enhancing the overall competitiveness as
well as mitigating operational risks of the Group.
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8 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

Chairman’s Statement

EFE®|E

During 2016, the Group’s Holiday Inn located in Xiaoshan, Hangzhou
was in smooth operation. Currently, the Group has five high-end hotels
in operation, under construction or in planning stage, including the hotels
managed under the “Bright” brand of the Company in Qiandao Lake,
Hangzhou and Huaibei, Anhui Province which will be put into operation
respectively in the first half of 2017 and in mid-2017. The remaining two
hotels will be successively put into operation as planned.

A series of the Group’s investment properties including Hang Lung Plaza
located in Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, are expected to continue to
provide stable cash flow for the Group. At present, the Group holds three
major investment properties in the construction or planning phase, all of
which are commercial complex projects: Zhong An Times Square Phase |
in Yuyao is expected to be completed in 2017, while the construction
works of Plot A2 of International Office Centre and Jiangcun Parcel are
scheduled to start in 2017.

The implementation of the new urbanization development strategy by the
government has provided a huge potential for the Group to grow. The
Group will continue to cooperate with local governments to develop new
towns and related infrastructures planning. Furthermore, the Group has
also diversified its business in overseas properties market, 11 townhouses
will be developed in 2 phases in wealthy low-density residential area in
Vancouver, Province of British Columbia, Canada. The development is
expected to be completed by 2018. The site is located at prime location
with about 20 minutes’ drive to downtown Vancouver City. It is expected
that it can generate considerable return to the Group.

OUTLOOK AND DEVELOPMENT
STRATEGY

Looking forward, the Chinese economy is still facing challenges
and uncertainties prevail in the global market. It is expected that the
government will continue its policy of differentiation among cities. The
control policy on first and second tier-cities will further intensify. However,
as the current stock level is relatively low, it is expected that the property
prices will remain stable. Third and fourth tier-cities may benefit from the
policy of differentiation among cities, which further improve the supply and
demand situation.

The Group believes that the continued implementation of the new
urbanization policy by the central government will provide enormous room
for continued growth of the real estate industry. The demands for value-
for-money and end-user’s products with potential appreciation remain to
persist. The Group is optimistic in the long term potential of the market, and
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will proactively seize market opportunities and timely adjust its marketing
and pricing strategies and product mix. The Group will continue to promote
its business model of ‘acquiring land and selling products at a fair price;
developing projects and collecting sales proceeds in quick process’, and
develop more quick-sale products targeting end users and high value-
added, low-density residential units in order to accelerate asset turnover.
We will continue to fully leverage on our strong brand name with active
marketing strategy. In addition, the Group will continue the development of
commercial and investment properties, hotel management and leasing and
management of investment properties and explore new businesses when
appropriate.

As one of the main target regions for new urbanization and modern town
development, the Yangtze River Delta Region will be set for building a
world-class city cluster. Being a veteran developer in the Yangtze River
Delta Region, Zhong An has accumulated extensive experience in the
development of complex real estate projects in the region and has built up
its own premium brand advantage. Therefore, the Group will continue its
established development strategy of seeking investment opportunities in
the affluent second and third-tier cities in the Yangtze River Delta Region
and the Top 100 counties across the country and strengthen cooperation
with its strategic partners to further expand its market share and maintain
its competitive edge in the industry. The Group will continue to uphold its
prudent financial policy. It will continue to strengthen its internal control,
implement a series of management policies, such as detailed planning
management, hierarchical control and review at critical points, further
improvements in the standardization of product, process and system,
in order to enhance management and operational efficiency. Looking
forward, the Group is committed to become one of the most competitive
real estate developers in the Yangtze River Delta Region, as well as in
China, and to build up a diversified and synergetic business and product
portfolio, in order to ensure sustainable development of the Company, and
maximize values and generate satisfactory return for our shareholders over
the long term.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express sincere gratitude to the
support and trust of our shareholders and business partners as well as the
dedicated efforts of all our staff.

Shi Kancheng
Chairman

The People’s Republic of China,
27 March 2017
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12 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

Management Discussion and Analysis

B W A

RESULTS

The audited consolidated revenue of the Group for 2016 was RMB5,007.1
million, representing an increase of about 73.7% from that of 2015. The
gross profit for 2016 was RMB625.0 million, representing an increase of
about 36.8% from that of 2015. The profit attributable to owners of the
parent for 2016 was about RMB125.3 million, representing a decrease
of about 70.2% from that in 2015. The basic earnings per share was
RMBO0.05 (2015: RMBO0.18). The Board did not propose to declare a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2016 (2015: ni).

INDUSTRY REVIEW

In 2016, based on the national policy of destocking and affected by
the loose monetary policy, the real estate industry in China achieved
substantial upturn. Since the fourth quarter, the real estate market in
China has cooled down gradually following the successive promulgation of
control policies.

According to National Bureau of Statistics of China, the gross floor area
(GFA) of residential properties sold in 2016 was recorded at about 1.58
pbillion sg.m., representing an increase of about 22.5% as compared to that
of 2015, which is substantially higher than the increment of about 6.5%
recorded in 2015. According to the portal site of www.tmsf.com (#71/1&
BRERE#), the GFA of residential properties sold in Hangzhou of Zhejiang
Province was about 20.81 million sg.m., representing an increase of about
49% as compared to that of 2015, whereas the average selling price
per sq.m. was RMB17,280, representing an increase of about 8.1% as
compared to that of 2015.
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According to XL-House Institute, the GFA of residential properties sold
in Hefei of Anhui Province was about 8.20 million sg.m., representing a
decrease of about 15.3% as compared to that of 2015. The average selling
price per sg.m. was RMB11,069, representing an increase of about 28.5%
as compared to that of 2015. According to www.hbfdc.gov.cn, the GFA
of residential properties sold in Huaibei of Anhui Province was about 1.01
million sg.m., representing an increase of about 10.9% as compared to
that of 2015. The average selling price per sq.m. was RMB4,720, which
was substantially the same compared to that of 2015. According to the
portal site of www.eyuyao. com, the GFA of residential properties sold in
Yuyao of Zhejiang Province was about 1.176 million sg.m., representing an
increase of about 54.5% as compared to that of 2015. The average selling
price per sq.m. was RMB8,900, representing a decrease of about 4.3% as
compared to that of 2015.

According to the portal site of www.house.zxip.com, the GFA of residential
properties sold in Cixi of Zhejiang Province was about 0.78 million sg.m.,
representing a decrease of about 19.4% as compared to that of 2015. The
average selling price per sq.m. was RMB8,234, representing a decrease of
about 9.7% as compared to that of 2015.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The recognised revenue of properties sold and delivered by the Group in
2016 was about RMB5,027.7 million, representing an increase of about
74.5% compared to that of 2015. The rise was due to the increase in GFA
of properties sold and delivered by the Group in 2016.

The GFA of properties sold and delivered by the Group in 2016 was about
6283.230 sg.m. (2015: 249,673 sg.m.), representing an increase of about
149.6% as compared to that of 2015.

The recognised average selling price per sq.m. achieved by the Group in
2016 was about RMB8,067.2, representing a decrease of about 30.1%
from RMB11,543.2 in 2015. It is due to the greater increase in the portion
of sales of properties with lower selling prices in 2016.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEmED T

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the total recognised GFA sold
for the major projects of the Group and the respective recognised revenue

are as follows:

HZE2016F12A31ALLFERN  AEBEBIEA
NERRHEEBEREEREERALT ¢

Percentage of
interest in the
project attributable
to the Group

Recognised Recognised rEEH
GFA revenue hZEH
Projects 1HH ERAHEERSE ERERHEERA ERNES L
sQg. m. RMB million
K ARBEETT
Zhejiang Province HIE
Hangzhou M
Hidden Dragon Bay p=aE 183 2.9 67.6%
Jiarun Mansion e SN 50,623 745.6 73.1%
Landscape Bay =& 25,469 298.9 92.6%
White Horse Manor BEILE 16,859 196.3 90.0%
|deal Bay TP A8 198,700 1,270.8 45.9%
Others* > 1,849 13.1
Yuyao Rk
Dragon Bay 1 REE 10,523 300.0 90.0%
Jade Mansion ERREE 98,545 828.1 93.0%
Zhong An Times Square (Phase ll) LR ES (—H) 66,962 626.8 93.0%
Zhong An Landscape Garden, Cixi  ZZ R L 1117K58 74,299 335.2 90.0%
Anhui Province ZRE
Hefei |E®
Green Harbour LEEE 9,631 97.6 84.2%
Huaibei EdE™
Vancouver City B ETEER 69,587 312.4 100.0%
623,230 5,027.7
* Including: Landscape Garden and White Horse Noble Mansion. * BFE  WKFEME FEER -

The average cost of properties sold per sq.m. of the Group was about
RMB6,936 in 2016, representing a decrease of about 27.1% from
RMB9,515 in the previous year. It was due to the lower development cost

of relevant projects recognized for sale during the year.
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Progress of development on the major projects

Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province
Landscape Bay

This is a residential project located on the south bank of Qiantang River,
Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, which was completed
in phases in previous years, with a total GFA of about 300,012 sg.m..
The project includes island-style townhouses, high-rise apartments with
river view, car park lots and clubhouse. The entire project was completed
in 2011. The volume of sales of this project during 2016 was within
expectation.

Hidden Dragon Bay

This is an integrated commercial complex in Wenyan Town, Xiaoshan
District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province with a total GFA of about 241,695
sg.m.. The project includes low-rise luxurious leisure mansions for
corporations, high-rise serviced apartments, a shopping mall, street shops
and car park lots. The project was completed in April 2013. The volume of
sales of this project during 2016 was within expectation.

International Office Centre

This is a large-scale integrated commercial project in Qianjiang Century
Town, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province with a total planned
GFA of about 1,896,860 sg.m. in 3 phases, Phases A to C. Phase A of the
International Office Centre includes two hotels, office buildings, a shopping
mall, serviced apartments and underground car parking lots. The serviced
apartments, a shopping mall and underground car parking lots of Plot A3
of Phase A, with a total GFA of about 327,996 sg.m., were completed. The
development of Plot A2 of the International Office Centre is expected to be
commenced in 2017.

White Horse Manor

This is a residential project in Xiaoheshan, Yuhang District, Hangzhou,
Zhejiang Province with a total GFA of about 243,497 sg.m.. It consists
of high-rise residential buildings and low-density residential townhouses
situated at a hilly terrain with beautiful scenery and green vegetation. The
townhouse units are built with American architectural design and on the
terrain with spacious view, The project is in proximity to local universities
and Xixi Wetland. The entire project was completed in December 2015.
The volume of sales of the project during 2016 was within expectation.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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16 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENmESH

Ideal Bay

This is a residential project in Linping, Yuhang District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang
Province with a total GFA of about 538,856 sg.m.. The project consists of
townhouses in British architectural design and high rise apartment units,
which was fully completed in June 2016. The volume of sales of the project
during 2016 was within expectation.

Chaoyang No. 8

This is a project with multi-storey residential apartments and commercial
amenities in Shushan Town, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang
Province and its total GFA is about 199,224 sg.m.. It is at the prime
location with Hangzhou Metro Line No.2 terminal in the proximity. As at
31 December 2016, the construction was in progress. The project, as a
whole, is expected to be completed in around December 2017. The pre-
sale of the project during 2016 was within expectation.

Hangzhou Qiandao Lake Run Zhou Resort Hotel

This is a hotel project in Qiandaohu Town, Chunan County, Hangzhou,
Zhejiang Province with a GFA of about 46,691 sqg.m.. This hotel will be built
at the shore of Qiandao Lake with a beautiful lake view and natural habitat.
As at 31 December 2016, the construction was in progress. It is expected
that the project will be completed in the first half of 2017.

College Square

This is a residential project located at Yuhang District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang
Province and its total GFA is about 195,293 sg.m.. It consists of high rise
residential apartments and shopping units. It is very close to the old city of
Yuhang District and situated at the planned hi-tech center of Hangzhou. As
at 31 December 2016, the construction was in progress and is expected
to be completed in around the second quarter of 2018. The pre-sale of this
project during 2016 was within expectation.

White Horse Palace

This is a residential project located at Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou,
Zhejiang Province and its total GFA is about 68,345 sq.m.. It consists of
high rise residential apartments and townhouses. It is at one of the core
areas of Xiaoshan District. As at 31 December 2016, the construction was
in progress and is expected to be completed in around the second quarter
of 2018. The pre-sale of this project during 2016 was within expectation.
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Jiangcun Parcel

It is located in Jiangcun Unit, Xihu District, Hangzhou and is in proximity
to Xixi Wetland. The total site area of the project is 39,703 sg.m. and total
GFA is 59,555 sg.m. The project is expected to commence construction
in 2017, which will become an integrated commercial complex comprising
offices, serviced apartments and shops.

Yuyao, Zhejiang Province

Dragon Bay

This is a high-end low-density residential project in Yuyao, Zhejiang
Province, which was completed in 2013, with a total GFA of 196,809
sg.m.. The project consists of French, European and Spanish-style low-
rise residential buildings. The sale during 2016 was within expectation.

Jade Mansion

This is a low-density residential project in Yuyao, Zhejiang Province with
a total GFA of 292,807 sg.m.. The project consists of 3 phases with
townhouses and residential apartments and it is next to the Dragon Bay.
The construction of Phase | with townhouse was completed in 2014 and
Phase Ill was completed in June 2016. The construction of Phase |l started
at the end of 2016. The volume of sales of this project during 2016 was
within expectation.

Zhong An Times Square

This is a large-scale integrated commercial project in Yuyao, Zhejiang
Province, with a total GFA of about 628,408 sg.m. in 2 phases. It is next to
the Dragon Bay and the Jade Mansion, which are projects spanning along
a river. The project consists of 2 phases. Phase | is planned to include a
shopping mall, a boutique hotel and two commercial office towers and
underground car parking spaces while Phase Il is planned to include two
hotels, one Grade A office tower and six high-rise serviced apartment
buildings, underground car parking spaces and street shops. Phase Il of
this project was completed in September 2016 and the construction of
Phase | is still in progress, which is expected to be completed in around
September 2017. The volume of sales of Phase Il of this project during
2016 was within expectation.
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Zhong An Landscape Garden, Cixi

This is a residential project with commercial portion which provides
ancillary services to the local residents. The total GFA is about 510,125
sg.m.. It consists of multi-storey apartments and commercial block
which will be constructed in phases. The first phase of the multi-storey
apartments was completed in June 2016. The volume of sales of the multi-
storey apartments during 2016 was within expectation.

Hefei, Anhui Province
Green Harbour

This is a low-density residential project in Hefei, Anhui Province, of which
Phases 1B and 1C were completed in previous years. The volume of sales
of this project during 2016 was within expectation.

Huaibei, Anhui Province
Vancouver City

This is a low density residential project in Huaibei, Anhui Province, which
includes townhouses, multi-storey apartments and shopping units. The
project is developed in phases, out of which six phases were completed as
at 31 December 2016. The pre-sale during 2016 was within expectation.

The construction of a hotel, VC Hotel, with GFA of about 67,061 sg.m. in
Phase 6D will be completed in the mid of 2017.

Tianjin

This is a land re-development project located in Hexi District, Tianjin.
The reallocation and demoalition works is expected to commence later.
[t is expected that this allocated land will, upon completion of the re-
development project, be transferred to the local government. This re-
development project is a part of the urban renewal project of the Tianjin
government.

Overseas
Amber Rise

This project was set up in Vancouver, Province of British Columbia,
Canada with a GFA of about 7,719 sg.m.. The site is located in wealthy
district with about 20 minutes’ drive to downtown of Vancouver city. Totally
11 townhouses with individual swimming pools and deluxe design will be
built in 2 phases. Construction was commenced in the fourth quarter of
2016 and it is expected that the entire project will be completed by end of
2018.
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Contracted sales in 2016

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the contracted GFA sold by the
Group was about 504,176 sg.m. (2015: 375,188 sq.m.) with the amount of
about RMB5,030.2 million (2015: RMB3,413.3 million). Set out below are

the details of the contracted sales from the major projects:
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2016 FERIHE

EEE WD T

HE2016F 12 A31BIEFE  AEBEMA R
EmEL A504,176 F 5K (20154 : 375,188 F
FK) AREERABHARKES0302E58 T

(20154 : AR¥3,413.38&7T) ' TEHEAMA

RISHEFIBRT :
Percentage of
interest in
the project
attributable
to the Group
Contracted Contracted rEH
Projects HE GFA sold amount hEZIEH
ERMEEE ERIEERA ERNES L
(sg.m.) (RMB million)
(FEHXK) (AREBEET)
Zhejiang Province HIE
Hangzhou BN
Chaoyang No. 8 B3R5 8 5% 31,827 461.6 90%/65.8%
Hidden Dragon Bay BieE 183 3.0 67.6%
|deal Bay 1918 & 84,095 646.7 45.9%
Jiarun Mansion SN 51,192 813.3 73.1%
Landscape Bay =& 22,988 301.4 92.6%
White Horse Manor SPIIEE: 14,738 234.2 90.0%
White Horse Palace B ST 11,921 352.3 90.0%
College Square BEE 57,795 423.0 90.0%
Chaoyang Yinzuo FAR5 R B 5,176 52.0 65.8%
Highlong Plaza 152 % 5,826 76.3 65.8%
Others* EHfh* 1,980 18.6
Yuyao £
Dragon Bay B 8,911 243.4 90.0%
Jade Mansion HEEE 60,160 528.7 93.0%
Zhong An Times Square (Phase I) RN ES (ZH) 24,849 2421 93.0%/68.0%
Cixi 94
Zhong An Landscape Garden, Cixi  ZZZER LK 28,189 1451 90.0%/65.8%
Anhui Province ZRE
Hefei =y
Green Harbour FERE 4,522 43.4 84.2%
Huaibei EdE™
Vancouver City B ETEE 89,824 445 1 100.0%
504,176 5,030.2
* Including: Landscape Garden and White Horse Noble Mansion. * BFE KRB FEE o
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It is expected that the GFA available for sale or lease or operation from the
projects to be completed in 2017 would be about 1,029,182 sg.m., the
details of which are as follows:

Percentage of

TERTH 2017 FETIE B My r] i & sk E sk ae &
B EEEIEL 51,029,182 K » BT ¢

interest in
GFA available the project
for sale/lease/ attributable
operation to the Group
e HE REMAESL Usage
Projects EE RENELEAEE BHEERZEDL A&
(sa.m.)
(FFHK)
Chaoyang No.8 5 855 199,225 65.8% For sale
HE
VC Hotel RETEEE 67,061 100.0% For operation
(Phase 6D of Vancouver City) CREEME D) e
Zhong An Landscape Garden, Cixi BER TG 50,109 90.0% For sale
(Phase Il) (ZH9) HE
Zhong An Times Square BREERES 305,473 65.8% For operation
(Phase |) (—89) and sale
mE ke
Hangzhou Qiandao Lake N T &4 46,691 73.1% For operation
Run Zhou Resort Hotel N E RS e
Internatinoal Office Centre B L) 139,681 73.1% For sale/leasing
(Plot A3) (B A3MER) HE/HE
Hidden Dragon Bay B 121,169 67.6% For sale/leasing
HETHE
Highlong Plaza 18I &% 99,773 65.8% For sale/leasing
HETHE
Total g 1,029,182
Land bank T iR

As at 31 December 2016, the total GFA of the Group’s land bank was
about 5,925,163 sg.m., out of which the total unsold or undelivered GFA

R2016F 12 A31H » ANEE L HERZEER
TE#)55,925 163 F 7K - EHEEMERLES
RRATHIZREEFEL A1,627,304F 75K » 122016
F12A31 8 XEBLHFEEFHORER T AE
FIREARKE 1,183 7T ©

of the completed properties projects was about 1,627,304 sg.m.. As at 31
December 2016, the average acquisition cost of the Group’s overall land
bank was about RMB1,183 per sq.m..

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the GFA of properties of which  #Z2016F 12 A31HILFEE A - AEEHE LY
the construction was newly commenced by the Group was about 350,334 A EEMEIE4) A 350,334 F K
sg.m..
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Other business development

The Group strives to build up a diversified business portfolio so as to
provide more stable income in the future and to mitigate operational risk.
We will broaden the scope of property services which includes hotel
operation, leasing, property management services, nursery stock and
agricultural plantation, in order to extend the downstream services of
our property development business and to maintain a steady and solid
operation of our Group.

Hotel operation

Holiday Inn Xiaoshan Hangzhou, a hotel of the Group, is located next to
the Highlong Plaza in Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province. It is
managed by Holiday Inn (China) Co., Limited, a well-known international
hotel brand within the InterContinental Hotels Group. It recorded a revenue
of about RMB46.7 million for 2016, which was slightly lower than the
revenue of about RMB48.1 million recorded in 2015. The occupancy rate
was about 57.7% (2015: 54.5%).

Leasing

The leasing revenue for 2016 was about RMB62.0 million, representing
a decrease of about 31.1% compared to RMB90.1 million in 2015. It
was mainly due to the decrease in rental income as a result of the assets
optimization and decoration works carried out in the Highlong Plaza during
2016.

Currently, Highlong Plaza provides the main source of leasing income of
the Group. This plaza consists of office buildings, a shopping centre, a
hotel, serviced apartments and underground car parking lots. The serviced
apartments at Highlong Plaza were sublet to and managed by independent
operators, Ningbo Sanbi Hotel and Hangzhou Youbang Hotel. The
performance of the operation was satisfactory.

The shopping units of Hidden Dragon Bay with GFA of about 24,211 sg.m.
had contributed another source of rental income during the year.

The overall leasing rate was 79% (2015: 75%).
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Property management

The Group provides quality property management services to the
communities located in properties developed by the Group and other
developers. The services are further enhanced by including the provision
of travel tours, housekeeping and nanny services, etc.. The provision of
customer-oriented services and the wide variety of services offered have
strengthened the Group’s corporate brand management.

Other services

The Group is also developing nursery stock plantation for agricultural
purposes and managing organic plantations for producing agricultural
products. The customers are mainly the home-owners of the properties
to which property management services are provided by the Group. Such
value-added downstream services will form an integral part of the Group’s
property development and management businesses, and are expected to
further fortify the Group’s corporate branding.

AWARDS AND RECOGNITIONS

The Group had received the following awards and accolades from the PRC
government and recognized authorities during 2016:

Awarded by
RS

Awards

#®15

MREE

AEERAEE N EMAEPMRAENMEETR
HEENYREERS - BB IMNKE - KB R
RIBERT - RIEKFREE—FRS - BRUT
FERBRSERREPIREZBICARBIODE
miEEE o

HLfth AR %5

AEENEREXERABERSLERRESRER
BEM BFXIERAAKEREYMEEENY
EET - GURMMETHRBBRAEENE
BRMEEERH—D - BHRRE—PER -

RIAREE

AEER 2016 5 EEBFNRTHBEENT
SRR -

Awarded parties/projects

B%5,HE

Enterprise Research Institute of Development
Research Center of State Council, Real Estate
Research Institute of Tsinghua University and China
Index Academy

BBk ERARFOECERRN  BERE
FHEWFRAM - RS

TOP10

Hong Kong renowned financial magazine “China
Financial Market”

FRERM (T ERE)

Hong Kong renowned financial magazine “China
Financial Market”

BRERMEETRERE)

Companies Awards

Top 10 of China Real Estate Integrated
Development Expert Pioneer Brand Value in 2016
2016 hBIE i ER A A B R X R L mEEE

“Best Investment Value Award” in the 2016 China
Financial Market Listed Companies Awards
2016 ElIgtE EARAR REREBER

“Listed Companies with the Most Growth Potential”
in the 2016 China Financial Market Listed

Zhong An Real Estate Limited
RREEBRRIA

China New City Commercial
Development Limited

PR EEERER AR

Zhong An Real Estate Limited
RREEERLT

2016 FBIEE FT AR AR RAES

FHRA]
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Awards

®15

EEE WD T

Awarded parties/projects

®%5,HE

China Property Management Institute, China Index

Academy

REMEEERE  PREHHTR

Real Estate Research Institute in Anhui
Province

LREHER T

Hefei Real Estate Administration Bureau
EEMEMEEER

Housing and Urban Construction Department
in Anhui Province, Housing and Urban and
Rural Construction Information Center in Anhui

2016 China Top 100 Property Management
Companies

2016 P EIMERBAREE

2015 Top 50 Real Estate Listed Companies
in terms of Comprehensive Strength in Anhui
Province
CHEFHERBECE2015FEHEEEN
5058 b %

Demonstration Residential District in Hefei
AEDRBET/NE

2016 Property Management Standardization
Demonstration Project in Anhui Province
2016 F L HEMFEERRELTEIER

Zhejiang Zhong An Property
Co. Ltd.

IR LZNEREERAT
Anhui Zhong An Real Estate

Development Co.,Ltd.
ZHRRFEHEREERAF

Green Harbour

treE

Anhui Zhong An Property
Management Co., Ltd.
ZHBLYEERFAR AR

Province
TREEE P ERE
WA ERESH L

ZHEEEM

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2016, the Group employed a total of 2,610 staff (2015:
2,247). In 2016, the employees cost of the Group was about RMB197.9
million (2015: about RMB173.9 million), representing an increase of
about 13.8%. The increase was mainly due to the hiring of higher caliber
and more staff during 2016. The employees’ remuneration policy was
determined by reference to factors such as remuneration information
in respect of the local market, the overall remuneration standard in the
industry, inflation level, corporate operating efficiency and performance of
the employees. The Group conducts performance appraisal on a yearly
basis for its employees, the results of which are taken into account of in the
annual salary review and promotion assessment. The Group’s employees
are considered for the entitlerment of annual discretionary bonus according
to certain performance conditions and appraisal results. To attract
high calibre people and solidify the management of the Group, eligible
participants (including employees of the Group) may be granted options
to subscribe for shares in the Company pursuant to the share option
scheme adopted by the Company. The Group also provides continuous
learning and training programs to its employees to enhance their skills and
knowledge, so as to maintain their competitiveness.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board determines the dividend policy of the Company according to
financial condition, operating results, capital requirements, shareholders’
equity, contractual restraint and other factors considered relevant by the
Board.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS
Gross profit

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group recorded gross profit
of about RMB625.0 million, representing an increase of about 36.8% as
compared to that of about RMB457.0 million in the previous year. The
increase in gross profit is the net effect of (i) the increase in recognised
revenue from the properties sold and delivered and (i) the relatively higher
costs of the properties sold and delivered in 2016.

Other income and gains

Other income and gains dropped by about 89.1% to about 30.2 million
in 2016 from about RMB276.3 million in 2015. The decline was primarily
caused by the fact that an interest income from interest-bearing loans to a
joint venture and a gain on disposal of 33% indirect equity interest in a joint
venture were recognized in 2015 and there were no such items in 2016.

Selling and distribution expenses

Owing to the recovery of the market in 2016 and the more stringent cost
control, selling and distribution expenses decreased by about 10.2% to
about RMB187.5 million in 2016 from about RMB208.8 million in 2015.
The amount of contracted sales achieved for 2016 increased by 47.4%
from that of 2015.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses were up by about 4.0% to about RMB311.6
million in 2016 from about RMB299.8 million in 2015. This was primarily
due to the increase of employees’ cost during 2016.
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Other expenses

Other expenses increased by about 2.4 times to about RMB19.0 million
in 2016 from about RMB5.6 million in 2015 which was mainly the result
of loss in disposal of investment properties and the increase in charitable
donations, fines and compensation payments made during 2016.

Finance costs

Finance costs declined by about 65.8% to about RMB11.7 million in 2016
from about RMB34.3 million in 2015. This drop was mainly due to the
decrease in bank loans in 2016.

Income tax expenses

Income tax expenses dropped by about 78.7% to about RMB88.3 million
in 2016 from about RMB415.3 million in 2015. The primary reasons for the
decline are: (i) there is a decrease in the amount of PRC land appreciation
tax accounted for in 2016 and (i) there is a deferred tax expense
resulted from the fair value gain upon transfer of completed properties to
investment properties in 2015 but there is no such item in 2016.

Liquidity, financial and capital resources

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had total assets of approximately
RMB20,270.4 million (2015: approximately RMB22,089.4 million) which
were financed by current liabilities of approximately RMB8,393.9 million
(2015: approximately RMB9,563.0 million), non-current liabilities of
approximately RMB4,165.4 million (2015: approximately RMB4,973.6
million) and shareholders’ equity of approximately RMB7,711.1 million
(2015: approximately RMB7,552.8 million).

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had aggregate cash and cash
equivalents and restricted cash of about RMB1,442.1 million (2015:
RMB1,706.8 million).

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings amounted to approximately RMB5,268.3 million (2015:
approximately RMB6,194.8 million). The decrease was mainly due to the
increase in repayment of bank and other borrowings in 2016.
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The maturity profile of the bank and other borrowings were as follows:

BRARITREMERZPERNAT

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2016 2015

R2016 & H2015 4

12A31H 12431 H

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETTT

Within 1 year or on demand —FANIRER 2,131,739 2,213,181
Over 1 year but within 2 years ZR—FELRARE 1,439,609 1,745,245
Over 2 years but within 5 years ZHMEELARAF 1,247,000 1,756,417
Over 5 years RFLAE 450,000 480,000
5,268,348 6,194,843

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings amounting to
RMB889,400,000 (2015: RMB2,104,000,000) bear interest at fixed rates
whereas the rest bear interest at floating rates. As at 31 December 2016,
the Group’s interest-bearing bank and other borrowings bore effective
interest rates ranging from 2.11% to 12.00% per annum (2015: 2.02% to
12.00% per annum).

The denominated amounts of the borrowings were as follows:

B 28R 77 K E M 18 50 A £ A R % 889,400,000 7T
(20154 : AR¥2,104,000,0007T) 1% & E FI| &+
B MESKRAIRZEFIEEE - R20165F12 A31
B - RNEBMK BIRIT R EMERNERER K
NF211% Z=12.00% (2015 F : FF|E52.02%
Z12.00%) °

BREHRN2FEE SN

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2016 2015

H2016 F R2015 4

12A31H 12H31R

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETTT

Renminbi AR 4,905,220 5,858,507
Canadian dollars meEXT 15,422 13,929
Hong Kong dollars BT 45,097 43,990
United States dollars ETT 302,609 283,417
5,268,348 6,194,843
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For the year ended 31 December 2016, the total cost of borrowings of
the Group was approximately RMB373.6 million (2015: approximately
RMB547.7 million), and interests with an amount of approximately
RMB361.9 million (2015: approximately RMB513.4 million) were
capitalized.

The Group maintained a healthy liquidity position. The current ratio, being
a ratio of total current assets to total current liabilities, was approximately
1.26 (2015: approximately 1.20). The ratio of interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings to total assets was 0.26 (2015: 0.28). The net gearing
ratio of the Group (defined as net debt divided by total equity) was 0.50
(2015: 0.59) (net debt is defined as total interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings less cash and cash equivalent and total restricted cash). The
Group always adopts a conservative approach in its treasury and financial
management. Cash is generally placed in short-term deposits. The Group
did not use any financial instruments for hedging purpose for the year
under review.

Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had the capital commitments of about
RMB1,058.4 million (2015: RMB1,266.6 million) in respect of property
development expenditure. It is expected that the Group will finance such
commitments from its own funds and external financing (such as bank
loans).

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2016, the contingent liabilities of the Group was about
RMB4,124.4 million (2015: RMB3,867.1 million), which were guarantees
given by the Group in favour of certain banks for the grant of mortgage
loans to buyers of the Group’s properties.

Foreign exchange and interest rate exposure

As the sales, purchase and bank borrowings of the Group in 2016 and
2015 were made mainly in Renminbi, the foreign exchange risk exposed
to the Group was relatively minor. The Group did not use foreign exchange
hedging instruments to hedge foreign exchange risks in 2016 and 2015.

The interest rates for certain portion of the Group’s loans were floating.
Upward fluctuations in interest rates will increase the interest cost of new
loans and existing loans. The Group currently does not use derivative
instruments to hedge its interest rate risks.
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Pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2016, investment properties of the Group with carrying
value of about RMB2,355.7 million (2015: RMB3,692.3 million), properties
under development of about RMB2,599.5 million (2015: RMB2,741.7
million), completed properties held for sale of about RMB2,947.3 million
(2015: 2,378.4 million), property and equipment of about RMB132.5 million
(2015: RMB144.3 million), restricted cash of about RMB141.7 million
(2015: RMB123.1 million) and 100% equity interest in a subsidiary of the
Group with total equity of about RMB51.0 million (2015: RMB6 million)
were pledged to secure the banking facilities and other borrowings for the
Group.

Subsequent events

On 11 January 2017, Zhejiang Zhongan Shenglong Commercial Co., Ltd.
(“Zhong An Shenglong”), an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of
China New City Commercial Development Limited (“China New City”)
(which is a subsidiary of the Company listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”)), entered into a memorandum
of understanding (“MOU”) with Hangzhou Oriental Culture Tourism Group
Co., Ltd ("Hangzhou Oriental”) in relation to the proposed acquisition by
Zhong An Shenglong of 42.5% of the entire equity interests in Zhejiang
Xinnongdou Industrial Co., Ltd from Hangzhou Oriental (“Proposed
Acquisition”). The proposed consideration for the Proposed Acquisition is
expected to be about RMB700 million, which will be settled partly by cash
and partly by the issue of new shares in China New City. The consideration
for the Proposed Acquisition will be further negotiated, which is to be
determined by reference to the net asset value of Zhejiang Xinnongdou as
shown in its audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2016 (subject to adjustment by the parties based on the
results of the due diligence review). Under the MOU, Zhong An Shenglong
has paid a refundable earnest deposit in the amount of RMB127 million
to Hangzhou Oriental. The principal activities of the Zhejiang Xinnongdou
Group are the development, construction and management of logistics
center for agricultural products. The entering into of the MOU allows the
Group to capture the business and development opportunities arising
from the demand for modern logistics platform for agricultural products
due to the continued urbanisation, economic growth and improvement
in living standards of the residents in the Yangtze River Delta region and
thereby may boost the revenue of the the Group. Details of the Proposed
Acquisition are set out in the announcement of the Company jointly issued
with China New City dated 11 January 2017.
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Save as disclosed above, there was no matter occurred that bears

significant effect to the Group between the year end date and the date of

this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

1.

Market risks in PRC

The Group’s operating and business performance are largely
dependent on the performance of the property market in the
PRC. The Group is exposed to the risks associated with the PRC
property market which include the risks of policy change, interest
rate change, demand-supply imbalance and the overall economic
conditions. The market risks may pose an adverse impact on the
Group’s business, financial condition or results of operations.

The project team will carefully scrutinize each project for related
risks and returns. These include assessment of relevant government
policies, market demand and conditions and economic data. The
management is responsible for supervision, conducting regular
operation reviews and keeping the Board fully informed through
regular reports, and prompt decisions can therefore be made if
changes are required.

Business and operational risks

Distinctive risks factors in property development, property
investment and property related businesses such as default of
buyers, tenants and strategic business partners, and inadequacies
or failures of internal processes, people and systems may have
different levels of negative impact on the results of the Group’s
operation. Industrial accidents may happen although precautionary
measures is established, which may damage the Company’s
reputation or cause financial loss to the Group.

The internal audit team reviews key activities of the Group and
ensures all material controls, including financial and operational, are
functioning effectively. Precautionary and contingency measures are
also set up to ensure the Group is protected against major potential
loss, damage or impact to our operations. Insurance coverage
against accidental losses and/or other hazards is used in protecting
our assets and reputation against any potential liabilities.
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3. Financial risks

The investment and business operation are exposed to risks from
exchange rates, interest rates and liquidity. Amid global financial
uncertainties, the financial risks encountered by the Group had
increased accordingly.

The Group closely monitors the financial risks and when appropriate
will adopt measures to manage and hedge corresponding risks by
using of derivatives such as interest rate and currency swaps. The
Group’s cash and financing are centrally managed and controlled
at the corporate level to achieve a better borrowing terms and
coherent financial risk management. To meet our obligations as and
when needed, the Group maintains sufficient facilities with various
banks and financial institutions. The maturity of deposits and loans is
carefully planned and managed to reduce liquidity risk.

4. Talentrisks

Talent shortage and high employee turnover will have a negative
impact on the Group’s present and future performance. We believe
that human resources are of critical importance for the success of
the Company.

To attract, motivate and retain talented employees, the Group
evaluate our employee remuneration packages and monitor them
against market trends. We provide on-the-job training for new staff
and offer career advancement opportunities for suitable staff to
develop their full potential at various stages of their career. We also
encourage communication with all levels of staff to gather feedback
and suggestions for future improvement.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE ASPECTS

The Group is always committed to maintaining the highest environmental
and social standards to ensure sustainable development of its business.
A report on the environmental, social and governance aspects is being
prepared with reference to Appendix 27 (Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide) to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange and will be published respectively on
the website of the Company and the Stock Exchange in due course.
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PROSPECTS

Looking forward to 2017, it is believed that the PRC government will
continue to adopt different policies in different cities as appropriate to
their local conditions. It is expected that more stringent macro-control will
be enacted and applied to the property market of the first and second
tier-cities to suppress investment and speculative demand. Destocking
is still the key theme for the third and fourth tier-cities. The Group has
been benefited from the continued inflow of population and resources
of Yangtze River Delta region, the key development area of the Group
with a solid economic foundation. After the implementation of destocking
policy for over a year, the current stock-to-sales ratio for quality cities has
reached a historical low. We believe the development of real estate market
will maintain a steady uptrend in the coming year.

Moreover, it is expected that the central government of China will continue
to maintain a sustainable GDP growth and promulgate various proactive
policies to stimulate economic growth in 2017.

The Group will continue to adopt a prudent approach in acquiring land
for development of projects which will be sold at a fair price and lead
to quick cash inflow. This will, in turn, result in a quick asset turnover.
Furthermore, the Group will continue to maintain sufficient cash flow, to
achieve relative low finance cost through enhancing the financing structure
of the Group and to uphold its prudent financial policy. It will continue to
strengthen its internal control, implement a series of management policies,
such as detailed planning management, hierarchical control and review
at critical points, further improvements in the standardization of product,
process and system, in order to enhance management and operational
efficiency. In addition, leveraging on the Group’s capabilities in quality
property management and the provision of other value-added services to
the communities within the properties developed by the Group, corporate
branding is expected to be enhanced further and synergetic results will
be produced. The Group believes all the aforesaid measures facilitate
its sustainable development and contribute to generate value for its
shareholders over the long term.
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Corporate Governance Report
EEREE

The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company is committed to
maintaining good corporate governance in safeguarding the interests of
the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) and enhancing
Shareholders’ value.

(A) CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Company has adopted, in so far as they are applicable, the code
provisions (the “Code Provisions”) of the Corporate Governance
Code (the “Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

During the year ended 31 December 2016 (“2016”), the Board had
applied the principles of the Code Provisions contained in, and
complied with, the Code with the exception of the deviation from
Code Provision A.2.1 (as the roles of the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company were not separate and were both
performed by Mr Shi Kancheng).

The Board believes that the performance of the roles of the chairman
and the chief executive officer by the same person provides the
Company with consistent leadership and enables the Company to
formulate its business strategies and implement its business plans
and decisions efficiently.

The Board will review the management structure of the Group
from time to time and will adopt appropriate measures as may
be desirable for future development of the operating activities or
business of the Group.
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(B) DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES

TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by directors of the Company (the “Directors”) on terms
no less exacting than the required standard set out in the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”).

Following specific enquiries by the Company, all Directors confirmed
with the Company that they had complied with the required standard
set out in the Model Code and the Company’s code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions during 2016.

(C) BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Directors during 2016 were as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr Shi Kancheng (alias Shi Zhongan)
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr Lou Yifei (retired with effect from 1 September 2016)
Ms Shen Tiaojuan
Mr Zhang Jiangang
Mr Jin Jianrong (appointed with effect from 1 June 2076)

Independent non-executive Directors

Professor Pei Ker Wei

Dr Loke Yu (with professional qualification in accordance
with Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules)

Mr Zhang Huaqgiao

During 2016, the Board had at all times met the requirements
of Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors
with at least one independent non-executive Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related
financial management expertise.
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ERWE

The three independent non-executive Directors represent more than
one-third of the Board, the proportion of which is higher than what
is required by Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules. The Board believes
there is sufficient independence element in the Board to safeguard
the interests of Shareholders.

The Board meets regularly throughout 2016 to discuss the overall
strategy, the operational and financial performance of the Group.
The Directors can attend meetings in person or through other
electronic means of communication in accordance with the articles
of association of the Company (the “Articles”).

A total of six Board meetings were held during 2016. The individual
attendance of each Director was as follows:

—HEBUFPTESBREETENE AHY
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EEgN016FFATHHENRAEE
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8
8

Number of attendance

HERE
Mr Shi Kancheng FERAX 55 6
Mr Lou Yifei B—mREE 5
Ms Shen Tiaojuan PSRt 6
Mr Zhang Jiangang SR ER 8 ST A 6
Mr Jin Jianrong CREEEE 4
Professor Pei Ker Wei BREHEX 6
Dr Loke Yu =y N 6
Mr Zhang Huagiao LB L E 4

Mr Jin Jianrong had attended all the Board meetings during his tenure as
Director since such appointment with effect from 1 June 2016.

All Directors at that time had attended the annual general meeting
of the Company (the “AGM”) held on 18 May 2016 except for Mr
Zhang Huagiao because of his prior engagement to attend some
other matters.

The Board operates and exercises its power in accordance with the
Articles. In addition, the Board has also specifically resolved that all
transactions/contracts/other matters of the Group that are subject
to the disclosure requirement in accordance with the Listing Rules
should be approved by the Board in advance.

The Company has received from each of its independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board considers
that all the independent non-executive Directors are independent
in accordance with the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.
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All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. During 2016, each of Mr Shi Kancheng, Mr Lou Yifei,
Ms Shen Tiaojuan, Mr Zhang Jiangang, Mr Jin Jianrong, Professor
Pei Ker Wei and Dr Loke Yu had attended seminars and/or training
sessions. Mr Zhang Huagiao had read materials and updates
relating to the latest development of the Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements. The Board considered the
continuous professional development participated and undertaken
by the Directors are sufficient to discharge their duties.

The Company had arranged liability insurance for Directors and
senior management officers of the Company with appropriate
coverage in respect of legal action against them arising from their
duties performed.

Save as disclosed in the section of “Biographical Details of Directors
and Senior Management” in this annual report, there are no
relationships (including financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships) among members of the Board.

Functions of the Board and the Senior
Management

The Board is responsible for providing effective and responsible
leadership for the Group. The Board is responsible for formulating
the Group’s overall objectives and strategies, monitoring and
evaluating its operating and financial performance and reviewing
the corporate governance standard of the Group. It also decides
on matters such as annual and interim results, accounting
policies, proposal of declaration of dividends, major transactions,
appointment or re-appointment of directors after considering,
when necessary and appropriate, the recommendations from the
committees established by the Board.

Senior management is delegated by the Board with the responsibility
for the execution of the business plans and strategies adopted by
the Board, assisting the Board in the preparation of the financial
statements for approval by the Board, the implementation of
adequate procedures put forward by the Board and/or the
committees established by the Board and reporting regularly to and
seeking approval from the Board on important matters from time to
time.
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Appointment, re-election and removal of
Directors

The Articles provide that any Director appointed by the Board to fill
a casual vacancy in the Board or as an additional member of the
Board shall hold office only until the next following general meeting
of the members of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-
election at such meeting.

In accordance with the Articles, at each AGM, one third of the
Directors for the time being, shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director (including those appointed for a specific
term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. The
members of the Company may, at any general meetings convened
and held in accordance with the Articles, remove a Director by
ordinary resolution at any time before the expiration of his/her period
of office notwithstanding anything contrary in the Articles or in any
agreement between the Company and such Director and may by
ordinary resolution elect another person in his/her stead.

Board Committees

The Board has established four committees and has delegated
various responsibilities to the committees, including the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”), the
nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”), the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”) and the governance committee
(the “Governance Committee”). All the Board committees perform
their distinct roles in accordance with their respective terms of
reference which are available for inspection by Shareholders on
the Company’s website. The Board committees are provided with
sufficient resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable
request, are able to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

During 2016, the roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company were performed by Mr Shi Kancheng.

The Chairman had held a meeting with all independent non-
executive Directors in the absence of executive Directors. No
specific or other issues had been raised or discussed as it had
been concluded that all issues which would be discussed had been
properly dealt with in the meetings of the Board.
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(E) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE

(F)

DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive Directors have been appointed for a
specific term of office of two years.

All independent non-executive Directors possess extensive
academic, professional and industry expertise and management
experience and have provided their professional advice to the
Board.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The chairman of the Remuneration Committee is Professor Pei Ker
Wei (an independent non-executive Director) and the members
are Ms Shen Tiaojuan (an executive Director) and Dr Loke Yu (an
independent non-executive Director).

The Company has adopted written terms of reference for
the Remuneration Committee. The role and function of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company include the following:

(@ to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

(b)  to have the delegated responsibility to determine the specific
remuneration packages of all executive Directors and senior
management, including benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment,
and make recommendations to the Board of the remuneration
of non-executive Directors;

(c) to review and approve performance-based remuneration by
reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the
Board from time to time;

(d)  to review and approve the compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management in connection with any loss
or termination of their office or appointment to ensure that
such compensation is determined in accordance with relevant
contractual terms and that such compensation is otherwise
fair and not excessive for the Company;
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(e)  to review and approve compensation arrangements relating
to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure
that such arrangements are determined in accordance
with relevant contractual terms and that any compensation
payment is otherwise reasonable and appropriate;

4} to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates is
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration; and

(@  toreview and approve the remuneration report of the Group, if
any.

The basis of the emolument payable to the Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors) is determined with reference
to the range of prevailing directors’ fee for director of listed
companies in Hong Kong and is subject to the approval of the
Remuneration Committee. The Remuneration Committee will
consider factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment, experience and responsibilities of the Directors,
employment conditions elsewhere in the Group and desirability of
performance-based remuneration.

Four meetings of the Remuneration Committee were held during
2016. The Remuneration Committee had reviewed the remuneration
policy of the Group, assessed the performance of all Directors and
their terms of employment under their respective service contracts
and (if applicable) their renewal. In fulfilling its roles and functions, the
Remuneration Committee had ensured that no Director or any of his
associates was involved in deciding his/her own remuneration. The
individual attendance of each member was as follows:
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HERE
Professor Pei Ker Wei BREHR 4
Dr Loke Yu FEgMIELT 4
Ms Shen Tiaojuan RS R 4
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(G) NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The chairman of the Nomination Committee is Mr Shi Kancheng (an
executive Director) and the members are Professor Pei Ker Wei, Dr
Loke Yu and Mr Zhang Huagiao (all are independent non- executive
Directors).

The Company has adopted written terms of reference for the
Nomination Committee. The role and function of the Nomination
Committee are as follows:

(@ to review the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
annually;

(b)  to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members
of the Board and may select individuals nominated for
directorship;

(c) to review the board diversity policy of the Company (the
“Diversity Policy”) and the progress on achieving the
objectives set for implementing the Diversity Policy, and
to make disclosure of its review results in the corporate
governance report of the Company’s annual report;

(d) to assess the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors;

(e)  to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to, among others, the appointment or re-appointment
of directors and succession planning for directors (in
particular, the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company);

(f to give full consideration to, among others, the skills and
expertise required from members of the Board and the
relevant requirements of the Listing Rules with regard to
Directors and such like in the discharge of the Nomination
Committee’s duties;
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in respect of any proposed service contracts to be entered
into by any members of the Group with its director or
proposed director, which require the prior approval of the
shareholders of the Company at general meeting under
Rule 13.68 of the Listing Rules, to review and provide
recommendations to the shareholders of the Company (other
than shareholders who are directors with a material interest in
the relevant service contracts and their respective associates)
as to whether the terms of the service contracts are fair and
reasonable and whether such service contracts are in the
interests of the Company and the shareholders as a whole,
and to advise shareholders on how to vote;

to ensure that on appointment to the Board, non-executive
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
receive a formal letter of appointment setting out what is
expected of them in terms of time commitment, committee
service and involvement outside meetings of the Board;

to conduct exit interviews with any Director upon his/her
resignation in order to ascertain the reasons for his/her
departure; and

to consider other matters, as defined or assigned by the
Board from time to time.

determination and review by the Board during 2016 of the

Diversity Policy involved the consideration of various elements

including gender, age, culture, qualification, ability, work experience,
leadership and professional ethics of the candidates and against
the objective criteria set out by the Board. The Board recognizes

the importance of having a diverse Board and considers the above

esse

ntial elements (which have been taken into account when

determining the existing composition of the Board) in maintaining
a competitive advantage and achieving sustainable growth for the

Group.
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The nomination procedures are as follows: candidates for
directorship are selected by the Nomination Committee subject to
the review and approval of the Board in accordance with the Articles.
The criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee in selecting and
approving candidates for directorship are based on the Diversity
Policy including whether the candidates are appropriate in terms
of experience and the potential contribution to the Group and with
reference to the candidates’ professional knowledge, industry
experience, personal ethics, integrity and skills.

Two meetings of the Nomination Committee were held during
2016. The Nomination Committee nominated, and the Board
recommended the directors to be re-elected at the annual general
meeting in 2016 and reviewed the structure, size and composition of
the Board.

The individual attendance of each member of the Nomination
Committee was as follows:
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HERE
Mr Shi Kancheng BEARAX 55 2
Professor Pei Ker Wei BREHE 2
Dr Loke Yu (Zsy /N 2
Mr Zhang Huagjiao LB L E 2

(H) AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group was charged
RMB2,720,000 for the services provided by the Company’s
Independent Auditor, Ernst & Young. Details of the services and their
relevant fees are as follows:

For audit of annual results for the

year ended 31 December 2016 RMB1,900,000

For review of interim results for the

six months ended 30 June 2016 RMB420,000
For audit in respect of potential
corporate transactions RMB400,000
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() AUDIT COMMITTEE

The chairman of the Audit Committee is Dr Loke Yu and the
members are Professor Pei Ker Wei and Mr Zhang Huagiao. Al
members of the Audit Committee are independent non-executive
Directors.

The role and functions of the Audit Committee include the following:

(@  to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal
of the external auditor, and to approve the remuneration and
other terms of engagement of the external auditor, and any
questions of resignation or dismissal of the external auditor;

(b)  to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards;

() to discuss before the audit commences, with the external
auditors the nature and scope of the audit and reporting
obligations and ensure co-ordination where more than one
audit firm is involved,;

(d) to develop and implement policy on engaging an
external auditor to supply non-audit services. The Audit
Committee should report to the Board, identify and make
recommendations any matters where action or improvement
is needed. The Audit Committee should also review the non-
auditor services provided by the external auditor on an annual
basis, to ensure that the independence of such external
auditor will not be affected;

(e)  to monitor integrity, accuracy and fairness of the Company’s
financial statements and annual report and accounts, half-year
report and, if prepared for publication, quarterly reports, and
to review significant financial reporting judgments contained in
them;
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to review, in draft form and before submission to the Board,

the Company’s annual report and accounts, half-year report

and, if prepared for publication, quarterly report, focus

particularly on:

vi.

vii.

viii.

X.

any changes in accounting policies and practices;
major judgmental areas;

significant adjustments resulting from the audit;

the going concern assumptions and any qualifications;

compliance with accounting standards;

compliance with the Listing Rules and other legal
requirements in relation to financial reporting;

the fairness and reasonableness of any connected
transaction and the impact of such transaction
on the profitability of the Group and whether such
connected transactions (if any) have been carried out in
accordance with the terms of the agreement governing
such transactions;

whether all relevant items have been adequately
disclosed in the Group’s financial statements and
whether the disclosures give a fair view of the Group’s
financial conditions;

any significant or unusual items that are, or may need to
be, reflected in such reports and accounts; and

the cashflow position of the Group;

and to provide advice and comments thereon to the Board;

in regard to (e) and (f) above:

U

(i)

members of the Audit Committee should liaise with the
Board and the senior management of the Group and
the Audit Committee must meet, at least twice a year,
with the Company’s auditors; and

the Audit Committee should consider any significant
or unusual items that are, or may need to be, reflected
in such reports and accounts. It should give due
consideration to any matters that have been raised by
the Company’s staff responsible for the accounting,
the financial reporting and internal audit functions,
compliance officer or auditors;
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to discuss problems and reservations arising from the interim
and final audits, and any matters the auditors may wish to
discuss (in the absence of management where necessary);

to review the Company’s financial controls and, unless
expressly addressed by a separate board risk committee, or
by the Board itself, to review the Company’s internal control
and risk management systems;

to discuss the internal control and risk management systems
with management to ensure that management has performed
its duty to have effective systems. This discussion should
include the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting function;

to review the Company’s statement on internal control
systems (where one is included in the annual report) prior to
endorsement by the Board;

to consider major investigations findings on internal control
matters as delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and
management’s response to these findings;

where an internal audit function exists, to review the internal
audit programmes, to ensure co-ordination between the
internal and external auditors, and to ensure that the internal
audit function is adequately resourced and has appropriate
standing within the Company and to review and monitor the
effectiveness;

to review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

to conduct exit interviews with any director, manager, financial
controller or internal audit manager upon their resignation in
order to ascertain the reasons for his departure;

to prepare work reports for presentation to the Board and to

prepare summary of work reports for inclusion in the Group’s
interim and annual reports;
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to consider the appointment of any person to be an Audit
Committee member, a company secretary, auditors and
accounting staff either to fill a casual vacancy or as an
additional Audit Committee member, company secretary,
auditors and accounting staff or dismissal of any of them;

to consider the major findings of internal investigations and
management’s response;

to review the external auditor’'s management letter, any
material queries raised by the auditor to management about
the accounting records, financial accounts or systems of
control and management’s response;

to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the external auditor’'s management letter;

to report to the Board on the matters in the code provisions
contained in the Corporate Governance Code set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules (as amended from time to
time) and/or any of the matters set out above as well as the
Audit Committee’s decisions or recommendations, unless
there are legal or regulatory restrictions on their ability to
do so (such as restriction on disclosure due to regulatory
requirements);

to review arrangements employees of the Company can use,
in confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, internal control or other matters. The
Audit Committee should ensure that proper arrangements are
in place for fair and independent investigation of these matters
and for appropriate follow-up action;

to act as the key representative body for overseeing the
Company’s relations with the external auditor; and

to consider other matters, as defined or assigned by the
Board from time to time.
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A total of four meetings of the Audit Committee were held during
2016. The work performed by the Audit Committee during 2016
included the following:

- reviewed the annual report and results announcement of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2015;

- reviewed the interim report and interim results announcement
of the Company for the six months ended 30 June 2016;

- reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group and other financial reporting matters;

- reviewed the results of external audit and had discussion with
external auditors on any significant findings and audit issues;

S reviewed the results of internal audit and had discussion with
internal auditors on any significant findings and internal control

issues;

- discussed with the external auditors before the audit
commenced, the nature and scope of the audit and the
respective relevant issues; and

- considered and approved the service contract of the external
auditors for the year ended 31 December 2016.

The individual attendance of each member of the Audit Committee
was as follows:
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Number of attendance

HERE
Dr Loke Yu R gMIEL 4
Professor Pei Ker Wei BREHR 4
Mr Zhang Huagjiao RACIE S 4
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TEERERE
e =
(J) GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE V) BABEE

The Company has set up a governance committee (the KARERUERZES([BREER])
“Governance Committee”) and the terms of reference adopted WA G ETAR B e BEEE -
complied with the requirement of the Listing Rules.
The chairman of the Governance Committee is Mr Shi Kancheng (an BREEeXFEAMMKELE (HITES) -
executive Director). The remaining members are Ms Shen Tiaojuan BB RILIEIB R T (FITES) - RS A
(an executive Director), Mr Zhang Jiangang (an executive Director), (178 E) BB HEREIIENITES)
Professor Pei Ker Wei (an independent non-executive Director) and RER(ERB A E OB IEITES) o

Mr Zhang Huagiao (an independent non-executive Director).

m}i

AR EENAERBEENT

The role and functions of the Governance Committee include the

following:

(@  to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices @ HIERBRFEARARNEEERBKRK
on corporate governance and make recommendations to the B TMERSRLER
Board;

(o)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional b) BINERSENRSMNEEASHE
development of directors and senior management; NN AFERHERE

(c)  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices € BIKERARARAEETEEZRESE
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; MEFHBOBERNTEE

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and @ #IF - BIAREREERESEANY
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and RTEBIRAEFM(W0F) K&

directors; and

() to review the Company’s compliance with the Code ) ARFIAA BT ANE A IE R R TE
Provisions and the disclosure in the Corporate Governance (EERRE)ANEE -
Report.
Two meetings of the Governance Committee were held during )5"2016¢ =) E\@”#\%ﬁﬁﬁ?ﬂ@% o F
2016. The Governance Committee had reviewed the effectiveness of ARE® E%£$ PEEBRBRNLER
the policies and practices on corporate governance for the Group, E’\]ﬁ%ﬂ (e N %F EESRAEER
discussed and reviewed the Board’s and the Group’s compliance 2016¢¢WL? BE S & TR A A IS
with the Code Provisions and the prevailing Listing Rules during S o
2016.

REEEARAR —ZE—RFFR
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ERHBE

The individual attendance of each member of the Governance
Committee was as follows:

ERRBERKEBNERHFERMT

Number of attendance

HERE
Mr Shi Kancheng FERAX 55 2
Ms Shen Tiaojuan IARIE X+ 2
Mr Zhang Jiangang SR EX 8 SE A 2
Professor Pei Ker Wei BREHE 2
Mr Zhang Huagiao SRALB S 2

The terms of reference of the Governance Committee are available
on the Company’s website.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN
PREPARING THE ACCOUNTS

The Directors acknowledge that they are responsible for the
preparation of accounts which give a true and fair view of the
Company and the Group.

The statement of the auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the accounts of the Group is set out in the section
headed “Independent Auditors’ Report” in this annual report.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective internal
control and risk management systems over the Group’s asset and
shareholders’ interests, as well as for reviewing such systems’
effectiveness. Such systems are designed to provide reasonable,
but not absolute, assurance against misstatement or loss, and
to manage risks of failure in the Group’s operational systems.
The systems include a well-established organisational structure
with clearly defined lines of responsibility and authority, which is
designed to safeguard assets from inappropriate use, maintain
proper accounts and ensure compliance with applicable laws and
regulations. Regular reviews and internal audits are carried out to
monitor compliance with internal control procedures focusing on
those areas of the Group’s activities with the greatest perceived risk.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Board along with the
audit committee have reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control and risk management systems and was of the view
that the Group’s internal control and risk management systems
were effective and adequate. Such review had covered all material
controls including financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management functions.

The Board and the audit committee have also reviewed the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of its accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions for 2016 and are satisfied with the
results.

(M) COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr Lam Yau Yiu was company secretary of the Company (the
“Company Secretary”) for the year ended 31 December 2016.
Mr Lam had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training. The biography of Mr Lam is set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” of this
annual report. Mr Lam resigned from the position of Company
Secretary with effect from 1 January 2017.

As at the date of this report, Mr. Chan Hon Hung was the new
Company Secretary and has remained to hold the position since the
date of such appointment on 20 February 2017. The biography of
Mr. Chan is set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening extraordinary general meeting and putting
forward proposals at Shareholders’ meetings

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to propose new
resolutions at the extraordinary general meetings under the Cayman
Islands Companies Law (2012 Revision). Pursuant to article 64 of the
Articles, an extraordinary general meeting shall be convened on the
written requisition of one or more Shareholders made to Directors
or the Secretary specifying the objects of the meeting, provided that
such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which
carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company. Such
meeting shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of such
requisition. If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting, the
requisitionist(s) themselves may convene the extraordinary general
meeting in the same manner and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to them by the Company.

Pursuant to article 113 of the Articles, if a shareholder, who is
entitled to attend and vote at the relevant general meeting, wishes to
nominate a person (not being the nominating shareholder) to stand
for election as a Director, he or she should lodge to the Secretary
notice in writing of the intention to propose a person for election as a
Director and notice in writing by that person of his or her willingness
to be so elected at least 7 clear days before the date of such
general meeting and the period for lodgement of such notices shall
commence no earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice
of such general meeting appointed for such election and shall be at
least 7 clear days in length.

Detailed procedures for shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director are available on the Company’s website.

The Company welcomes enquiries from its Shareholders. The Board
or designated senior management or the Company Secretary will
review Shareholders’ enquiries on a regular basis. Specific enquiries
and suggestions by Shareholders can be sent in writing to the
Board or the Company Secretary by e-mail at ir@zafc.com or at the
address of the Company’s head office in the PRC or principal place
of business in Hong Kong.
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(O) CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During 2016, there were no changes to the Company’s
constitutional documents.

(P) INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company attaches great importance to communication with
the Shareholders. A number of means are used to promote greater
understanding and dialogue with the Shareholders. The means
of access includes the release by the Company of the various
corporate communication of the Company via the website of the
Stock Exchange and the website of the Company (http://www.
zafc.com). Shareholders are encouraged by the Company to
attend general meetings of the Company where the Chairman of
the Company and other members of the Board and (if appropriate)
the auditors of the Company are available to answer questions.
Shareholders are encouraged to communicate with the Company
for any enquiries in relation to the affairs of the Group. Shareholders
may contact the Company in writing to the Company’s head office in
the PRC or principal place of business in Hong Kong or by e-mail at
ir@zafc.com.

For and on behalf of the Board
Zhong An Real Estate Limited

Shi Kancheng
Chairman

The People’s Republic of China, 27 March 2017
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENEREEAEERE

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Shi Kancheng (alias Shi Zhongan), aged 54, is the Chairman, an
executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer of Zhong An Real
Estate Limited (the “Company”). He also serves as the chairman of the
nomination committee and the governance committee of the Company.
Mr Shi is also the Chairman and the non-executive director of China New
City Commercial Development Limited (“China New City”), a subsidiary
of the Company, whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr
Shi also holds directorships in certain of the Company’s subsidiaries. Mr
Shi is primarily responsible for the strategic and development planning of
the Group. He also supervises project planning and the overall business
operation. Mr Shi joined the Group since the establishment of the first
member of the Group, Zhong An Group Co., Ltd. (formerly known as
Zhejiang Zhong’an Property Development Co., Ltd.) (“Zhong An Group”).
Mr Shi served as a tax officer in the finance and revenue bureau of
Xiaoshan District of Hangzhou (formerly known as Xiaoshan City) and
the general manager of Hangzhou Xiaoshan Milkyway Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. (“Milkyway Real Estate”). Mr Shi graduated from an
Executive Master of Business Administration program co-organized by the
State University of Arizona and Shanghai National Accounting College in
June 2007. From 2005 to 2006, Mr Shi completed a program for executive
officers, focusing on globalization and real estate developers, co-organized
by Harvard University, Tsinghua University, The University of Hong Kong
and the United States Military Academy. In the same period, Mr Shi
completed a program for presidents of real estate companies organized
by Zhejiang University. Mr Shi has over 24 years of experience in property
development and property investment. Mr Shi is the sole director and
the sole shareholder of Whole Good Management Limited, which is the
controlling shareholder of the Company.

Lou Yifei, aged 67, for the first eight months in the year under review,
was an executive Director and the general manager of Hangzhou Anyuan
Property Development Co., Ltd. (a company owned as to 45.9% by the
Group) and held directorships in certain subsidiaries of the Company. He
was primarily responsible for the operation and project management of the
Group. Mr Lou retired from his position as executive Director with effect
from 1 September 2016. Prior to joining the Group in March 2006, Mr
Lou was the vice president and manager of the engineering department
of Laiyinda Real Estate Co., Ltd., a supervisor of Laiyin Property and had
served various positions in the same group of companies from 2000 to
2006. Mr Lou was a deputy general manager of Milkyway Real Estate
from 1994 to 2000. From 1984 to 1994, Mr Lou worked for a government
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

bureau of Xiaoshan District of Hangzhou, where he was primarily
responsible for infrastructure construction management. From 1978
to 1983, he served as construction and engineering manager of Linpu
Construction Company. He received an associate degree in architectural
engineering from Wuhan University of Technology in 1992 and completed
a graduate degree in structural engineering at Zhejiang University of
Technology in 2002. Mr Lou obtained his engineering qualification in 1999.
Mr Lou has 38 years of experience in the construction operations and
management of property development.

Shen Tiaojuan, aged 54, is an executive Director and the Vice President
of the Company and also holds directorships in certain of its subsidiaries.
Ms Shen also serves as a member of the remuneration committee and the
governance committee of the Company. She is primarily responsible for
the financial operation and financial management of the Group. She joined
the Group in December 1997. Prior to joining the Group, Ms Shen was the
chief accountant of White Swan Industry Co., Ltd. from 1995 to 1997, the
chief accountant of Hangzhou Hualing Electrics Co., Ltd. in 1994, and the
chief accountant and finance manager of Hangzhou Guanghua Chemical
Fibres Factory from 1980 to 1993. Ms Shen has 35 years of experience in
the financial operation of property development.

Zhang Jiangang, aged 47, is an executive Director and a member of the
governance committee of the Company. He is also the general manager
of Hangzhou Zhong’an Service Holding Co., Ltd. (a subsidiary of the
Company) and also holds directorship in a subsidiary of the Company.
He is primarily in charge of strategy implementation and operation
management. Mr Zhang joined the Group in March 2003. He served
as the general manager and vice president of Zhong An Group and the
general manager and assistant to the Chairman of Anhui Zhong An Real
Estate Co., Ltd. (a subsidiary of the Company). From 1995 to 2003, Mr
Zhang served as the office manager, assistant to general manager and
vice general manager of Milkkyway Real Estate. Mr Zhang has 22 years of
experience in construction and property development.

Jin Jianrong, aged 48, has been appointed as an executive Director with
effect from 1 June 2016 and is the co-president of the Company. He is
also the director of certain subsidiaries of the Company in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”). He is in charge of engineering management
of the projects of the Group. He joined the Group in September 2004.
Prior to joining the Group, he was the deputy general manager in charge of
construction matters of Zhejiang Lvdu Real Estate Development Company
from 2003 to 2004, and a construction manager of Zhejiang Wanxiang
Real Estate Company from 1997 to 2002. He was responsible for project
management of Hangzhou Xiaoshan Milkkyway Real Estate Development
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Co., Ltd. from 1995 to 1997, and was a project manager and worker
of Xuxian Construction Co., Ltd. from 1987 to 1994. Mr Jin received a
bachelor’s degree in civil engineering and management from the Sichuan
University in 2006. He has about 29 years of experience in operation and
management of property companies.

Independent non-executive Directors

Pei Ker Wei (PhD), aged 60, was appointed an independent non-
executive Director in October 2007. He also serves as the chairman of
the remuneration committee and a member of the audit committee, the
nomination committee and the governance committee of the Company. Dr
Pei worked as assistant professor, associate professor and professor at
Arizona State University, chairman of North America Chinese Accounting
Professors Academy and chairman of global commission of American
Accounting Academy. He is currently the Executive Dean of China at the
W.P. Carey School of Business of Arizona State University, the U.S. and a
member of the American Accounting Academy. Dr Pei is also serving as an
independent non-executive director of Want Want China Holdings Limited
and Zhejiang Expressway Co., Ltd., both companies whose shares are
listed on the Stock Exchange, and a director of Baoshan Iron & Steel Co.,
Ltd., a company whose shares are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange.
Dr Pei received his MBA from the Southern lllinois University, the U.S. in
1981 and PhD from the University of North Texas, the U.S. in 1986.

Dr Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam), aged 67, was appointed an independent
non-executive Director on 30 June 2009. He also serves as the chairman
of the audit committee and a member of the remuneration committee
and the nomination committee of the Company. Dr Loke is currently the
company secretary of Minth Group Limited, and serves as an independent
non-executive director of Chiho-Tiande Group Limited, China Fire Safety
Enterprise Group Limited, Lamtex Holdings Limited (formerly known as
China New Energy Power Group Limited), China Household Holdings
Limited, Matrix Holdings Limited, SCUD Group Limited, China Beidahuang
Industry Group Holdings Limited (formerly hnown as Sino Distillery Group
Limited and as Bio-Dynamic Group Limited), Tianjin Development Holdings
Limited, Tianhe Chemicals Group Limited, V1 Group Limited (formerly
known Vodone Limited), Winfair Investment Company Limited, Forebase
International Holdings Limited and Hang Sang (Siu Po) International
Holding Company Limited, the shares of which companies are all listed
on the Stock Exchange. He is a fellow of The Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales, Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, The Hong Kong Institute of Directors and The Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators. He holds MBA from
the University Teknologi Malaysia and DBA from the University of South
Australia. He has over 41 years of experience in accounting and auditing
for private and public companies, financial consultancy and corporate
management.
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Zhang Huagqiao, aged 54, was appointed an independent non-executive
Director on 1 January 2013. He also serves as a member of the audit
committee, the nomination committee and the governance committee
of the Company. Mr Zhang is the Chairman and executive director of
China Smartpay Group Holdings Limited (formerly known as Oriental City
Group Holdings Limited), a company whose shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange. He is currently an independent non-executive director of China
Huirong Financial Holdings Limited, Fosun International Limited, Logan
Property Holdings Company Limited, Luye Pharma Group Ltd., Sinopec
Qilfield Service Corporation (formerly known as Sinopec Yizheng Chemical
Fibre Company Limited) and Wanda Hotel Development Company Limited,
and a non-executive director of Boer Power Holdings Limited, the shares
of which companies are all listed on the Stock Exchange. He is also
an independent non-executive director of Yancoal Australia Limited (a
company listed on the Australian Stock Exchange). He was the Chairman
of Guangzhou Wansui Micro Credit Co., Ltd. between June 2011 and July
2012 and an executive director and chief executive officer of Man Sang
International Limited, a company whose shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange, between September 2011 and April 2012. From June 1999 to
April 2006, Mr Zhang had worked with UBS Securities Asia Limited and
served as a managing director and the co-head and head of its China
research team. Prior to this, Mr Zhang had worked as a principal staff
member with the People’s Bank of China in Beijing between July 1986
and January 1989. Mr Zhang graduated from the Graduate School of
the People’s Bank of China with a master’s degree in economics in 1986
and from the Australian National University with a master’'s degree in
economics in January 1991. Mr Zhang has about 26 years of experience in
the financial sector.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Sun Zhihua, aged 38, is the chief operating officer of the Group and the
officer of the president office of the Group. He is in charge of the operation
management of the Group. Mr Sun joined the Group in July 2001 and had
held various administrative posts of various subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr Sun received a bachelor degree in technological economy from
College of Business Administration of Zhejiang University of Technology
in 2001. He has 15 years of experience in property administration and
management.
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Pan Lei, aged 33, is the chief marketing officer of the Group. He is in
charge of the marketing of the Group. Mr Pan joined the Group in June
2014. Prior to joining the Group, he was the sales director of a property
developer in Jiangsu Province from March 2012 to May 2014. He had been
the planning director of subsidiaries of Top Spring International Holdings
Limited, a company whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange,
from May 2010 to February 2012 and Shenzhen World Union Property
Consultant Co., Ltd., a company whose shares are listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange, from March 2008 to March 2010. Mr Pan received a
bachelor degree in management from Qingdao University in 2005. He has
10 years of experience in property marketing.

Dong Shuixiao, aged 52, is the executive director and chief executive
officer of China New City. Mr Dong holds directorships of certain
subsidiaries of China New City. He is responsible for administration and
general project management of China New City and its subsidiaries. He
joined the Group since 1997. He served as the deputy general manager
(in charge of finance) in Anhui Zhong An Real Estate Development Co.,
Ltd. in January 2003. He was responsible for the on-site technology
supervision, construction and cost control of the project in Yisheng in
February 2004. In March 2006, he was promoted as the deputy manager
of Zhong An Group, and in charge of financial operation. From 2007 to
November 2012, he served as the general manager of Anhui Zhong An
Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. and certain subsidiaries of the Group in
Anhui Province. From December 2012 to June 2015, he had been serving
as vice president and holding directorships of certain subsidiaries of the
Company until he joined China New City. Prior to joining the Group, he was
the accountant and deputy finance manager of Xiaoshan Material Bureau
from 1985 to 1993. From 1994 to 1996, he was the manager of Hangzhou
Xiaoshan Hongsen Material Co., Ltd. and responsible for operational
management. Mr Dong received his college diploma in industrial and civil
construction from the China University of Geosciences. He has over 20
years of experience in property operation and management.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Jin Ni, aged 41, is the executive director and vice chairlady of the board
of directors of China New City. She also holds directorships of certain
subsidiaries of China New City. She is responsible for overall strategic
development, and leading the business development of China New City.
She was appointed as an executive director of China New City on 30
September 2013. Ms Jin resigned from her position as the vice president of
the Group in May 2014 and ceased to have any directorial and/or executive
roles in the Group, except for those of China New City and its subsidiaries.
She joined the Group in December 1997. She has been the general
manager of Zhejiang Zhong An Commercial Investment Management Co.,
Ltd. since August 2011 and Yuyao Zhong An Times Square Commercial
Management Co., Ltd. since December 2011 and is mainly responsible
for managing commercial operations and our development project in
Yuyao. She was the vice president of the Group from July 2011 to May
2014, the assistant to the president of the Group from January 2010 to
November 2010, the general manager of Hangzhou Zhong An Highlong
Commercial Buildings Co., Ltd. from March 2006 to January 2010, the
deputy general manager from March 2006 to October 2010 and office
manager and deputy sales manager from August 1999 to March 2006
of Zhong An Group. Ms Jin obtained a bachelor degree in administrative
management from the Zhejiang University of Technology in July 2003 and
obtained a diploma in financial accounting from the Oriental Institute of
the Zhejiang University* (currently known as Oriental Institute of Finance
and Economics* (INTEIAZRER FEFT)) in July 1997. Ms Jin has
over 18 years of experience in sales, and operation and management of
commercial projects.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Lam Yau Yiu, aged 53, had been the financial controller and the company
secretary of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2016 and
resigned from both aforesaid positions with effect from 1 January 2017. He
joined the Group in October 2008. Prior to joining the Group, he worked
for a company with property development business in China for more
than 2 years. He also acted as the finance manager, financial controller
and company secretary for three listed companies in the United States of
America and Hong Kong for a total of about 7 years. He also worked for
an international accounting firm for over 3 years. Mr Lam graduated from
the City University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor Degree in Accounting. He
also holds a degree of Master of Business Administration from the Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology. He is a fellow member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants. He has about 28 years of experience in
external auditing, finance and accounting.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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Chan Hon Hung, aged 48, has been appointed as the financial
controller and company secretary of the Company with effect from 20
February 2017. Mr. Chan holds a bachelor degree in Accountancy. Mr.
Chan is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, a fellow member of The Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Chartered Secretaries and an associate member of the Institute
of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators. He has over 24 years’
experience in accounting, financial management, corporate finance and
auditing.
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The directors (the “Directors”) of Zhong An Real Estate Limited (the
“Company”) are pleased to present their annual report to shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholders”) and the audited financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to
as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2016 (the “year under

review”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company’s principal activity is investment holding. The principal
activities of the Group are property development, leasing and hotel
operation. The nature of the principal activities has not changed during the
year under review.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2016 and the state
of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are set out in the
financial statements on pages 94 to 100.

The board of Directors (the “Board”) does not recommend the payment of
final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2016 (2015: nil).

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL
INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the audited financial statements and restated/reclassified
as appropriate, is set out on page 252. This summary does not form part
of the audited financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW, FINANCIAL KEY
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS AND
FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

A discussion on the business review of the Group and an analysis of the
performance of the Group based on certain financial key performance
indicators for the year under review are set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.
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PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property and equipment and investment
properties of the Group and the Company during the year under review are
set out in note 12 and 13 to the financial statements respectively. Further
details of the Group’s investment properties are set out on pages 244 and
245,

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the movements in the ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the
Company (the “Shares”) and share options of the Company during the
year under review are set out respectively in note 30 and 31 to the financial
statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year under review are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and note 32 to the financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2016, the Company’s accumulated losses amounted
to RMB277,618,000 and the Company’s share premium amounted to
RMB2,966,252,000. By passing an ordinary resolution of the Company,
dividends may also be declared and paid out of share premium account
or any other fund or account which can be authorized for this purpose in
accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

(A) Zhong An Real Estate Limited - the Scheme

On 15 May 2009, the shareholders of the Company approved the
adoption of a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) of the Company
pursuant to and in compliance with the requirements of Chapter

17 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). The salient

terms of the rules of the Scheme are set out below:

1. Purpose of the Scheme:

As incentives or rewards to the eligible participants under the
Scheme for their contribution to the Group.

2. Participants of the Scheme:

(@)

any employee (whether full time or part time, including
any executive Director but excluding any non-executive
Director) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or
any equity entity (the “Invested Entity”) in which any
members of the Group holds an equity interest;

any non-executive Directors (including independent
non-executive Directors) of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

any supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

any customer of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity;

any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any shareholder of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued by
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;
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(@  any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to
any area of business or business development of any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity; and

(h) any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement to the
development and growth of the Group.

Maximum number of Shares available for subscription:

The maximum number of Shares which may be allotted and
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and
yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any other share
option schemes adopted by the Group shall not exceed 30
per cent. of the share capital of the Company in issue from
time to time.

Subject to the rules of the Scheme, the Company may seek
approval of its shareholders in general meeting to refresh the
General Scheme Limit (as referred to in paragraph 4 below)
provided that the total number of Shares which may be
allotted and issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of
the Group must not exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at
the date of approval of the refreshed limit. For the purpose of
calculating the refreshed limit, such options (including those
outstanding, cancelled, lapsed or exercised in accordance
with the Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Group) previously granted under the Scheme and any other
share option scheme(s) of the Group will not be counted.

Total number of Shares available for issue under the Scheme:

The total number of Shares which may be allotted and issued
upon the exercise of all options (excluding such options which
have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Scheme
and any other share option scheme(s) of the Group) to be
granted under the Scheme and any other share option
scheme(s) of the Group must not in aggregate exceed 10%
of the Shares in issue on the date of approval of the Scheme
(the “General Scheme Limit”) or upon the date of approval
of the refreshment of the General Scheme Limit (and, in the
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case of the Company, not exceeding 236,763,540 Shares
(the “Refreshed General Scheme Limit"), representing
10% of the total issued share capital of the Company as at 23
September 2013). As at 31 December 2016, the number of
Shares that remained available for issue under the Refreshed
General Scheme Limit was 236,763,540.

Maximum entitliement of each participant under the Scheme:

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be
issued upon the exercise of the options granted under the
Scheme and other share option scheme(s) of the Group (if
any) (including both exercised or outstanding options) to
each participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed
1 per cent of the issued share capital of the Company for
the time being (the “Individual Limit”). Any further grant
of options, which would result in the Shares issued and to
be issued upon exercise of all options granted and to be
granted to such participant (including exercised, cancelled
and outstanding options) under the Scheme and other share
option schemes of the Group (if any), in any 12-month period
up to and including the date of such further grant in excess of
the Individual Limit shall be subject to Shareholders’ approval
in general meeting of the Company with such participant and
his associates abstaining from voting.

Amount payable on acceptance of option:

A nominal amount of HK$1 is payable upon acceptance of the
grant of an option.

Minimum period for which an option must be held before it can
be exercised and the exercise period of the option:

Unless otherwise determined by the Directors and stated
in the offer to a grantee, there is no minimum period under
the Scheme for the holding of an option before it can be
exercised. An option may be exercised in accordance with
the terms of the Scheme at any time during a period to be
determined and notified by the Directors to the relevant
grantee, which period may commence on a day after the date
upon which the offer for the grant of options is made but shall
end in any event not later than 10 years from the date of grant
of the option subject to the provisions of early termination
thereof.
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8. Basis of determining the exercise price of an option:

The exercise price shall be determined by the Directors but
shall not be less than the highest of the nominal value of the
Shares; the closing price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange
on the date of grant; and the average closing price of the
Shares on the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of the offer for the grant.

9. Performance targets
Unless the Directors otherwise determined and stated in the
offer for the grant of the options to a grantee, a grantee is
not required to achieve any performance targets before any
options granted under the Scheme can be exercised.

10. Life of the Scheme:

The Scheme will expire on 14 May 2019.
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OUTSTANDING OPTIONS UNDER THE

SCHEME

Details of options (the “Options”) granted under the Scheme and
outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the year under review are as
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Number of Number of Nurmber of Number of Outstanding at Exercise price
Outstanding at Options Options Options Options 31 December Date of Exercise of Option
Name of participants 1 January 2016 granted exercised cancelled lapsed  Reclassification 2016 Options granted period  HKS per share
e HaoteE
1318 Bl Bfif Bt BAA 12838 EREGRE
SRERS WAGE  EREHA Bl R i EripE ] WAGE RHAE ka8 §hin
Category 1: Directors
Z1R: 83
Shi Kancheng 2883720 2883720 9 July 2009 (Note 1) 258
s A9ETAIR (Hity)
2300000 2300000 2Janary 2011 22 January 2014 o 18
N11E1R2A 21 January 2001
NU4EIRNAE
A1EIRAR
(Note2)
Wi2)
5183720 5183720
Shen Tiaojuan 1,441,860 1,441,860 9 July 2009 (Note 1) 258
s A0ETRIR (Hity)
1,200,000 1200000 2Januay 2011 22 January 2014 to 18
N1EIR2A 21 January 2001
NUE1FNAE
A1EIR2AA
(Note2)
(H#2)

2,641,860

2,641,860
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Number of Number of Number of Number of Outstanding at Exercise price
Outstanding at Options Options Options Options 31 December Date of Exercise of Option
Name of participants 1 January 2016 granted exercised cancelled lapsed  Reclassification 2016 Options granted period  HKS per share
ik ik
1A1A Bl Bfif Bt BAN 128318 EREARE
JEEHS BATE  BREHE e BhisE b ErivE ] RAAE RHAE fikaE §hin
Lou Yl 1,321,705 (1,321,708) - 9 July 2009 (Notg 1) 258
i W0ETAIR (Hity)
(rfitect and ceased fo be 1,100,000 (1,100,000) - Qauay 011 2 Janay 01dto 18
aDirector with effect NIEIARA 21 January 2021
from 1 September 2016 M1 ANEE
and e relevant share AWEIRAA
options owned by him have (Note 2)
been reckssifed fom W)
“Category 1: Directors” to
“Category 4 Others” on the
same date)
(R1659R1BRFE
hTBRES
Mﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ%%?&
ENER®[%18: E2
ENAEEIEE: ﬁm
242,105 [2421,705) -
Zhang Jiangang 1,321,706 1,321,706 9 July 2009 (Note 1) 258
et 200957 98 (i1
1,100,000 1100000 2Januay 2011 22 January 201410 185
N1E1A2A 21 January 2021
NUEIRNAZ
WIEI AR
(Note 2)
(Hiz2)
241,105 2401705
Jim Janrong® 961,240 91240 9July 2009 (Note 1) 258
$EX 200957 98 (Hi1)
(appointed as a Director 900,000 00000  2Janvary201t 22 January 2014 o 185
with effect from 1 June 2016 NIEIA2A 21 January 2021
and e relevant share WUEIANAEE
options owned by him have AWET1R2A
been reciassffed fiom (Notg 2)
“Category 2: Employess” to W)
“Category 1: Directors”
on the same date)
(BN165671RR
EZfEES TikES
EERRER SR
28 BRIENIE
E[£18:82))

1861.240 1861,240
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Number of Number of Number of Number of Outstanding at Exercise price
Outstanding at Options Options Options Options 31 December Date of Exercise of Option
Name of participants 1 January 2016 granted exercised cancelled lapsed  Reclassification 2016 Options granted period  HKS per share
HaoieE ot
1A1A Bl Bfif Bt BAK 128318 EREGRE
JEEHS RAGE  BREHE v BhisE LI BN RAAE RHAE fikaE §hin
Profgssor PeiKer Wel 360465 360,465 9 July 2009 (Notg 1) 258
BRBAK ANETAIR (K1)
300000 300000 2Januay2011 22 January 2014 to 18
NHEIARA 21 Janvary 2021
NUE1FNAE
WET1R2A
(Note 2)
(Hz2)
660,465 660,465
Dr. Loke Yu 360465 360,465 9.July 2009 (Note 1) 258
Bt 200957 498 (W)
300000 300000 2Januay2011 22 Janvary 2014 o 18
NEI1R2A 21 January 2021
NUEIRRNAZ
WIEIRAR
(Note 2)
(H#2)
660,465 660,465
13,989,920 (560.465) 13,429,485
Category 2: Employees 1141473 (061 240 104534% 9 July 2009 (Note 1) 258
F0R:B8 200957 98 (W1
12,300,000 800,000) (900000 10600000 22January 2011 22 January 2014 1o 18
NE1F2A 21 January 2021
NUEIFNAE
AWIEIRAR
(Note 2)
W22
2,714,735 800,000) (1,861,240 21,063,4%
Category 3: Supplers of 2403100 2403100 9 July 2009 (Note 1) 258
qoods or senices 00957 A9R W)
508 R BEELE 37,000,000 3000000 2Janvay2011 22 January 2014 o 18
NHEIARA 2 January 2021
NUEIRRNAZ
WIEI AR
(Note 2)
\‘/,‘%'/i‘?‘?/"

30,403,100 30,403,100

a This represented the share options owned by Mr. Jin Jianrong who was appointed a EEERAE(EBE2016F6 A1 AR T AES)

as a Director with effect from 1 June 2016 and such share options have been VA T B ERERED NS HAE [E28E B
reclassified from “Category 2: Employees” to “Category 1: Directors” on the same . o . \
date. BIEMDBREE1H E=ZR]-
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Number of Number of Number of Number of Outstanding at Exercise price
Outstanding at Options Options Options Options 31 December Date of Exercise of Option
Name of participants 1 January 2016 granted exercised cancelled lapsed  Reclassification 2016 Options granted period  HKS per share
ik Rt
1818 Bl Bfif Bit BAN 128318 ERRTEE
Vs HAR  EREHE L E BhiEsE Eheea Exiid AR RHAH fikaE §hin
Category 4: Others 17,908,101 1,321,705° 19,224,806 9 July 2009 (Notg 1) 258
SR 200957 498 (Hity)
14,600,000 1,100,000 15700000  22Javay 2011 22 Janvay 2014 o 185
N1E1 2R 21 January 2021
M4E1ANEE
AWEIRAA
(Note 2)
(W#2)
78,000,000 78,000,000 10July 2013 10Juy 201310 146
013875 10R 9July 2023
MIBETARE
ABETA9A
(Note 3)
WE«?‘
110,508,101 2421,705° 112,924,806
Total 187,610,856 (800,000) - 186,810,856
iy
E This represented the share options owned by Mr. Lou Yifei who retired and ceased ~ * ERE—MEE(RE20165F9 A1 HRBRERSHES
to be a Director with effect from 1 September 2016 and such share options have ERS) A R ESERECAEEH [E1
z:te(: reclassified from “Category 1: Directors” to “Category 4: Others” on the same HEE| ENSEE [S408 : Eh) o
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Notes:

The Options may be exercisable at any time during the period from 9 July 2009 to
8 July 2019 (the “Option Period”) provided that the maximum number of Options
which each Grantee is entitled to exercise shall not exceed:

(@) 20 per cent. of the total number of Options during the period from the expiry
of the first anniversary of the date of grant to the date immediately before
the second anniversary of the date of grant;

(b) 20 per cent. of the total number of Options during the period from the
second anniversary of the date of grant to the date immediately before the
third anniversary of the date of grant;

(c) 20 per cent. of the total number of Options during the period from the third
anniversary of the date of grant to the date immediately before the fourth
anniversary of the date of grant;

(d) 20 per cent. of the total number of Options during the period from the fourth
anniversary of the date of grant to the date immediately before the fifth
anniversary of the date of grant; and

(e) 20 per cent. of the total number of Options during the period from the fifth
anniversary of the date of grant to the date immediately before the sixth
anniversary of the date of grant.

On 22 January 2011, the Company had granted 80,000,000 Options which may be
exercisable after three years from the date of grant (the “Lock-in Period”) provided
that the Grantee has achieved the prescribed performance target during the Lock-
in Period and has passed the Company’s assessment, and be exercisable before
the expiry of the Option Period on 21 January 2021. The closing price of the Share
immediately before the date of granting the Options was HK$1.85 per share.

On 10 July 2013, the Company had granted 78,000,000 Options which may be
exercisable between 10 July 2013 and 9 July 2023. The closing price of the Share
immediately before the date of granting the Options was HK$1.43 per share.

The exercise price of the Options is subject to adjustment in the case of rights or
bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

Other details of the Scheme are set out in the section “Directors’ and Chief

Executives’ interests in securities of the Company” and note 31 to the

financial statements.

Hiaz
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(B) China New City Commercial Development
Limited — the CNC Scheme

On 20 May 2015, the shareholders of the Company approved the

adoption of a share option scheme (the “CNC Scheme”) of China

New City Commercial Development Limited (“CNC”, together

with its subsidiaries, the “CNC Group”)), a non-wholly owned

subsidiary of the Company incorporated in the Cayman Islands

whose issued shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:

1321). The adoption of the CNC Scheme was also approved by the

shareholders of CNC on 20 May 2015. The salient terms of the rules

of the CNC Scheme are set out below:

1.

Purpose of the CNC Scheme

As incentives or rewards to the eligible participants under the
CNC Scheme for their contribution to the CNC Group.

Participants of the CNC Scheme

@

72 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

any employee (whether full-time or part-time, including
any executive director but excluding any non-executive
director) of CNC, any of CNC’s subsidiaries or any entity
(the “CNC Invested Entity”) in which any member
of the CNC Group holds an equity interest (the “CNC
Eligible Employees”);

any non-executive directors (including independent
non-executive directors) of CNC, any of the CNC’s
subsidiaries or any CNC Invested Entity;

any supplier of goods or services to any member of the
CNC Group or any CNC Invested Entity;

any customer of any member of the CNC Group or any
CNC Invested Entity;

any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to any
member of the CNC Group or any CNC Invested Entity;
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) any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to
any area of business or business development of any
member of the CNC Group or any CNC Invested Entity;

(@ any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement to the
development and growth of the CNC Group;

and, for the purposes of the CNC Scheme, the offer for the
grant of CNC option may be made to any company wholly
owned by one or more persons belonging to any of the above
classes of participants.

Maximum number of CNC Shares available for subscription

The maximum number of CNC Shares which may be issued
upon the exercise of all outstanding CNC options granted and
yet to be exercised under the CNC Scheme and any other
share option scheme(s) adopted by the CNC Group must not
in aggregate exceed 30% of the share capital of CNC in issue
from time to time.

Subject to the rules of the CNC Scheme, CNC may seek
approval of its shareholders in general meeting to refresh the
CNC General Scheme Limit (as referred to in paragraph 4
below) provided that the total number of CNC Shares which
may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all CNC options
to be granted under the CNC Scheme and any other share
option scheme(s) of the CNC Group must not exceed 10%
of the CNC Shares in issue as at the date of approval of the
refreshed limit. For the purpose of calculating the refreshed
limit, such CNC options (including those outstanding,
cancelled, lapsed or exercised in accordance with the CNC
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the CNC
Group) previously granted under the CNC Scheme and any
other share option scheme(s) of the CNC Group will not be
counted.
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Total number of CNC Shares available for issue under the
CNC Scheme

The total number of CNC Shares which may be allotted and
issued upon the exercise of all CNC options (excluding such
CNC options which have lapsed in accordance with the terms
of the CNC Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of
the CNC Group) to be granted under the CNC Scheme and
any other share option scheme(s) of the CNC Group must not
in aggregate exceed 10% of the CNC Shares in issue on the
date of approval of the CNC Scheme on 20 May 2015 (that is,
not exceeding 173,800,000 CNC Shares, representing 10%
of the total issued share capital of CNC as at that date) (the
“CNC General Scheme Limit"). As at 31 December 2016,
the number of CNC Shares that remained available for issue
under the CNC Scheme was 173,800,000.

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the CNC
Scheme

The total number of CNC Shares issued and which may fall
to be issued upon the exercise of the options granted under
the CNC Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of
the CNC Group (including both exercised or outstanding
options) to each grantee in any 12-month period shall not
exceed 1% of the issued share capital of CNC for the time
being (the “CNC Individual Limit”). Any further grant of CNC
options in excess of the CNC Individual Limit in any 12-month
period up to and including the date of such further grant must
be separately approved by the CNC shareholders in general
meeting with such grantee and his associates abstaining from
voting.

Amount payable on acceptance of CNC Option

A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of
the grant of a CNC option.
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7.

10.

Minimum period for which a CNC option must be held before
it can be exercised and the exercise period of a CNC option

Unless otherwise determined by the CNC directors and stated
in the offer to a grantee, there is no minimum period under the
CNC Scheme for the holding of a CNC option before it can
be exercised. A CNC option may be exercised in accordance
with the terms of the CNC Scheme at any time during a period
to be determined and notified by the CNC directors to the
relevant grantee, which period may commence on a day after
the date upon which the offer for the grant of CNC options is
made but shall end in any event not later than 10 years from
the date of grant of the CNC option subject to the provisions
of early termination thereof.

Performance targets

Unless the CNC directors otherwise determined and stated in
the offer for the grant of CNC options to a grantee, a grantee
is not required to achieve any performance targets before
any CNC options granted under the CNC Scheme can be
exercised.

Basis of determining the exercise price of a CNC option

The exercise price shall be a price determined by the CNC
directors but shall not be less than the highest of the nominal
value of a CNC Share; the closing price of the CNC Shares on
the Stock Exchange; and the average closing price of CNC
Shares on the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of the offer for the grant.

Life of the CNC Scheme

The CNC Scheme will expire on 19 May 2025.

10.
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OUTSTANDING OPTIONS UNDER THE
CNC SCHEME

CNC had not granted any options under the CNC Scheme during the year
under review.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Aggregate sales attributable to the five largest customers of the Group
accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total revenue for the year
under review.

Aggregate purchases attributable to the five largest suppliers of the Group

accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total purchases for the year
under review.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The Directors during the year under review and up to the date of this report
were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr Shi Kancheng (alias Shi Zhongan)

Mr Lou Yifei (retired with effect from 1 September 2016)
Ms Shen Tiaojuan

Mr Zhang Jiangang

Mr Jin Jianrong (appointed with effect from 1 June 2016)

Independent non-executive Directors
Professor Pei Ker Wei

Dr Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam)

Mr Zhang Huagiao

In accordance with article 108 (A) of the Company’s articles of association,
(the “Articles”), Mr. Shi Kancheng and Professor Pei Ker Wei will retire
by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting (the “AGM”). In accordance with
article 112 of the Articles, Mr Jin Jianrong who was appointed with effect
from 1 June 2016 shall hold office until the AGM and, being eligible, offers
himself for re-election at the AGM.

No Director (including the Directors proposed to be re-elected at the AGM)
has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company still considers all of the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
AND CONTRACTS

There was no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance
subsisting during or at the end of the year under review in which a Director
(or an entity connected with a Director) either directly or indirectly, is or was
materially interested.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Group
are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Details of the Directors’ emoluments on a named basis are set out in note
8 to the financial statements.

Remuneration for each of the Directors are determined based on, among
others, emoluments paid by comparable companies, his/her time of
commitment and responsibilities towards the Company and whether
the remuneration package is competitively attractive to retain him/her as
director.

The Company and China New City has each maintained a share option
scheme for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to the eligible
participants for their contributions to the Group.

There were no compensation paid during the financial year or receivable by
directors or past directors for the loss of office as a director of any member
of the Group or of any other office in connection with the management of
the affairs of any member of the Group distinguishing between contractual
and other payments.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2016 and the date of this report, to the best knowledge
of the Company, the interests and short positions of the Directors and
chief executives of the Company in the Shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any associated corporation (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”))
as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules, were as follows:
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(1)

(2

Long positions in Shares of the Company
Number of Shares held and nature of interest in the Company:

Number and

Directors’ Report
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Approximate

Capacity and class of percentage Long/Short
Name of Director nature of interest securities held of interest position
BEEgE SO REEME 58 E RER ERBNEI #%KE
Mr. Shi Kancheng Interest of controlled 1,628,760,000 shares of HK$0.1 69.35% Long
HEAR AR ST A corporation (Note) each in the capital of the S~
RiEEE RS (M) Company

ARAREARZREEO0 BT
1,628,760,000 A& A& 1D

Note: These shares are held by Whole Good Management Limited, the entire
issued share capital of which is solely and beneficialy owned by Mr
Shi Kancheng. Mr Shi Kancheng is the sole director of Whole Good
Management Limited.

Long positions in underlying shares of the
Company:

Htat o ZR% 1% B Whole Good Management Limited
BAE H2HERITRATR2HBMA L
EEmBEA o HATK 5T &£ BWhole Good
Management Limited ¥ — & 5 ©

(2 RARBEERDHERE :

Number of Approximate

Capacity and underlying percentage of

Name of Director nature of interest Shares held the Company’s

(Note) issued share capital

Fris RO EE HARARE BT

BEgE S RERENE (B1&E) RAEBQNES L

Mr Shi Kancheng Beneficial owner 5,183,720 0.22
MBSt A BmBEAA

Ms Shen Tiaojuan Beneficial owner 2,641,860 0.11
WLIRIR £ EmBEAA

Mr Zhang Jiangang Beneficial owner 2,421,705 0.10
SR ERSH S A EmBAA

Mr Jin Jianrong Beneficial owner 1,861,240 0.08
SRRKE E=BAA

Professor Pei Ker Wei Beneficial owner 660,465 0.03
HrEHE BmBEAA

Dr Loke Yu Beneficial owner 660,465 0.03
B ARIE L EmBEAA

Note: These represent the number of Shares which will be allotted and issued
to the respective Directors upon the exercise of the share options granted
to each of them pursuant to the share option scheme adopted by the
Company on 15 May 2009.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2016 and the date
of this report, none of the Directors and chief executives of the
Company had or were deemed under the SFO to have any interests
or short positions in the Shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of SFO) as recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

(3) Long positions in shares of the associated
corporation

Number of shares held and nature of interest in China New City
Commercial Development Limited (“CNC”), a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, whose shares are listed on the Stock

br EXFRIHERESN - M2016F 12 A31A K
AIERH  AAREMESREBITHRA
B ENAA R REAEE AR (R FH R
E&BISE XV EBETTE 2 ) 2 &1 - AR
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REARE2ENBA AR EFATRLEE

BRARAR ([HEFHET ) (ERORBER
P BT PSRN 80 B R

Exchange:
Number and Approximate
Capacity and class of percentage Long/Short
Name of Director nature of interest securities held of interest position
FiEES
BEEgS BORERME BERER BBt KB
Mr. Shi Kancheng Interest of controlled 31,308,594 shares of HK$0.1 1.80% Long
MR S corporation (Note) each in the capital of CNC e

B AR R (M) R BT T AR AN R AR A
0.17%870,2 31,308,594 BA% 1D

Note: These shares are held by Whole Good Management Limited, the entire
issued share capital of which is solely and beneficially owned by Mr
Shi Kancheng. Mr Shi Kancheng is the sole director of Whole Good
Management Limited.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business in which the
Company, any of its subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or its parent company
was a party and in which a Director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of the year
under review.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTEREST IN THE SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2016 and the date of this report, to the best knowledge
of the Company, the following parties (other than Directors or chief

executives of the Company) were recorded in the register required to be

kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise

notified to the Company, as being directly or indirectly interested or

deemed to be interested in 5% or more of the issued share capital of the
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Company:
Percentage of the
Number of Company’s issued Long/Short
Name Capacity shares held share capital Position
AATCRIT
£ 56 FERGEE BN TS #RE
Whole Good Management Limited Beneficial owner 1,628,760,000 69.35% Long
(“Whole Good”) (Note 1) (ff& 1) EnlEA e
Haitong International New Energy Person having a 1,030,000,000 43.86% Long
VIl Limited (“HT New Energy VIII”) security interest 5=}

(Note 2) (f17#2) in Shares
REEMER AL
Notes:

Whole Good is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr Shi Kancheng, its sole director.
Mr Shi is the the Chairman, an executive director and the chief executive officer of
the Company. Mr Shi is deemed or taken to be interested in the 1,628,760,000
Shares held by Whole Good by virtue of Part XV of the SFO

The 1,030,000,000 Shares were pledged by Whole Good to HT New Energy VIII.
HT New Energy VIII is wholly held or controlled by Castle Range Developments
Limited (“CRD”), which is wholly held or controlled by Haitong International (BVI)
Limited (“HTIBVI”) and, in turn, wholly held or controlled by Haitong International
Securities Group Limited (“HTISG”). HTISG is 61.78% owned or controlled by
Haitong International Holdings Limited (“HTIH”) which, in turn, is wholly owned or
controlled by Haitong Securities Co., Ltd. (‘HTSC”). CRD, HTIBVI, HTSG, HTIH
and HTSC are deemed or taken to be interested in the security interest in the
1,030,000,000 Shares held by HT New Energy VIl by virtue of Part XV of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2016 and the date of this
report, no person, other than a Director or chief executive of the Company,

had interests or short positions in the Shares and underlying shares of the

Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO.
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Developments Limited ([CRDJ)& &A% H -
CRD 1 Haitong International (BVI) Limited ([HTIBVI])
2EHA LIS HTIBVIF Haitong International
Securities Group Limited ([HTISG ) &&#4AskiE
il o HTISG F3 Haitong International Holdings Limited
(THTIH]) % B 61.78% 3k #2 &l * M HTIH A Haitong
Securities Co., Ltd. ([HTSC|) 2&#HAT3EH] - 18
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RELATED PARTY AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Details of significant related party transactions of the Group are set out in
note 33 to the financial statements.

None of the related party transactions constituted non-exempt connected
transactions or non-exempt continuing connected transactions in
accordance with the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December
2016.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, as at the latest practicable date prior to the
issue of this annual report, the Company has maintained the prescribed
public float under the Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
December 2016.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year under review, the Group made charitable donations
amounting to approximately RMB4,007,000 (2015: RMB493,000).

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND
UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s principal risks and uncertainties are set out in the paragraphs
under “Principal Risks and Uncertainties” in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Company strives to balance business growth with environmental
protection.

As the major businesses of the Group are property development, leasing

and hotel operation in China, we evaluate, manage and mitigate from
time to time environmental issues within the context of the Group’s
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business activities and objectives for the conservation of energy and other
natural resources; (i) devise environmental policies and measures for the
Group so as to keep them in line with the standards required under the
applicable laws, rules and regulations to the extent practicable; and (i)
apply our philosophy on environment protection to our supply chain and
operations. These include but not limited to the scrutiny in the selection
of our business partners or services providers and award the bids of
construction and other projects of which the Group is involved to reputable
and environmentally-conscientious corporations and contractors with
good compliant and environmental records.

Our hotel in Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, the PRC, is managed by
a reputable international hotel management company that has been
promoting environmental protection policies for energy management,
water management and waste management to minimize the ecological
footprint of the hotel operation for years. To name a few, all lightings and
appliances will be replaced in phases by energy saving ones. Guest rooms
have room card insert energy saving switches and reduction in paper
usage in the office and promote storage of files in electronic forms instead
of in paper files. On the front of our leasing business, we are careful in
the selection of our lessees and implemented environmental policies and
measures in the operation of leasing business, including the management
of the properties leased by the Group.

The Group has also implemented energy saving practices in the workplace
through (i) appropriately designing, constructing, maintaining and, if
required, modifying facilities wherever applicable; (i) using or to replacing
gradually existing appliances with more energy efficient appliances for
lighting, heating and ventilation systems to reduce energy consumption
and (jii) raising awareness of environmental protection at workplace..

During the year under review, there had been no record of material
breach or violation by the Group of applicable environmental laws, rules or
regulations.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group has kept itself abreast with the development of laws, rules and
regulations which have or may have an impact on, and has been abiding
the laws, rules and regulations applicable to, the operation of its business.

The Group has implemented procedures and policies, employed
suitable personnel and engaged professional advisers to ensure that (i)
such approvals, permits and licences necessary for the operation of its
businesses are obtained; and (ji) its operations are being run in line with the
applicable laws, rules and regulations. During the year under review, there
had been no material violation of the applicable laws, rules and regulations
by the Group.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Company is committed to maintaining, and has maintained good
relationships with, its employees, customers and suppliers with a view to
fostering better mutual understanding and/or a sense of belonging towards
the Company. This is conducive to implementing the Group’s strategies
and business objectives, as well as the Group’s business development and
sustainability in the long run.

The Group believes that our people are critical success factors to the
Group’s competitiveness in the market. To attract high calibre people
and solidify the management of the Group, eligible participants (including
employees of the Group) may be granted options to subscribe for shares
in the Company pursuant to the share option scheme adopted by the
Company. The Group also provides continuous learning and training
programs to its employees to enhance their skills and knowledge, so as to
maintain their competitiveness.

Customer satisfaction with our services and products has a profound
effects on our profitability. Our dedicated team of sales people are in
constant communication with our customers and potential customers to
uncover and create customer needs and help customers make informed
decisions. To grasp the market trend is critical for the Group to timely
adjust our operating strategies to fit the market requirement.

Collaborative and mutual beneficial business relationship with our strategic
suppliers and contractors is of important to achieve higher levels of
efficiency and competitive advantage. The Group evaluate the capabilities
of our supplier and contractors to determine if they are able to meet the
requirement and needs of the Group from time to time.

Developing and maintaining good relationship with various commercial
banks and financial institutions always are our main tasks because our
capital-intensive projects require on-going funding to maintain continuous
growth.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Details of the matters that occurred and bore significant effect to the Group
between the year end date and the date of this report are set out in the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual
report.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Register of Members will be closed from Monday, 5 June 2017 to
Thursday, 8 June 2017 (both days inclusive), during which period no
transfer of shares can be registered. In order to qualify for attending and
voting at the forthcoming annual general meeting to be held on Thursday,
8 June 2017, all transfers accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar
and transfer office, Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level 22, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Friday, 2 June 2017.

AUDITORS

Emst & Young will retire and a resolution for their reappointment as
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Zhong An Real Estate Limited
Shi Kancheng

Chairman

The People’s Republic of China, 27 March 2017
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To the shareholders of Zhong An Real Estate Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited
liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Zhong An Real
Estate Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set
out on pages 94 to 243, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2016, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2016, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”), and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA'’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
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To the shareholders of Zhong An Real Estate Limited (continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Independent Auditors’ Report
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Key audit matter

Classification and valuation of
investment properties

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s
investment properties amounted to
RMB5,387 million which represents 27%
of the Group’s total assets. Management is
required to exercise significant judgment in
determining the classification and valuation
of investment properties as disclosed in
the note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group determines whether completed
properties held for sales and properties
under development should be transferred
to investment properties based on various
criteria, such as the business plan to
hold the properties for rental income and
appreciation, the Group’s resources to hold
and manage the investment properties and
the approval from the Board of Directors
for the change of use. No completed
properties held for sales or properties
under development were transferred to
investment properties in the current year.
The Group engaged an external valuation
expert to perform the valuation of investment
properties. The valuation methods applied
included the direct comparison approach
and income approach which involved
various assumptions, such as estimated
rental revenues, discount rates, occupancy
rates, historical transactions and market
knowledge.

The related disclosure are included in note
3 and 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

For the valuation of investment properties,
our audit procedures included verifying
those signed rental contracts, comparing
unit price of adjacent similar properties
that was benchmarked in the valuation
process, assessing assumptions related to
future market rents, the discount rates and
future maintenance costs applied based on
historical experiences with the involvement
of our internal valuation specialists, who
focused on term yield, reversionary yield
and market unit rent. We also assessed
the adequacy of the disclosures of the
assumptions to which the outcome of the
valuation result is most sensitive in the
consolidated financial statements.
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Key audit matter

Net realizable value of completed
properties held for sale and properties
under development

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s
properties under development and
completed properties held for sale
amounted to RMB10,724 million which
represents 53% of the Group’s total assets.
These properties were stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. The net
realisable value was estimated by the
management based on expected selling
prices, the cost of completion of properties
under development, and the costs to be
incurred in selling the properties based on
prevailing market condition. The estimation
of the net realisable value involved a
significant of judgment.

The related disclosures are included in notes
3, 14 and 21 to the consolidated financial
statements.

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

We reviewed the Group’s net realisable
value estimation, checked the expected
selling prices to the Group’s similar
properties presold recently or the prices
of adjacent properties sold. For cost of
completion of properties under development
and the cost to be incurred in selling the
properties, we evaluated management’s
estimation methodology, which has been
updated to reflect the latest historical
information and the refined construction and
selling costs budget process.
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To the shareholders of Zhong An Real Estate Limited (continued)

Other information included in the Annual
Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the
consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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To the shareholders of Zhong An Real Estate Limited (continued)

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the

consolidated financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the

consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Independent Auditors’ Report
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Independent Auditors’ Report
B ZBENHRE

To the shareholders of Zhong An Real Estate Limited (continued)

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

92 Zhong An Real Estate Limited 2016 Annual Report

ZAImL (B B
%%Zf% (”P]

BRZEEARARZERRE (H)

FHBE AR R R R R (]
B AT -

HEERAKECESFEENEENE &
(ERFBSNEZRIR) R B FERE
AAR A e BEY BRERELLE
NEFEARBNEATHEE LS Hj,%u e
HERMRBAFEEATHEENL - BEER
SIRNRE IR L B A I ISR HI AR R 3
BR(WZEETR)ERRMANER - &
P ERERBERBEN RS B MG
%TZ.?%TF o AT RREHTAR AT LS
SEBESELE -

FHER ST ISR ERRIIHR - BB RN
R BREEERSHUBHRRESHERAD
FIRE T AR TR S RE -

ERER BESENERAXEEHNMB
BERNFENBENERRE - UWHAHIE
BRERER - RAMBEERS  BEERET
SEEZ - RMDAHRFNFZERARE
EHEME -

B BZNRSBERERESA
& WF?E%VEP%’XEEE’JW*B? HER



To the shareholders of Zhong An Real Estate Limited (continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent

auditor’s report is Philip Leung, Wai Lap.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 March 2017
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94 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

BOHEFER

Year ended 31 December 2016 &= 20164 12 A 31 HILFE

2016 2015
2016 20154
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HizF AR¥T T ARET T
Revenue PN 5 5,007,148 2,883,146
Cost of sales SHE P (4,382,170) (2,426,128)
Gross profit EF 624,978 457,018
Other income and gains E A YA K i m 5 30,193 276,344
Selling and distribution expenses SHE RS EAX (187,495) (208,848)
Administrative expenses TR (311,611) (299,769)
Other expenses Hnpax (19,029) (5,616)
Fair value gain upon transfer to R EICEYER
investment properties A EERE 13 - 796,581
Changes in fair value of REMENRR
investment properties BEE 13 123,908 29,361
Finance costs WFER 7 (11,717) (34,269)
Share of loss of joint ventures DIhEEREREIE 17 (15) (2,208)
Profit before tax BR%% A1 6 249,212 1,008,594
Income tax expense FrSBiFsZ 10 (88,250) (415,292)
Profit for the year FRFIHE 160,962 593,302
Attributable to: AT (S -
Owners of the parent ISNETE FEWN 125,272 420,608
Non-controlling interests AR 35,690 172,694
160,962 593,302
Earnings per share attributable to BAREERFEA
ordinary equity holders of the parent EEERER 11
Basic E= /N RMBS5 cents RMB18 cents
AR®5S AR#B185
Diluted B RMBS5 cents RMB18 cents
AR¥5S AR#E18 5
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

StEERER

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z= 20164 12 A 31 HILFE

2016 2015
2016 F 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Profit for the year FRFIHE 160,962 593,302
Other comprehensive income Hih 2 mE iz
Other comprehensive income REZHRERH
to be reclassified to profit or EETMEMER
loss in subsequent periods: Iz
Exchange differences on translation of REINETS
foreign operations EEZENZER 4,070 (12,933)
Net other comprehensive income REZIBREH S8
to be reclassified to profit or loss in EEENEMEE
subsequent periods s 558 4,070 (12,933)
Total comprehensive FRZHEKNZEEE
income for the year 165,032 580,369
Attributable to: PATR A -
Owners of the parent ISHNETE YN 131,540 407,675
Non-controlling interests FEEAR S 33,492 172,694
165,032 580,369
BREEARLAR —T—AFFHR 95



96 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

B OB AR R

31 December 2016 2016412 A31H

2016 2015
2016 20154
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HizF AR¥T T ARET T
Non-current assets FEREEE
Property and equipment EENEE 12 1,362,070 182,711
Investment properties TEYE 13 5,129,937 5,244,100
Properties under development FAEE R 2 14 2,285,929 4,588,912
Restricted cash SRRFIRE 25 141,351 90,100
Available-for-sale investments AHEEERE 15 28,300 3,300
Long term prepayments RAEAFEI K 16 409,958 359,321
Investment in joint ventures REERENRE 17 759 774
Loans and receivables RE—EEEEENER
from a joint venture Uk 18 173,246 =
Deferred tax assets FRIEFIIAE BE 19 168,779 184,258
Total non-current assets BIERENEE 9,700,329 10,653,476
Current assets REEE
Completed properties held for sale FHEHE BRI 21 5,506,562 4,506,299
Properties under development EEEG R ES 14 2,931,314 4,661,802
Inventories FE 16,158 10,628
Trade and bills receivables FEWE SRR R ER 23 78,321 72,198
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FB3K * & R EMEWTIE 24 479,164 537,972
Equity investments at fair value through AR EEGTE B EZE)
profit or loss FTAE BEE A ERIRE 22 491 558
Restricted cash ZRHRE 25 354,138 162,216
Cash and cash equivalents BeMIREEEY 25 946,651 1,454,458
Investment properties classified DEAFIELENIREYE
as held for sale 13 257,313 29,800
Total current assets BB EE 10,570,112 11,435,931
Current liabilities nEEE
Trade payables B E SRR 26 1,938,978 2,320,479
Other payables and accruals E Ath A 5E K B AT & A 27 603,226 782,531
Advances from customers BFEENMT 28 3,051,080 3,569,147
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 52 SR1TE X KR EAL &K 29 2,131,739 2,213,181
Tax payable JE A IE 10 668,900 677,684
Total current liabilities FENEN=E 8,393,923 9,563,022
Net current assets REBEERHE 2,176,189 1,872,909
Total assets less current liabilities BEERABAR 11,876,518 12,526,385
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

SO BR R R

31 December 2016 20164 12 A 31 B

2016 2015
2016 20154
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
izt ARETT ARET T
Non-current liabilities EREBERE
Interest-bearing bank and STESRITER R H AR
other borrowings 29 3,136,609 3,981,662
Deferred tax liabilities RETHIAEE 19 1,028,774 991,957
Total non-current liabilities wIEREERE 4,165,383 4,973,619
Net assets BEE 7,711,135 7,552,766
Equity =
Equity attributable to owners of the parent A GG A fE(H s
Share capital &N 30 220,811 220,811
Reserves G 32 6,318,091 6,189,412
6,538,902 6,410,223
Non-controlling interests R AR 1,172,233 1,142,543
Total equity s 7,711,135 7,552,766
Shi Kancheng Shen Tiaojuan EZE EZE
Director Director iR TAREE

REFEERRAT
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
B ERRER

Year ended 31 December 2016 #;Z 20164 12 A31 HILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BAAEGARE
Share Share  Stafutory  Statutory  Exchange Proposed Non-
Share  premium  Contributed Capital opion suplus  reseve fluctuation  Retained final controling Total
capital ~accont  surplus  reserve  reseve  resene find  resene profits ~ dividend Total  interests equity
B fEEs ie EdEE B b3
Rrx  RhREE  EHER ReEgE  EEe 0EE  EEe EEE  REEN  AERE it B G
RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RWBO0  RMBOO0  RWBOO0  RWBO0  RMBOOD  RWMBOOO  RWBO0  RMBOO0  RMBOOO  RWBO0  RMBONO
MRETT ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETn ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
Note 0 Notes304328) ~ Noted2p)  Noted2g)  Noledf  Noled20)  Nole32d)
W MEORME  WEND)  WEN  WEY KENg RN
At 1 Janvary 201 DEEIAIR 2081 296282 038 2160 156325 22,306 8239 (07839 2234975 - 600258 900849 699337
Proftfor the year iR = = = - - - - - 40608 - LGB 172604 593302
Othercomprehensie noome EMEfAENS
forthe year:
Etchenge ifevencesreied fo nEshEE
foregn oeraons JEiER - - - - - - - (e - - (9 - (e
Tota comprehensieinoome EMRENRGE
forthe year - - - - - = - (12933 420608 - Angts 172,604 580,369
Diidends pd toron-contoling BFHERRR
farchalders e - - - - - - - - - - -0 @100
Share optons forfeted ERER - - - - B - - - 357 - - - -
Stautoy s resene EeRBLES - - - - - 3672 - S ] - - - -
At 31 December 2015 DEERANE 2081 29625 39318 212,161 10278 206978 8239 (10772 2605483 - 0410223 114254 7562766
At 1 anvay 2016 6EIR1A mat %62 3316 HIPAL) 160783 05918 8289 (Horm) 2685488 640228 114058 TELT66
Pt eyear i 150 150 B0 16098
Ot compeensie core EhERENE:
forthe ear:
Extange dfeeres et AERIEREL
fore cpeons JEiER £ 626 1% 40
Totd compehensieinco EhpENpEE
forthe e - 6,68 151 131,540 340 165,082
Aeustinfron<ondolng st VEHhER 861 . . - 0861 (b0 (6663)
Stae cpors e ERER - B ) . . -
StattorySupls resene EERBNER . 2% %)
At 31 December 2016 MBERANE me M nyet w0t gt 263 800t (454 26t G002 MM TR

*
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These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated other reserves of
RMB6,318,091,000 (2015: RMB6,189,412,000) in the consolidated statement of
financial position.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BORERER

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z= 20164 12 A 31 HILFE

2016 2015
2016 F 20154
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HiaF ARMT T ARETT
Cash flows from operating activities REZBRNRSRE
Profit before tax BT AT 249,212 1,008,594
Adjustments for: R
Depreciation e 12 20,958 17,677
~ Fair value gain upon transfer to —ERERAYER
investment properties AnEERG 13 - (796,581)
— Changes in fair value of investment properties —RENMEN AR BEEE 13 (123,908) (29,361)
Fair value losses, net: AnBEBETE:
Equity investments at fair value WAREEFEAEE
through profit or loss AR HERNOERRE 67 257
(Realise)/write-down of properties under (2R) /WRAZPNES
development to net realisable value AEREE 14 (71,611) 58,620
Share of loss of joint ventures AMERELENEE 15 2,208
— Loss/(gain) on disposal of investment properties —HEREMENBE/ (W) 5 5,684 (1,397)
Gain on disposal of joint ventures HERE M EMKE 5 - (125,954)
Finance costs B%ER 7 11,7117 34,269
Interest income from a joint venture RE—FEELENFEBA 5 - (115,633)
92,134 52,699
Decrease in properties under development Rk ES T 3,392,418 214,227
Increase in completed properties held for sale FHEHEB AL (1,000,263) (167,118)
Increase in trade and bills receivables B E BB R EE (6,123) (55,244)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, deposits and B e REMGEKGUE
other receivables mb,/(#hn) 58,808 (104,927)
Increase in long term prepayments R (50,637) (278,609)
Increase in inventories FEEm (5,530) (1,020)
(Increase)/decrease in restricted cash for pre-sale BEMBHRAEZRHES (Em),
proceeds (221,312) 182,290
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables ERE SRR D /() (381,501) 535,770
(Decrease)/increase in other payables and accruals EiERTERET B ALY,/ (E00) (185,705) 234,593
(Decrease)/increase in advances from customers BRREMZRL/(#0) (665,002) 444,307
Cash generated from operations RELBELNES 1,027,287 1,056,968
Interest paid BRAIS (391,340) (540,508)
Income tax and land appreciation tax paid BRFTEH R L ER (44,737) (111,567)
Net cash flows generated from CEERELNRSRETE
operating activities 591,210 404,893
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100 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BHRERER

Year ended 31 December 2016 &= 20164 12 A 31 HILFE

2016 2015
2016 F 20154
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
A AR¥TT ARETT
Cash flows (used in)/generated from REEK (%R) EE
investing activities MRSHE
Purchase of an available-for-sale investment BA-HAHLERE (25,000) -
Acquisition of a new joint venture FE—HaEhE - (800)
Interest received from a joint venture B —R&ERENNE - 145,402
Repayment from a joint venture RE—HEELERER - 420,931
Loans to a joint venture RtET—HAEEEER (173,246) (30,000)
Increase in investment properties TR AWML (60,794) (30,329)
Proceeds from disposal of a joint venture HE—REECEMBEHE - 170,000
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties HEREYEMEFE 212,604 4,387
Purchases of items of property and equipment BAREREREEE (130,929) (13,550)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEFERZEEE
property and equipment FifS3E 5,143 1,230
(Increase)/decrease in restricted cash SREES (Em) B (21,863) 185,517
Net cash flows (used in)/generated from REEK (%R) B
investing activities WEESREFE (194,085) 852,788
Cash flows used in financing activities RETHELNRSRE
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders B TFIEERRRARE - (21,000)
New interest-bearing bank and other borrowings M BRITERREMER 2,929,949 2,356,347
Repayment of interest-bearing bank and BB RITENREMER
other borrowings (3,856,444) (3,127,738)
Acauisition of non-controlling interests W IE R s (6,663) -
Decrease in an amount due to a non-controlling FERFEEAR AR R
shareholder FER D 27 20,000 11,644
Net cash flows used in financing activities AEEHREANASRETSE (913,158) (780,747)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and HERBESEN(HD) EMFE
cash equivalents (516,033) 476,934
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year FRERREEEN 1,454,458 969,306
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net EXEHNTE - T8 8,226 8,218
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year EXRASRALEEY 946,651 1,454,458
Analysis of balances of cash and BERBESEBNERIN
cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances Re RFTEH 25 946,651 1,454,458
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1.

Notes to Financial Statements

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION

Zhong An Real Estate Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability
company incorporated as an exempted company in the Cayman
Islands on 13 March 2007 under the Companies Law (revised) of
the Cayman Islands. The registered office address of the Company
is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are
principally engaged in property development, leasing and hotel
operations. The Group’s property development projects during the
year were all located in Zhejiang, Anhui and Jiangsu provinces, the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). There were no significant
changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the
year.

The Company has listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “HKSE”) with stock code “00672” on 13
November 2007 and raised capital amounted to HKD3,621 million
from the market.

In the opinion of the Company’s directors (the “Directors”), the
holding company and the ultimate holding company of the Company
is Whole Good Management Limited, a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands on 3 May 2007. Whole Good Management
Limited is wholly owned by Mr. Shi Kancheng, Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company.
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REFEERRAR(ARATF)E2007F3 A
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5 fif 9% =5 B2 3 1E 4 Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-
1111, Cayman Islands °
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR ER R M

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. LFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries BB E QTR ER
Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: B ARFERT
Percentage of equity
Place and date Issued ordinary/  attributable to the Group
of incorporation/ registered as at 31 December
registration and capital as at 12A31H
place of business 31 December 2016 ARERGRERS L Principal
Name of company SR/ IR 20161231 H 2016 2015 activities
NREHR ERERAMH BRTER/fER 2016 015 IBER
MIRZRMERL PRC/Mainland China RMB2,000,000 59.2% 59.2%  Property leasing
RN 3 April 1997 ARE2,000,00070 ESE
Zhejiang Zhong An HE/HE R,
Property Development 19974 A3H
Xiaoshan Co., Ltd. ¥
RREERRAH PRG/Mainland China RMB500,000,000 90% 90%  Property development
Zhong An Group 26 December 1997 AR 500,000,000 75 and leasing
Co., Ltd. @ HE /AR MERERES
1997612 A 26 B
MLRZ D= RERRAR PRC/Meainland China RMB10,000,000 90% 90%  Property service
Zhejiang Zhong An Property 18 November 1998 AK¥10,000,0007C EL
Management Co., Ltd. # E/FERH
1998411 A 18 H
ZRRREHERZEERAR PRC/Mainland China US$5,000,000 100% 100%  Property development
Anhui Zhong An Real Estate 9 August 2001 5,000,000% T VEE
Development Co., Ltd. HE/HE R,
20018 A9H
mMBESEHEREERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 65.8% 65.8%  Property development
Hangzhou White Horse Property 27 June 2002 AR 50,000,0007C MR
Development Co., Ltd, e/ REIR
200246 F 27 A
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CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Notes to Financial Statements

B ERR M

1. DFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

TENEARNEN (&)

MBARELT : (&)

Percentage of equity
Place and date Issued ordinary/  attributable to the Group
of incorporation/ registered as at 31 December
registration and capital as at 12A318
place of business 31 December 2016 ARBEEREADL Principal
Name of company SR/ RILR 2016125 31 B 2016 2015 activities
NRER EBERAH BRITEE/ DER 20165 015  TEEH
LHRZERERAR PRC/Meainland China RMB57,000,000 84.2% 84.2%  Property development
Anhui Zhong An Real Estate 17 January 2003 AR 57,000,0007T MERE
Co,, Ltd. ¥ G
2003F1 178
MNZEIEXERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 92.6% 92.6%  Property development
Hangzhou Danube Real Estate 7 March 2003 AR 50,000,0007 MERE
Co, Ltd. ® /RN
2003F3A7H
ERREREESARAR PRC/Mainland China RMB6,000,000 73.1% 731%  Property development
Chunan Minfu Property 24 Qctober 2003 AR#6,000,00070 VESE
Co., Ltd. ® GV
200310 A 24 R
ZRRTNEEEERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB3,000,000 90% 90%  Property management
Anhui Zhong An Property 24 November 2003 AR%3,000,00070 NEER
Management Co., Ltd. ¢ R/ RE N
200311 A24 8
LEREEHEREERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 65.8% 65.8%  Property leasing
Shanghai Zhong An Property 19 January 2004 AR#10,000,0007 NENE
Development Co., Ltd. @ fE /R E R
200441 A 198
HTEREZARAA PRC/Mainland China US$77,600,000 72.9% 72.9%  Property development
Zhejiang Huijun Real Estate 1 April 2005 77,600,000 ESE
Co,, Ltd. ® /R
2005%4 A1R
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Notes to Financial Statements

s e
1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. 2FIREEEH ()
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) EBRMBARNER (&)
Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) B ARFRT : (&)
Percentage of equity
Place and date Issued ordinary/  attributable to the Group
of incorporation/ registered as at 31 December
registration and capital as at 12A318
place of business 31 December 2016 ARBEEREADL Principal
Name of company SR/ RILR 2016125 31 B 2016 2015 activities
ARER £t AR AN BRTEE/ TRER 2016 % 0155  TEEE
MNRLZEEEEERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB2,000,000 65.8% 65.8%  Property management
Hangzhou Zhong An Highlong 20 September 2005 AK%2,000,00070 NEER
Commercial Buildings Co., Ltd. ¥ E /R
2005F9 A 20H
HntEER (M) BRAR PRC/Mainland China US$14,900,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Qirui Enterprise Management 21 November 2005 14,900,000% 7T RER
(Hangzhou) Co., Ltd. thE /hE R
2005511 A 218
MNEIESEREERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 67.6% 67.6%  Property development
Hangzhou Zheng Jiang Real 16 March 2006 AR®50,000,0007 VESE
Estate Development Co., Ltd. e/ Bl
20063 516 A
BRGEER (M) BRAR PRC/Mainland China 1US$149,061,280 73.1% 731%  Property development
Henlly Enterprise Management 4 December 2006 149,061,280 ESE
(Hangzhou) Co., Ltd. dE /R E R
200612 A4 A
mNELRZRREEER AR PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 65.8% 65.8%  Hotel management
Hangzhou Xiaoshan Zhong’an 28 May 2007 AR10,000,0007 BEERE
Holiday Inn Co., Ltd. e/ RN
20075 H 288
ARSERENEERERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000 90% 90%  Property management
HeFei Green Bay Property 1 August 2007 ARE500,0007 NEER
Management Co., Ltd. “ thE /hE RN
20078 A1H
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B ERR M

1. DFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

TENEARNEN (&)

MBARELT : (&)

Percentage of equity
Place and date Issued ordinary/ attributable to the Group
of incorporation/ registered as at 31 December
registration and capital as at 12A318
place of business 31 December 2016 ARERGRERS L Principal
Name of company S/ LK 20161231 H 2016 2015 activities
nRER EBHERAH BRTER/AfER 2016 0155  IEER
MNEAREERER AR PRC/Mainland China 1US$29,990,000 100% 100%  Investment management
Hangzhou Junjie Investment 4 December 2007 29,990,000 7T REER
Co., Ltd. hE/RER
200712 A48
mMNEEE S RIER AR PRC/Mainland China 1S$59,700,000 100% 100%  Consultation
Hangzhou Huijun Information 5 December 2007 59,700,000t management
Technology Co., Ltd. HE/HERH HHER
2007F12 A58
MMNEEAEENARAR PRG/Mainland China US$29,900,000 73.1% 731%  Manufacture of
Hangzhou Dehong New 1 February 2008 29,900,000t construction materials
Constructions Materials E /AR BEMHAEE
Management Co., Ltd, 2008F2A1H
MNEZRAERERAR PRC/Mainland China 1US$49,990,000 73.1% 731%  Investment management
Hangzhou Huihong Investment 19 February 2008 49,990,000t RAERE
Management Co., Ltd. mEl/hERi
20082 194
AERZRBBEERARA PRC/Mainland China RMB350,000,000 73.1% 73.1%  Hotel management
Hefei Zhong'an 18 March 2008 A 350,000,000 75 BEEE
Holiday Inn Co., Ltd. @ e /hE RN
20083 A 18R
ESEEHMEZ S (M) ERAR] PRC/Mainland China 1S$12,000,000 73.1% 731%  Material trading
Huijun Construction Materials 16 July 2008 12,000,000% 7T NEES
Trading (Hangzhou) Co., Ltd. g /R E R
2008%7 AR 168
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. LFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) EBRMBARNER (&)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) WEBARFEBNT : (8)

Percentage of equity
Place and date Issued ordinary/  attributable to the Group
of incorporation/ registered as at 31 December
registration and capital as at 12A318
place of business 31 December 2016 ARERGRERS L Principal
Name of company SR/ LK 20161231 H 2016 2015 activities
nAER EBHERAM BRTER/HfER 2016 015  IEEE
IR EEEREER AR PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 90% 90%  Agriculture development
Zhejiang Anyuan Agriculture 11 June 2009 AR%10,000,0007 EER%
Development Co., Ltd. HE/FE R
20096511 A
FRREEREEERAT PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 90% 90%  Investment holding
Zhong'an Service 13 August 2009 AR 50,000,000 RAR
Holding Group Co., Ltd. © B/ E i,
20098 A 13 A
IR E T BES L ARAR PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 90% 90%  Real estate agency
Zhejiang Anyuan Real 30 October 2009 AR%10,000,0007C EHERE
Estate Agent Co., Ltd. ¥ mE /R,
200910 A30H
IR ER RS ER AR PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 90% 90%  Housekeeping service
Zhejiang Anyuan Housekeeping 30 October 2009 AR 10,000,007 FIIRT
Senvice Co., Ltd. @ mEl/hERit
2009F10A30H
MNRRNRBEIESERAR  PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 45.9% 459%  Construction design
Hangzhou Zhong An Image 10 December 2009 AK%1,000,00070 BELE
Construction Design Co., Ltd. ¢ HE/FE R
2009F12 A 108
MNRREZBRAF PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000,000 90% 90%  Property development
Hangzhou Zhong An Property 1 February 2010 A 200,000,0007 MERE
Co, Ltd. e/ Bl
201052818
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1. DFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

TENEARNEN (&)

MBARELT : (&)

Percentage of equity
Place and date Issued ordinary/  attributable to the Group
of incorporation/ registered as at 31 December
registration and capital as at 12A318
place of business 31 December 2016 ARBEEREAL Principal
Name of company FMARYL/ IR 201612831 H 2016 2015 activities
GRS ERHURAH BRITLE/ SER 20165 015  FEEK
AURLEHEREERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 90% 90%  Property development
Yuyao Zhong An Property 5 March 2010 AR 100,000,007 RS
Development Co., Ltd. mEl/hERt
20103 A5H
IR R THERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 90% 90%  Travel agency
Zhejiang Anyuan Travel Agency 17 August 2010 AE#10,000,0007C IRTAL
Co., Ltd. /PR
20108 17 A
MmN EEHEREERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 45.9% 459%  Property development
Hangzhou Anyuan Property 14 September 2010 AR 100,000,00070 e
Development Co., Ltd. @ mE /R E R
20109714 R
AURREZBRAR PRC/Mainland China US$150,000,000 93% 93%  Property development
Yuyao Zhong An Property 10 December 2010 150,000,000 ESE
Co,, Ltd. @ /R
201012 R 108
MNENCEERERAF PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000 65.8% 65.8%  Property management
Hangzhou Fukai Management 2 March 2011 AR#500,0007 NEER
thE /P E
2011%F3A2A
IS REXRERB AR PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 90% 90%  Investment holoing
Zhejiang Jinnong Investment 15 March 2011 AR 100,000,00070 RAER
Co., Ltd. /PR
2011E3 158
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. LFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) EBRMBARNER (&)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) WEBARFEBNT : (8)

108 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

Percentage of equity
Place and date Issued ordinary/  attributable to the Group
of incorporation/ registered as at 31 December
registration and capital as at 12A318
place of business 31 December 2016 ARBEEREADL Principal
Name of company SMARYL/RILR 201612831 B 2016 2015 activities
nRER EBHERAH BRTER/ER 20165 0155  IEER
MM REEXREERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB3,000,000 90% 90%  Agriculture development
Hangzhou Xingidian Agriculture 22 June 2011 ARH3,000,0007 BERE
Development Co., Ltd. ¥ R E /R ENH
2011F6H228
ML RREEREERERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 65.8% 65.8% Investment holding
Zhejiang Zhong An Commercial 1 August 2011 AR#10,000,0007 RAER
Investment Management Co., Ltd. © &, /s Bk,
2011%F8A1H
LR EEHEREBRAR PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 90% 90%  Property development
Zhejiang Zhong An Property 4 August 2011 AR 20,000,0007 ERE
Development Co., Ltd. @ fE /R E R
2011E8A4H
MNRZREREERERAT PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 57.7% 57.7%  Investment holding
Hangzhou Zhong An Changhong 26 August 2011 AR#1,000,00070 RAER
Investment Management Co,, Ltd. ©@ B /s Bk,
2011F8 268
RRZEEREERAA PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 90% 90%  Agriculture development
Yuyao Zhong An Agriculture 9 November 2011 AR#20,000,0007C RERHE
Development Co., Ltd. ¥ BB /R EAH
2011F11A9H
SREHAESBEEEERAR  PRC/Mainland China RMB2,000,000 65.8% 65.8%  Property management
Yuyao Zhong An Time Souare 6 December 2011 AK%2,000,00070 E
Commercial Management HE/ B
Co., Ltd.® 201112 A68
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CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. DFRKEEH(]&)

TENEARNEN (&)

MBARELT : (&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

Percentage of equity
Place and date Issued ordinary/  attributable to the Group
of incorporation/ registered as at 31 December
registration and capital as at 12A318
place of business 31 December 2016 ARERERERS L Principal
Name of company S/ B K 20161231 H 2016 2015 activities
NREH EBHERAH BRTEE/fER 2016 0155  IEEE
MNREEERHERA PRC/Mainland China RMBS5,000,000 90% 90%  Construction design
Hangzhou Zhong An 28 November 2011 AR5,000,00070 B
Construction Design Co., Ltd. ® RE/FER
011411 F28H
MNRZEREFBRBERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB3,000,000 72% 72%  Housekesping service
Hangzhou Jia Ju Le Housekeeping 15 October 2012 AR 3,000,00070 RERTE
Senvice Co., Ltd. ¥ W/ HRE RN
20124107158
MM EERAREERERAT PRC/Mainland China RMB37,500,000 90% 90%  Investment management
Hangzhou Pulotos Investment 4 February 2013 AR 37,500,000 RAER
Management Co., Ltd. ¥ HE/FER
2013F2 A4R
BERTEHEREERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 90% 90%  Property management
Cixi Zhong An Real Estate 28 February 2013 ARH100,000,0007 NEER
Development Co., Ltd. mEl/hER
2013F2 A 284
AURLEREZREERAT PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 65.8% 65.8%  Property management
Yuyao Zhong An Time Square 5 August 2013 AE#100,000,0007C NEER
Development Co., Ltd. HE/hE R
20138 A5H
AR RBREREEER AR PRC/Mainland China US$16,000,000 68.0% 68.0%  Property management
Yuyao Zhong An Time Square 13 August 2013 16,000,000 7 NEER
Property Co., Ltd. @ e/ E R
2013813 A
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. 2FIREEEH ()
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) EBRMBARNER (&)
Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) B ARFRT : (&)
Percentage of equity
Place and date Issued ordinary/  attributable to the Group
of incorporation/ registered as at 31 December
registration and capital as at 12A31H
place of business 31 December 2016 ARERGRERS L Principal
Name of company SR/ LK 201612431 H 2016 2015 activities
kS ERhERAS BRTEE/fER 2016 015  IEER
REZNRREXBEHARAR PRC/Mainland China RMB10,204,100 90% 90%  Property management
Tianjing San Jiu Zhong An 5 September 2013 AR¥10,204,1007 NEER
Property Consuiting Co., Ltd. R/ B
2013F9A5H
IR ERERXBRAT PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 65.8% 65.8%  Property management
Zhejiang Zhong An Sheng Long 9 September 2013 AR 50,000,000 NEER
Commercial Co., Ltd. ¥ E/HERH
201394 9H
ELENEEERERAR PRC/Mainland China US$1,000,000 100% 100%  Hotel management
Huaioei Run Zhou Hotel 16 October 2013 1,000,000 BEER
Management Co., Ltd, ©® mE /R,
2013107168
HnEEE (M) BRAR PRC/Mainland China US$14,900,000 73.1% 731%  Investment holding
Qirui Commercial (Hangzhou) 18 October 2013 14,900,000% 7 REER
Management Co., Ltd. (! E /T ER
201310 A 188
BERREEERAA PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 65.8% 65.8%  Property management
Cixi Zhong An Property Co., Ltd. @ 6 December 2013 AR 50,000,000 7T NEER
i/ hER
2013%12A6H
MR EEBER LR PRG/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 90% 90%  Investment management
Hangzhou Juntuo Investment 6 December 2013 AK%1,000,00070 REER
Management Co., Ltd, ¥ e/ Bl
2013%12A68
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. DFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) EBRMBARNER (&)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) WEBAREBNT : (8)

Percentage of equity
Place and date Issued ordinary/  attributable to the Group
of incorporation/ registered as at 31 December
registration and capital as at 12A318
place of business 31 December 2016 ARERERERS L Principal
Name of company SR/ LK 201612731 2016 2015 activities
NRER EBHERAH BRTEE/AER 2016 0155 IEEE
1B BB MERREBRAR PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 65.8% 65.8% Investment holding
Zhejiang Zhong An City 17 December 2013 AK#100,000,0007T IR
Construction investment Co., Ltd. @ HE /HE Rk
201312 4178
RENRLREREREERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 55.9% 55.9%  Property management
Tonglu Xiaoyuanshan Wellness 31 March 2014 AK#100,000,0007 NEER
Investment Development Co., Ltd. 94 & /B &3
2014F3 4318
MNRZEHEREERAR PRG/Mainland China RMB200,000,000 90% 90%  Property development
Hangzhou Zhong An Property 18 April 2014 AR 200,000,000 ESES
Co,, Ltd. ¥ /R
2014%F4 A188
MNRREEEAMEEARAR PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 65.8% 65.8%  Property development
Hangzhou Zhong An Sheng Long 21 April 2014 AR 20,000,000 VEE
Liyumen Property Co., Ltd. @ MEl/hER
2014F 45218
REBXERAT PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 90% 90%  Consultation
Happy Days Co., Ltd. ¢ 25 June 2014 AEH100,000,0007 management
/B HHER
2014F6 5258
BALEEEERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 65.8% 65.8%  Property management
Taoranshan Wellness Co., Ltd. @ 19 August 2014 AR 50,000,0007C WEER
e/ AN
2014F8 198
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. LFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) EBRMBARNER (&)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) WEBARFEBNT : (8)

112 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

Percentage of equity
Place and date Issued ordinary/  attributable to the Group
of incorporation/ registered as at 31 December
registration and capital as at 12A318
place of business 31 December 2016 ARERGRERS L Principal
Name of company SR/ LK 201612731 2016 2015 activities
NRER EBHERAH BREE/fER 2016 015  IEEE
B ONL) BEERERAR PRC/Mainland China US$2,000,000 73.1% 731%  Hotel management
Runzhou (Zhejiang) Hotel 27 November 2014 2,000,000%7T BEEE
Management Limited ! B /BN
201411 A278
S MEER R/ B PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 52.6% 52.6%  Property management
HRYEBRBRAA 11 December 2014 AR 100,000,000 70 NEER
Yuyao Lubu Zhong An Small Towns B/ HENH
Developments Co., Ltd. @ 2014512118
MNERZX KB PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 73.1% 731%  Hotel management
REAERARAH 26 December 2014 AR 10,000,000 BEER
Hangzhou Lin‘an Youyicun Homestay S /s E it
Investment Management Co., Ltd. @4 2014412 A26 A
RERMBRAH PRG/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 65.8% 65.8%  Investment management
Zhong An Tiandi Co., Ltd, ¢ 23 March 2015 AE#100,000,0007 REER
i/ PE
2015F3 238
PEREEXEERERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 65.8% 65.8%  Property management
Zhong An Homestay Development 26 October 2015 AE#100,000,0007 EE
Co., Ltd. ©® /B
201510 A 268
MNAREEEXERAF PRC/Mainland China US$50,000,000 73.1% 731%  Property development
Hangzhou Xixi Huiin Property 18 November 2015 50,000,000 MERE
Co., Ltd. 0 hE/hER
2015611 A18H
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1. DFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

TENEARNEN (&)

MBARELT : (&)

Percentage of equity
Place and date Issued ordinary/  attributable to the Group
of incorporation/ registered as at 31 December
registration and capital as at 12A318
place of business 31 December 2016 ARERERERS L Principal
Name of company SR/ LK 201612731 F 2016 2015 activities
NREH EBHERAH BRTEE/fER 2016 0155 IEEE
REERUEERARAT PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 65.8% 65.8%  Movie and TV culture
Zhongan Movie and TV Culture 15 December 2015 AK100,000,0007C g
Development Co., Ltd. @¢ HE /RN
2015512 F 158
N TERREIERERAR PRC/Mainland China 1US$30,000,000 73.1% 731%  Health development
Hangzhou Qiandao Lake 29 December 2015 30,000,000 A
Zhongchuang Health Co., Ltd. @11 E /R
2015512 298
% (Bl ) R ERAR Hong Kong HK$100,000 73.1% 731%  Investment holding
Huijun (International) Holdings 4 March 2005 100,000 7T REER
Limited it
20053 4R
BB RESHBRAR Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Construction design
Hong Kong Bo Kai Construction 26 February 2008 1B BEL
Design Limited @ &
20082 A 268
EAERMEARAR Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Property development
Hong Kong Huiyuan Real Estate 26 February 2008 1787 VEE
Limited BE
200862 A 268
FREABME(FE)BRAR Hong Kong HK$780,000 72.9% 729%  Shipping
Zhong An International Shipping 11 November 2011 780,000/ 7T fg
(Hong Kong) Limited ¢ BE
2011F11A118
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CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. LFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

TENEARNER (&)

MBARENT : (&)

Percentage of equity

Place and date Issued ordinary/  attributable to the Group

of incorporation/ registered as at 31 December

registration and capital as at 12A318

place of business 31 December 2016 ARBEEREADL Principal
Name of company HRMEYL/ BALK 20165128 31 B 2016 2015 activities
nRER EBHERAH BRTER/ER 2016 0155  IEER
ERMEGR AT Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Hengyuan Properties Limited ! 27 December 2013 1871 REER

&

2013%12R278
EHERERAR Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Zerun Management Limited 31 December 2013 187 RAER

Y

2013%12A 318
BEEERERAR Hong Kong HKS$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Shengze Management Limited (! 29 February 2014 15T RAR

BH

2014528298
HEEBRERAH Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Glorious Days Management Limited @~ 23 June 2014 1787 RAER

B8

2014F6 A 23R
ENERE S (5%)BRAR Hong Kong HK$100,000 73.1% 731%  Investment holding
Grand Sail Intemational Trading 15 September 2014 100,000%7C REER

Limited @ @ &

2014F9 A 158
HRARE S (5% BB AT Hong Kong HK$100,000 73.1% 781%  Investment holding
Chaoyang International Trading 15 September 2014 100,000/ 7 RAER

Limited @ &b
20149 A 158
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B ERR M

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. DFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) EBRMBARNER (&)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) WEBAREBNT : (8)

Percentage of equity
Place and date Issued ordinary/  attributable to the Group
of incorporation/ registered as at 31 December
registration and capital as at 124318
place of business 31 December 2016 AREREREEA L Principal
Name of company HREY/BIR 201612831 H 2016 2015  activities
NRER EBHERAH BRTER/HMEX 20164 0158 IEEE
BRRBHEARAR Hong Kong HK$10,000 73.1% 73.1%  Investment holding
Hong Kong Time Honour Property 15 September 2014 10,00077C RAER
Limited @ &b
2014F9 A 158
EREX (BB ERAR Hong Kong HK$10,000 73.1% 731%  Investment holding
Pannix Industrial (Hong Kong) 15 September 2014 10,0007 REER
Limited @@ it
2014F9 A 158
BN (B8) BEERERAR Hong Kong HK$10,000 73.1% 781%  Investment holding
Runzhou (Hong Kong) Hotel 15 September 2014 10,0007 REER
Management Limited 9 &
2014%F9 158
|deal World Investments Limited “ British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
6 November 2003 1% RERK
SEERARNE
200311 A6H
China Bright Management Limited “ British Virgin Islands USS$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
13 November 2007 1%7L RAER
ERERRHE
200711 R 138
Esteem High Enterprises Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
13 November 2007 1% RAER
ERERRHE
2007411 A 138

REFEERRAT

—z—xasR 115



Notes to Financial Statements

PR ER R M

116 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. LFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

TENEARNER (&)

MBARENT : (&)

Percentage of equity
Place and date Issued ordinary/  attributable to the Group
of incorporation/ registered as at 31 December
registration and capital as at 12A31H
place of business 31 December 2016 AREREREES L Principal
Name of company HREY/BIK 201612831 H 2016 2015  activities
NRER $BHERAH BRTER/HMEX 20164 0158 IEEE
Everplus Management Limited British Virgin Islands USS$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
13 November 2007 1%51 RAER
EERARES
200711138
Gain Large Enterprises Limited ¢! British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
13 November 2007 1% REER
EREARES
200711 4138
Plenty Management Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
13 November 2007 1% REER
EREARES
200711 A 138
FREX(PE)ERAR British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100%  Property management
Zhong An Property 20 June 2013 1% NEER
(Ching) Ltd. @) SBARRES
201366 A208
REREBRAR British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Greenfield Investment Limited ©1 19 May 2014 e RAER
EERARES
2014F5 5197
HELEEERAA British Virgin Islands US$1 73.1% 731%  Investment holding
State Smart Developments Limited © 8 July 2014 157 RARR
EREARES
2014E7H8H
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B ERR M

1. DFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

TENEARNEN (&)

MBARELT : (&)

Percentage of equity
Place and date Issued ordinary/  attributable to the Group
of incorporation/ registered as at 31 December
registration and capital as at 12A31H
place of business 31 December 2016 ARERERERA L Principal
Name of company ML/ BIR 201612731 F 2016 2015 activities
REER EHERAMS BRAEE /e 2016F 015  IBEE
BARRERAH British Virgin Islands USS$1 73.1% 731%  Investment holding
Hui Sheng Global Limited ©¢ 11 July 2014 1% B
ABRRARES
2014%7R118
RERITBRAR British Virgin Islands US$1 73.1% 731%  Investment holding
Time Honour Global Limited @ 11 July 2014 1% REER
ERERRHE
20147 A118
REERARAH British Virgin Islands US$1 73.1% 781%  Investment holding
Shengda Developments Limited ©¢ 31 July 2014 1%70 REER
EEEBRES
2014F7H31R
BERRERAT] British Virgin Islands USS$1 73.1% 73.1%  Investment holding
First Achiever Holdings Limited © 13 August 2014 1% RERER
SEERARNE
20148 F13A
Zhong An Real Estate Australia AUS$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
(Australia) Pty Ltd, © 31 October 2014 1B REER
|
20145107318
Zhong An Real Estate (Canada) Ltd. Canada CA$120 100% 100%  Property development
8 November 2013 120M7T EES
mex
201311 A8A
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. RFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) EBEMBARNER (&)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) WEBARFEBNT : (8)

Percentage of equity
Place and date Issued ordinary/  attributable to the Group
of incorporation/ registered as at 31 December
registration and capital as at 124318
place of business 31 December 2016 AREREREES L Principal
Name of company FMERL/ BIR 201612731 F 2016 2015 activities
NRER EHERAHS BRTER/HMEL 2016 0155 BB
Zhong An Real Estate Development Canada CA$100 100% 100%  Property management
(Canada) Ltd. 1 15 January 2014 1007 MEER
mex
2014%1R158
MR ERRER AR Cayman Islands HK$173,800,000 73.1% 731%  Investment holding
China New City Commercial 2 July 2013 173,800,000/ RAER
Development Limited ! REHS
20137 A2A
MNEREZERAR Hangzhou RMB100,000,000 90% 90%  Property development
Hangzhou Run'an Property Co., Ltd. © 27 July 2015 AR%100,000,0007 RS
M
20157 A278
RREERERER Japan JPY5,010,000 73.1% 73.1%  Tourism management
Zhongjiale Tourism Co., Ltd. ¢ 21 December 2015 5,010,000H7C REER
B
201512 218
I EREEEEBERAT PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 65.8% N/A  Hotel management
Zhejiang Bairuite Hotel 19 May 2016 AK%10,000,0007C TER  BEER
Management Co. Ltdl. @60 e /R E R
20165519 A
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CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. RFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) EBENBARNESR (&)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) B ARFRWT : (&)

Percentage of equity

Place and date Issued ordinary/  attributable to the Group

of incorporation/ registered as at 31 December

registration and capital as at 12A31H

place of business 31 December 2016 ARERERERA L Principal
Name of company ML/ BIR 201612731 F 2016 2015 activities
REER EHERAMS BRAEE /e 2016 015  IBEE
|EEREHR AT Hong Kong HK$1 73.1% N/A  Investment holding
Easy Rich Corporation Limited 1 April 2016 17T TER  RBER

&k

201654818
KCJBIR A &4t Japan JPY10,000,000 73.1% N/A  Property development
KCJ International Co., Ltd. 9 May 2016 10,000,000 A7 NER  EAE

BA

20165 A 90
RRRFEFARAA PRC/Meainland China RMB100,000,000 65.8% NA  Health development
Zhejiang Zhong An Health Co., Ltd, 3 May 2016 AE#100,000,0007C NER  BRER

thE /P E

201654 3H
HEREKERAH British Virgin Islands US$1 73.1% N/A  Investment holding
Capital Yield Global Limited @ 1 April 2016 1% NER  REER

EREBRES
SBREBRARA British Virgin Islands USS$1 73.1% N/A  Investment holding
Easy Success Investments Limited © 11 April 2016 ES0 TER  RERK

LBRARES

2016%F4 4118
LEERERAR Hong Kong HKS$1 73.1% N/A  Investment holding
Ultra Nice International Limited @@ 7 October 2016 18T R RERK

B

2016%F10A 7R
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Notes to Financial Statements

BARSER R M

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. AFRSKEEH (&)

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) EERBEATNESR (8)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) MBARFEIT : (&)

120 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

Percentage of equity
Place and date Issued ordinary/  attributable to the Group
of incorporation/ registered as at 31 December
registration and capital as at 124318
place of business 31 December 2016 AREREREE L Principal
Name of company FMARL/ BIR 201612731 F 2016 2015 activities
REER EHnERAHS BRAEE/ifEs 2016 015  IBER
HMRRIK R ER AT PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 731% NA  Movieand TV
Hangzhou Zhong An Landscape 5 May 2016 AE®1,000,0007T NEBR  EYNER
Cinema Co., Ltd @ HE /R E R
201655 A5H
MNREEEERER AR PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 73.1% N/A  Investment holding
Hangzhou Zhongjia Commercial 18 November 2016 AE#50,000,0007T NEBR  REER
Management Co., Ltd @ HE /AR
201611 A 188
L EEREREECEEARAR PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 73.1% N/A  Investment holding
Zhejiang Shenglong Equity Investment 23 May 2016 AR 50,000,0007 TR REER
And Fund Management 9 8/ hE R
2016%5A 23R
Verdania Properties Limited Canada = 100% N/A" Property development
Partnership 1) 29 July 2016 NER  WER%
JIIEIN
2016%7R298
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1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

Notes:

N/A

©

Not yet incorporated/established/acquired or liquidated by the Group

These subsidiaries were established by the Group in 2016.

Types of legal entities:

(1) Wholly-foreign-owned enterprise
2 Sino-foreign equity joint venture
3) Limited liability company invested by foreign-invested enterprises

(4) Limited liability company

The capital of these subsidiaries has not been injected in 2016.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1

Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”),
which comprise standards and interpretations approved by
the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”),
and International Accounting Standards and Standing
Interpretations Committee interpretations approved by the
International Accounting Standards Committee that remain
in effect and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for investment properties
and derivative financial instruments which have been
measured at fair value as explained in the accounting policies
set out below. These financial statements are presented in
RMB and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.
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Notes to Financial Statements

BARSER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBEREEBRK ()

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 21 REEE (&)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 December 2016. A subsidiary is an entity (including
a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing

whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

122 Zhong An Real Estate Limited 2016 Annual Report
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBERFEBRK ()

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 21 REEE (&)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-
group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control described above.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a
loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (jii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i)
the fair value of any investment retained and (jii) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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Notes to Financial Statements

BARSER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. WBBEREHHE )
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies and 22 SHHRBERESE
disclosures
The Group has adopted the following new and revised IFRSs REBE B RAFEEP K B IRERA
for the first time for the current year’s financial statements. T B ETET R & A& =T B R Bt 75 3 &5 2
Al o
Amendments to IFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests B B s e 8| WBE R A e
in Joint Operations F11H2ETA B BIE
Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure Intiative ReERE1Re  RKEAE
BaTA
Amendments to IAS 16 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of BReEAE 16k EFURIHTE
and IAS 38 Depreciation and Amortisation BRestERE38%  RéEr A
ZIBETA
Amendments to IFRSs Annual Improvements to IFRSs Bl BTk %A 2 IR R 2ER
2012-2014 Cycle EHES 2012FF 20144
B EENE
Amendments to IFRS 10, Investment Entities: Applying the BB B S e A REER : Bk
IFRS 12 and IAS 28 Consolidation Exception F10%  ERUKRE AAKZAY)
ZEBI|ZE 12 5% SR B EX
SEERIE 2852
EHES
The adoption of the above new and revised Standards FRAN 3R] M AR S 5T 2 Bl 3 K B 7%
has had no significant financial effect on these financial MR EE M EAMEE -
statements.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective

International Financial Reporting

Standards

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
IFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these

financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 2

Amendments to IFRS 4

IFRS9

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

Amendments to IFRS 15
IFRS 16

IFRIC 22

Amendments to IAS 7
Amendments to IAS 12
Amendments to IAS 40

Amendments to IFRSs

Amendments to IFRS
12 included in Annual
Improvements 2014-
2016 Cycle

Amendments to IFRS
1 included in Annual
Improvements 2014-
2016 Cycle

Amendments to IAS 28
included in Annual
Improvements 2014-
2016 Cycle

Classification and Measurement of Share-based
Payment Transactions?

Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4
Insurance Contracts?

Financial Instruments?

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture*

Revenue from Contracts with Customers?

Leases®

Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance
Consideration?

Disclosure Initiative’

Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised
Losses’

Transfers of Investment Property?

Annual Improvements to IFRSs Standards
2014-2016 Cycle’®

Disclosure of interests in Other Entities’

First-time Adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards?

Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

9 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption.

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 or

1 January 2018, as appropriate.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B SRR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective

(a)

126 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

International Financial Reporting
Standards (continued)

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is as follows:

In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9,
bringing together all phases of the financial instruments
project to replace IAS 39 and all previous versions of IFRS 9.
The standard introduces new requirements for classification
and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting. The
Group expects to adopt IFRS 9 from 1 January 2018. During
2016, the Group performed a high-level assessment of the
impact of the adoption of IFRS 9. This preliminary assessment
is based on currently available information and may be subject
to changes arising from further detailed analyses or additional
reasonable and supportable information being made available
to the Group in the future. The expected impacts arising from
the adoption of IFRS 9 are summarised as follows:

Classification and measurement

The Group does not expect that the adoption of IFRS
9 will have a significant impact on the classification and
measurement of its financial assets. It expects to continue
measuring at fair value all financial assets currently held at fair
value. Equity investments currently held as available for sale
will be measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income as the investments are intended to be held for the
foreseeable future and the Group expects to apply the option
to present fair value changes in other comprehensive income.
Gains and losses recorded in other comprehensive income
for the equity investments cannot be recycled to profit or loss
when the investments are derecognised.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective

(b)

International Financial Reporting
Standards (continued)

Impairment

IFRS 9 requires an impairment on debt instruments recorded
at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive
income, lease receivables, loan commitments and financial
guarantee contracts that are not accounted for at fair value
through profit or loss under IFRS 9, to be recorded based
on an expected credit loss model either on a twelve-month
basis or a lifetime basis. The Group expects to apply the
simplified approach and record lifetime expected losses
that are estimated based on the present value of all cash
shortfalls over the remaining life of all of its trade and other
receivables. The Group will perform a more detailed analysis
which considers all reasonable and supportable information,
including forward-looking elements, for estimation of expected
credit losses on its trade and other receivables upon the
adoption of IFRS 9.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS 28 in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full
recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture
constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets
that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting
from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in
that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be
applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date
of amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 was removed by the
IASB in January 2016 and a new mandatory effective date
will be determined after the completion of a broader review
of accounting for associates and joint ventures. However, the
amendments are available for application now.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B SRR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective

(b)

128 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

International Financial Reporting
Standards (continued)

Impairment (continued)

IFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model to account for
revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under IFRS
15, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer.
The principles in IFRS 15 provide a more structured approach
for measuring and recognising revenue. The standard also
introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative disclosure
requirements, including disaggregation of total revenue,
information about performance obligations, changes in
contract asset and liability account balances between
periods and key judgements and estimates. The standard
will supersede all current revenue recognition requirements
under IFRSs. In April 2016, the IASB issued amendments to
IFRS 15 to address the implementation issues on identifying
performance obligations, application guidance on principal
versus agent and licences of intellectual property, and
transition. The amendments are also intended to help ensure
a more consistent application when entities adopt IFRS
15 and decrease the cost and complexity of applying the
standard. The Group expects to adopt IFRS 15 on 1 January
2018. During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group
performed a preliminary assessment on the impact of the
adoption of IFRS 15.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
the potential impact of the application of IFRS 15 and it
is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the
effect of IFRS 15 until a detailed review is performed by the
Group. The impact on the Group is expected to include more
comprehensive disclosure as requested by the new standard.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective

(b)

International Financial Reporting
Standards (continued)

Impairment (continued)

Amendments to IAS 7 require an entity to provide disclosures
that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes
in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both
changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes. The
amendments will result in additional disclosure to be provided
in the financial statements. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments from 1 January 2017.

Amendments to IAS 12 were issued with the purpose
of addressing the recognition of deferred tax assets for
unrealised losses related to debt instruments measured at
fair value, although they also have a broader application for
other situations. The amendments clarify that an entity, when
assessing whether taxable profits will be available against
which it can utilise a deductible temporary difference, needs
to consider whether tax law restricts the sources of taxable
profits against which it may make deductions on the reversal
of that deductible temporary difference. Furthermore, the
amendments provide guidance on how an entity should
determine future taxable profits and explain the circumstances
in which taxable profit may include the recovery of some
assets for more than their carrying amount. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments from 1 January 2017.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B SRR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective

(b)

130 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

International Financial Reporting
Standards (continued)

Impairment (continued)

IFRS 16 replaces IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC 15 Operating
Leases — Incentives and SIC 27 Evaluating the Substance
of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease.
The standard sets out the principles for the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and
requires lessees to recognise assets and liabilities for most
leases. The standard includes two recognition exemptions for
lessees — leases of low-value assets and short-term leases.
At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise
a liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease liability) and
an asset representing the right to use the underlying asset
during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use asset). The right-of-
use asset is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses unless the right-of-
use asset meets the definition of investment property in IAS
40. The lease liability is subsequently increased to reflect
the interest on the lease liability and reduced for the lease
payments. Lessees will be required to separately recognise
the interest expense on the lease liability and the depreciation
expense on the right-of-use asset. Lessees will also be
required to remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence
of certain events, such as change in the lease term and
change in future lease payments resulting from a change in
an index or rate used to determine those payments. Lessees
will generally recognise the amount of the remeasurement of
the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset.
Lessor accounting under IFRS 16 is substantially unchanged
from the accounting under IAS 17. Lessors will continue to
classify all leases using the same classification principle as in
IAS 17 and distinguish between operating leases and finance
leases. The Group expects to adopt IFRS 16 on 1 January
2019 and is currently assessing the impact of IFRS 16 upon
adoption.
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Notes to Financial Statements

BA SRR YR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBERFEBRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTHERHBE

policies

Investments in joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights
to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method
of accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments are
made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that
may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of joint ventures is included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated
other comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when
there has been a change recognised directly in the equity
of the joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any
changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its joint ventures are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in the joint
ventures, except where unrealised losses provide evidence
of an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising
from the acquisition of joint ventures is included as part of the
Group’s investments in joint ventures.
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Notes to Financial Statements

BARSER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBEREEBRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Investments in joint ventures (continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint
control over the joint venture, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control
and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds
from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in joint venture is classified as held for
sale, it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum
of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each
business combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or
at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed
as incurred.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBERFEBRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTEREE (&)

policies (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss
as a gain on bargain purchase.
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Notes to Financial Statements

BARSER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBEREEBRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured
based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and
the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2. REBERFEBRK ()

(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTEREE (&)
policies (continued)
Fair value measurement AREEFE

The Group measures its investment properties, equity
investments for trading and derivative financial instruments at
fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer
a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset
or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market
for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market,
in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability
is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBERTEBRK (&)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

RfEE

E‘t
(2l

(&)

>

Fair value measurement (continued)

ARG EXBEREAABENMAEE
MEBERAABEREADE M
Bt - HERH LA EEFEREM
FHEEANKESRBAMETE

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a

whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active F—  EREREENE BEREE
markets for identical assets or liabilities MZHME CREHAR)

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the FH  ANRESERH AT EEK
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value MEEREH AR EEN=Z
measurement is observable, either directly or BERTENHERE
indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the F=H AR RESHRBATTHE
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value BHEEFEAEATEDN
measurement is unobservable HERE

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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Notes to Financial Statements

BA SRR EE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBERFEBRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

2.4 FESTHERUE (&)

policies (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets, completed
properties held for sale, properties under development,
investment properties, goodwill and non-current assets/
a disposal group classified as held for sale), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s
value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged
to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises,
unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case
the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the
relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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Notes to Financial Statements

BARSER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBEREEBRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is any indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher
than the carrying amount that would have been determined
(net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal
of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of
profit or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the asset
is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of
the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the
relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(i) is a member of the key management personnel of

the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b)

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

)

(i

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viil

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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2. REBERFEBRK ()

2.4 FESTHERUE (&)
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Notes to Financial Statements

B SRR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBEREEBRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Property and equipment and depreciation

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item
of property and equipment comprises its purchase price
and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use. Cost may
also include transfers from equity of any gains or losses on
qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of
property and equipment.

Expenditure incurred after items of property and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset
as a replacement. Where significant parts of property and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful
lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Valuations are performed frequently enough to ensure that
the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ materially
from its carrying amount. Changes in the values of property,
plant and equipment are dealt with as movements in the asset
revaluation reserve. If the total of this reserve is insufficient
to cover a deficit, on an individual asset basis, the excess of
the deficit is charged to the statement of profit or loss. Any
subsequent revaluation surplus is credited to the statement of
profit or loss to the extent of the deficit previously charged. An
annual transfer from the asset revaluation reserve to retained
profits is made for the difference between the depreciation
based on the revalued carrying amount of an asset and the
depreciation based on the asset’s original cost. On disposal of
a revalued asset, the relevant portion of the asset revaluation
reserve realised in respect of previous valuations is transferred
to retained profits as a movement in reserves.
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Notes to Financial Statements

BA SRR YR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

2. REBERFEBRK ()

2.4 FESTHERUE ()

policies (continued)

Property and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The estimated residual
values and useful lives for this purpose are as follows:

Useful lives Residual values

Properties 20 years 5% to 10%

Machinery 10 years 5%

Office equipment 5 years 5%

Motor vehicles 5 years 5%

Leasehold Shorter of -
improvements the lease

terms and 5 years

Where parts of an item of property and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately.

Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial
year end.

An item of property and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected from its
use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year the
asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents a building under
construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct
costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs on
related borrowed funds during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed
and ready for use.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B SRR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBEREEBRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold interest under an operating lease for
a property which would otherwise meet the definition of an
investment property) held to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation, rather than for use in the production or
supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes;
or for sale in the ordinary course of business. Investment
properties comprise completed investment properties and
investment properties under construction. Such properties
are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the end
of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the statement of profit or
loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement for profit
or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties or investment properties for disposal, the deemed
cost of a property for subsequent accounting is its fair value at
the date of change in use. If a property occupied by the Group
as an owner-occupied property becomes an investment
property, the Group accounts for such property in accordance
with the policy stated under “Property and equipment and
depreciation” up to the date of change in use, and any
difference at that date between the carrying amount and the
fair value of the property is accounted for as a revaluation
in accordance with the policy stated under “Property and
equipment and depreciation” above. For a transfer from
properties under development or completed properties held
for sale to investment properties, any difference between the
fair value of the property at that date and its previous carrying
amount is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBERFEBRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

2.4 FESTHERUE (&)

policies (continued)

Investment properties (continued)

The Group determines whether completed properties held for
sale and properties under development would be transferred
to investment properties when, only when, there is a change
in use, evidenced by the following criteria: (a) the Group has
prepared a business plan that reflects the future rental income
generated by the property and this is supported with evidence
that there is demand for rental space; (b) the Group can
demonstrate that it has the resources, including the necessary
financing or capital, to hold and manage an investment
property; (c) the change in use is legally permissible; (d) if the
property must be further developed for the change in use,
the development has commenced and (e) change in use is
approved by the board.

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value and comprise land costs, construction
costs, borrowing costs, professional fees and other costs
directly attributable to such properties incurred during the
development period.

Properties under development which are intended to be held
for sale and expected to be completed within 12 months from
the end of the reporting period are classified as current assets.
Properties under development which are intended to be held
for sale and expected to be completed beyond 12 months
from the end of the reporting period are classified as non-
current assets.

REM= (F])

AEBEEHFHECERDE N
BOYERTEBREREME 8
BERGLREE BRI T REMA
R : () NEBE KT RIYZER
BHESWANEBTE - XEHES
KBBIEXHF + (0)AAFIEEARA
BER(BELKEBREXREN)FELE
BIREYE  CVERAFTEEMRSE
(d) 7R — S ERMEALEMER
7 RIERRIERER - Re)EEE
HOAEEESE Fsk o

FEEEE/ES

FA 3 R Y IR AN I A B IR E AR
EESR  ARRERREBRELN
FZEMEEREEON TR - R
A BERA - ERERREMK
7 o

ST EIRFE 35 & 3 T8 B fh e 5 B REE T
SR 1218 A RZRHRAET RIS
MBEE  sTEIFHFHELBHAR
EHRAEET R TE 1218 B AR SEAKH B
BRMRIIBIERBEE -

ZrEESRAF —T— 4% 143



Notes to Financial Statements

BARSER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBEREEBRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined by
an apportionment of the total costs of land and buildings
attributable to the unsold properties. Net realisable value
takes into account the selling price, less estimated costs to be
incurred in selling the properties based on prevailing market
conditions.

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for
as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets
leased by the Group under operating leases are included in
non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating
leases are credited to the statement of profit or loss on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group
is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases net of
any incentives received from the lessor are charged to the
statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are
initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably
between the land and buildings elements, the entire lease
payments are included in the cost of the land and buildings as
a finance lease in property and equipment.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBERFEBRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTEREE (&)

policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
receivables, and available-for-sale financial investments, or as
derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective
hedge, as appropriate. When financial assets are recognised
initially, they are measured at fair value plus transaction costs
that are attributed to the acquisition of the financial assets,
except in the case of financial assets recorded at fair value
through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:
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Notes to Financial Statements

B SRR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBEREEBRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading and financial assets
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as held for trading
if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term.
Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are
also classified as held for trading unless they are designated
as effective hedging instruments as defined by IAS 39.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the statement of financial position at fair value with positive
net changes in fair value presented as other income and gains
and negative net changes in fair value presented as finance
costs in the statement of profit or loss. These net fair value
changes do not include any dividends or interest earned on
these financial assets, which are recognised in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial
recognition and only if the criteria in IAS 39 are satisfied.

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for
as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to
those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not held
for trading or designated as at fair value through profit or loss.
These embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or
loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in
the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash
flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification
of a financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss
category.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBERFEBRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTEREE (&)

policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. After initial measurement, such assets are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method less any allowance for impairment.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in other
income and gains in the statement of profit or loss. The loss
arising from impairment is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss in finance costs for loans and in other expenses for
receivables.

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative
financial assets in listed and unlisted equity investments and
debt securities. Equity investments classified as available for
sale are those which are neither classified as held for trading
nor designated as at fair value through profit or loss. Debt
securities in this category are those which are intended to be
held for an indefinite period of time and which may be sold in
response to needs for liquidity or in response to changes in
market conditions.
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Notes to Financial Statements

BARSER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBEREEBRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments
are subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised
gains or losses recognised as other comprehensive income
in the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve until
the investment is derecognised, at which time the cumulative
gain or loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss
in other income, or until the investment is determined to be
impaired, when the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from
the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve to the
statement of profit or loss in other gains or losses. Interest and
dividends earned whilst holding the available-for-sale financial
investments are reported as interest income and dividend
income, respectively, and are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss as other income in accordance with the policies
set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot
be reliably measured because (a) the variability in the range
of reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that
investment or (b) the probabilities of the various estimates
within the range cannot be reasonably assessed and used in
estimating fair value, such investments are stated at cost less
any impairment losses.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBERFEBRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTEREE (&)

policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to
sell its available-for-sale financial assets in the near term are
still appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is
unable to trade these financial assets due to inactive markets,
the Group may elect to reclassify these financial assets if
management has the ability and intention to hold the assets
for the foreseeable future or until maturity.

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-
sale category, the fair value carrying amount at the date of
reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and any
previous gain or loss on that asset that has been recognised
in equity is amortised to profit or loss over the remaining life of
the investment using the effective interest rate. Any difference
between the new amortised cost and the maturity amount is
also amortised over the remaining life of the asset using the
effective interest rate. If the asset is subsequently determined
to be impaired, then the amount recorded in equity is
reclassified to the statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B SRR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBEREEBRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset, or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material delay
to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement;
and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the assets.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained
the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the
extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the
Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to
repay.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBERFEBRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTEREE (&)

policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists
if one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition
of the asset have an impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can
be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include
indications that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments, the probability that they will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and observable
data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses whether impairment exists individually for financial
assets that are individually significant, or collectively for
financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group
determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists
for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant
or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with
similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses
them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for
impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues
to be, recognised are not included in a collective assessment
of impairment.
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Notes to Financial Statements

BARSER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBEREEBRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not been incurred). The present
value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly or
through the use of an allowance account and the amount of
the loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Interest
income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying
amount and is accrued using the rate of interest used to
discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring
the impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with any
associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic
prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realised
or has been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by
adjusting the allowance account. If a future write-off is later
recovered, the recovery is credited to the statement of profit or
loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBERFEBRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTEREE (&)

policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried
at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured,
or on a derivative asset that is linked to and must be settled
by delivery of such an unquoted equity instrument, the amount
of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return
for a similar financial asset, and recognised in the statement
of profit or loss. Impairment losses on these assets are not
reversed.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables and interest-bearing loans and borrowings.

TREENRE (H)
B A (EA SRR B E

WA BB EERRIE QA EEARER
SAEMAARARBEARNIELD
ST AREAHAITETAEEE
EREBERBARNZIRI ETE
mTAMGE  ABESRIRZEE
HERE{EE AR RS RS ERE AT
BREFENET ARSI RERE
MERFE - IRBERER - ZF
BEMNRERENTER -

TEEE
VG ET E

STRBERVFEREEDIBL/UR
RBEFEASBHHABEZERE
B EREER  IWEER—RE
BEMRETAEZ(T4EM @ BERM
e

iR R A B - RAAEER
B MREREFRRMER - AANKRE
ERBZRZEM -

AEENSREBEREENEN  H
R FRIA Rt RE KRBT

REEEARAR —ZE—RNFFR

153



Notes to Financial Statements

BARSER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBEREEBRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are
acquired for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This
category includes derivative financial instruments entered into
by the Group that are not designated as hedging instruments
in hedge relationships as defined by IAS 39. Separated
embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading
unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments.
Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in
the statement of profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss
recognised in the statement of profit or loss does not include
any interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial
recognition and only if the criteria of IAS 39 are satisfied.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBERFEBRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTEREE (&)

policies (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

RS E (F)

EREN

FEORMERR - fT B ERRERER
RAERMNZXIRERKAGTE B
FIRTETLEXR BEEBEAT E
PIHRARAGTE - R ILFERABEUR
BREBERNETETHARIEFE - W
RIBENBERR PR o

B ARIRE BT R R B
BARERERNE -0 2 BAX
A EMRS - BRENEZHEES
REBERRNFBEERS -

ERBEZALER

IMREBERBCET - BEHRER -
SR A EREER -

MRRESBEBERFR-—ERHTAE
HLEF2RTRERE —2RE
AR RERAABERRET 2
WREE M SN - R RE RIS
REITERR BN RER —IEHE
BRE  BRARASEZFANER
RIBERRHER

REEEARAR —ZE—RNFFR

155



Notes to Financial Statements

BARSER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBEREEBRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and on disposal.

Cost of inventories includes the transfer from equity of gains
and losses on qualifying cash flow hedges in respect of the
purchases of raw materials.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when acquired,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.
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Notes to Financial Statements

BA SRR YR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2. REBERFEBRK ()

(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERHE (&)
policies (continued)
Provisions BiE

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage of
time is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or
loss.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is
initially measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured
at the higher of (i) the amount that would be recognised in
accordance with the general guidance for provisions above;
and (i) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the
guidance for revenue recognition.

Employee retirement benefits

Pursuant to the relevant regulations of the PRC government,
the companies comprising the Group operating in Mainland
China (the “PRC group companies”) have participated in a
local municipal government retirement benefit scheme (the
“Scheme”), whereby the PRC group companies are required
to contribute a certain percentage of the salaries of their
employees to the Scheme to fund their retirement benefits.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to the Scheme
is to pay the ongoing contributions under the Scheme.
Contributions under the Scheme are charged to the statement
of profit or loss as incurred.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B SRR AE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBERTEBRK (&)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax and land
appreciation tax. Income tax relating to items recognised
outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from goodwill or the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of
the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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Notes to Financial Statements

BA SRR EE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBERFEBRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

2.4 FESTHERUE (&)

policies (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, joint
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences
will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit
will be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be recovered.
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Notes to Financial Statements

BARSER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBEREEBRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to
the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is released to the statement of
profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset
by equal annual instalments or deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and released to the statement of profit or
loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Where the Group receives grants of non-monetary assets,
grants are recorded at the fair value of the non-monetary
assets and released to the statement of profit or loss over the
expected useful lives of the relevant assets by equal annual
instalments.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. WUBERSHBEE)
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTEREE (&)
policies (continued)

Government grants (continued) BURFRRL ()

Where the Group receives government loans granted with no IMAEBRERES BN EEMERT

or at a below-market rate of interest for the construction of a R AMERTTISKFER B R B/

qualifying asset, the initial carrying amount of the government BRER - BlEBBTE RS VAR

loans is determined using the effective interest rate method, EEBUNEERANREETE  MAEBH

as further explained in the accounting policy for “Financial EEREX[ERmEE] IENE:

liabilities” above. The benefit of the government loans granted BUR M — PR o BRTEHE A

with no or at a below-market rate of interest, which is the AR KT B Rt BN BT E

difference between the initial carrying value of the loans and mh - BIZEERVIREREERME

the proceeds received, is treated as a government grant and HIEME 2 AR 0 S8 ERAT AL E

released to the statement of profit or loss over the expected 12 - WK B BEEERTEHAR {5/ F 5

useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments. NIZRZERE D A FFEABREK °

Revenue recognition N

Revenue from the sale of properties in the ordinary course of EHBEKBRERHEEWEMSKRA

business is recognised when all the following criteria are met: RERFETA N FIIEERER

(@  the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the @ HYEEBEEBEMNEARR
properties are transferred to the purchasers; RERETER

()  neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree (o) WERDB—REARGEEEN
usually associated with ownership, nor effective control HETIER ARSI EN AN
over the properties is retained: PRI

(©)  the amount of revenue can be measured reliably; © WASFEREAEH

(d) it is probable that the economic benefits associated d AEERAIGEHREGERSHEH
with the transaction will flow to the Group; and REER S - &

(e)  the cost incurred or to be incurred in respect of the e RIEELEXGTFEEMKAE
transaction can be measured reliably. RER]SERT=E ©
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Notes to Financial Statements

B SRR AE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBERTEBRK (&)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

The above criteria are met when construction of the
relevant properties has been completed and the Group has
obtained the project completion report issued by the relevant
government authorities, the properties have been delivered
to the purchasers, and the collectability of related receivables
is reasonably assured. Payments received on properties sold
prior to the date of revenue recognition are included in the
consolidated statement of financial position under current
liabilities.

Property leasing income derived from the leasing of the
Group’s properties is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms.

Property management fee income derived from the provision
of property maintenance and management services is
recognised upon the rendering of the relevant services.

Hotel operating income which includes room rental, food
and beverage sales and income from the provision of other
ancillary services is recognised when the services are
rendered.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established.
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Notes to Financial Statements

BA SRR EE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2. REBERFEBRK ()

(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERHE (&)
policies (continued)
Share-based payments DRt BEENE A
The Company operates a share option scheme for the RAvRE —HERESE - BEY

purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Employees (including directors) of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services as consideration for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for
grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the
fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair value
is determined by an external valuer using a binomial model,
further details of which are given in note 30 to the financial
statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent
to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit
or loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that
period.
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Notes to Financial Statements

BARSER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBEREEBRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair
value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-
vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of
an award unless there are also service and/or performance
conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or
is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the
date of modification.

164 Zhong An Real Estate Limited 2016 Annual Report

LARR 67 B ERE R 2 AT (4

NEETE SREH IR BB A A BER
TEERRG RIFETHREGE
MR SHER R RO AT BEIE (R AT
1ERAS B A B RIS R M AR
TAHBMKEGFT 28D - W5
RAKGHEREHBEHMLOAEBER
B - A2 BT s B0 (E f) H A A6 (1B
W EEBE RIS ARE ) RS IR 5
- ERBREEREBNAAEE
MR BRI 5| B ANES 5 2R S 88 - 1ETT
B RS B/ RIS RIBR D o

BN EARER TSR KR, HARFS
TR 1 T S 4R oK 55 JB ) B AR R 42 R -
TEERIMFAL - WRERETS
HIEREGE REMEEMKRE
K/ SRS 1 B ACERK » B R
SHERBGEREER  RP5HE
WIRREE -

i 75 DA P M ST O B BB AR MO AR R T

BE - FTRER R e DA B AN
{0 488 A T 52 5 AR o N - s
HREE AHHE  EAEEGEIA
By REROINRXZNERAEBE
BFTIEIN - S E B SR E A A 25 -
AIfERZEEEERF -



Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBERFEBRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTEREE (&)

policies (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled
award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date
that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as
if they were a modification of the original award, as described
in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, that is, assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in
connection with the borrowing of funds.

Where funds have been borrowed generally and used for the
purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, a capitalisation rate of
6.76% (2015: 7.00%) has been applied to the expenditure on
the individual assets.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B SRR AE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBERTEBRK (&)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately
as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

The Company and certain subsidiaries incorporated outside
Mainland China use Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), Canadian
dollars (“CA$”), Australian dollars (“AU$”), Japanese Yen
(“JPY”), and United States dollars (‘US$”) as their functional
currencies, respectively. The functional currency of Mainland
China subsidiaries is the RMB. As the Group mainly operates
in Mainland China, the RMB is used as the presentation
currency of the Group. Each entity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded
by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements

BA SRR EE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBERFEBRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERHE (&)
policies (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued) s (1)

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss with
the exception of monetary items that are designated as
part of the hedge of the Group’s net investment of a foreign
operation. These are recognised in other comprehensive
income until the net investment is disposed of, at which time
the cumulative amount is reclassified to the statement of profit
or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange
differences on those monetary items are also recorded in
other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-
monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when
the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value
is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on
change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on
the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of non-PRC established subsidiaries
are currencies other than the RMB. As at the end of the
reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities
are translated into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at
the end of the reporting period and their statements of profit
or loss are translated into RMB at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year.
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Notes to Financial Statements

BARSER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2. REBEREEBRK ()

168 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERHE (&)
policies (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued) s (1)

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at
the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of non-PRC established subsidiaries are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the dates
of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of non-PRC
established companies which arise throughout the year are
translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates
for the year.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

(i) Operating lease commitments - the Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on
its investment property portfolio. The Group has determined,
based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the
arrangements, that it retains all the significant risks and
rewards of ownership of these properties which are leased out
on operating leases.
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BARSER R M

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Judgements (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

170 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

Classification between investment properties,
completed properties held for sale and owner-occupied
properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the
Group considers whether a property generates cash flows
largely independently of the other assets held by the Group.

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals
or for capital appreciation and another portion that is held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold
separately, the Group accounts for the portions separately. If
the portions could not be sold separately, the property is an
investment property only if an insignificant portion is held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an individual
property basis to determine whether ancillary services are so
significant that a property does not qualify as an investment

property.

Classification of current and non-current properties
under development

The Group classifies properties under development
according to the construction progress and the estimated
commencement date of presale. Properties under
development are classified as current assets when the
estimated time to completed construction is less than twelve
months from the end of the reporting period.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources

of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have

a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying

amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are

described below:

0}

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties were revalued based on the appraised

market value by independent professional valuers. Such

valuations were based on certain assumptions, which are

subject to uncertainty and might materially differ from the

actual results. In making the estimate, the Group considers

information from current prices in an active market for similar

properties and uses assumptions that are mainly based on

market conditions existing at the end of the reporting period.

In the absence of current prices in an active market for similar

properties, the Group considers information from a variety of

sources, including:

@)

current prices in an active market for properties of a
different nature, condition or location or subject to
different leases or other contracts, adjusted to reflect
those differences;

recent prices of similar properties on less active
markets, with adjustments to reflect any changes in
economic conditions since the dates of the transactions
that occurred at those prices; and

discounted cash flow projections based on reliable
estimates of future cash flows, supported by the terms
of any existing lease and other contracts and (when
possible) by external evidence such as current market
rents for similar properties in the same location and
condition, and using discount rates that reflect current
market assessments of the uncertainty in the amount
and timing of the cash flows.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

0

(ii)

172 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

Fair value of investment properties (continued)

The principal assumptions for the Group’s estimation of
the fair value include those related to current market rents
for similar properties in the same location and condition,
appropriate discount rates, expected future market rents and
future maintenance costs. The carrying amount of investment
properties at 31 December 2016 was RMB5,387,250,000
(2015: RMB5,273,900,000). Further details, including the key
assumptions used for fair value measurement and a sensitivity
analysis, are given in note 13 to the financial statements.

Net realisable value of properties under development
and completed properties held for sale

The Group’s properties under development and completed
properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Based on the Group’s historical experience
and the nature of the subject properties, the Group makes
estimates of the selling prices, the costs of completion of
properties under development, and the costs to be incurred in
selling the properties based on prevailing market conditions.

If there is an increase in costs to completion or a decrease in
net sales value, the net realisable value will decrease and this
may result in a provision for properties under development and
completed properties held for sale. Such provision requires
the use of judgements and estimates. Where the expectation
is different from the original estimate, the carrying value and
provision for properties in the period in which the estimate is
changed will be adjusted accordingly.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

PRC corporate income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in Mainland China. As
a result of the fact that certain matters relating to the income
taxes have not been confirmed by the local tax bureau,
objective estimate and judgement based on currently enacted
tax laws, regulations and other related policies are required
in determining the provision for income taxes to be made.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts originally recorded, the differences will have an
impact on the income tax and tax provisions in the period in
which the differences realise.

PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

LAT in the PRC is levied at progressive rates ranging from
30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value, being
the proceeds from sales of properties less deductible
expenditures including land costs, borrowing costs and other
property development expenditures.

The subsidiaries of the Group engaging in the property
development business in Mainland China are subject to
LAT. However, the implementation of these taxes varies
amongst various cities in Mainland China and the Group
has not finalised its LAT returns with various tax authorities.
Accordingly, significant judgement is required in determining
the amount of land appreciation and its related taxes. The
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. The Group recognises these liabilities
based on management’s best estimates. Where the final
tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the
statement of profit or loss and the provision for LAT in the
period in which such determination is made.
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BARSER R M

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

v)

(vi)

174 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences and unused tax losses to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences and losses can
be utilised. Significant management judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can
be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of
future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies. The carrying value of deferred tax assets relating
to recognised deductible temporary differences and tax
losses at 31 December 2016 was RMB168,779,000
(2015: RMB184,258,000). The amount of unrecognised
tax losses during the year ended 31 December 2016 was
RMB66,348,000 (2015: RMB236,044,000). Further details
are contained in note 19 to the financial statements.

Impairment of trade and other receivables

Impairment of trade and other receivables is made based
on assessment of the recoverability of trade and other
receivables. The identification of impairment of trade and other
receivables requires management’s judgement and estimates.
Where the actual outcome or expectation in the future is
different from the original estimates, such differences will have
an impact on the carrying value of the receivables and doubtful
debt expenses/write-back of doubtful debt in the period in
which such estimate is changed.
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OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on income derived from business and has two
reportable operating segments as follows:

(@  the residential segment develops and sells residential
properties, and provides management and security services
to residential properties in Mainland China and Canada;

(b)  the commercial segment develops and sells commercial
properties, leases investment properties, owns and a operates
hotel and provides management and security services to
commercial properties in Mainland China.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
loss, which is a measure of profit/loss before tax from continuing
operations. Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with
reference to the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at
the then prevailing market prices.

4.
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PR ER R M

4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BESPEHGE)

176 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Residential Commercial Total
F= (SE3 st
Year ended HZ2016F RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
31 December 2016 12831 HILEE AR®T AR¥T T AR¥T T
Segment revenue: DEYA :
Sales to external customers IR P HE 4,148,777 858,371 5,007,148
Intersegment sales D EPEISHE 1,200 - 1,200
4,149,977 858,371 5,008,348
Reconciliation: FHED -
Elimination of intersegment sales 53 B R 8 Y 8 (1,200)
Revenue from continuing operations B EFEFRA 5,007,148
Segment results o EBEELE (16,495) 265,707 249,212
Segment assets PEEE 9,249,696 11,288,945 20,538,641
Reconciliation: FHED -
Elimination of intersegment receivables 73 B FE U SR IR
#5H (268,200)
Total assets B E 20,270,441
Segment liabilities DEEE 6,692,487 5,946,886 12,639,373
Reconciliation: FHER -
Elimination of intersegment payables D EPEER SR
Eagc (80,067)
Total liabilities wafE 12,559,306
Other segment information: Hih D IEH :
Share of loss of: PGS
a joint venture: —HE &R - 15 15
Impairment losses recognised in BT 7R R
the statement of profit or loss BB EE (71,611) - (71,611)
Depreciation ﬁ% 7,868 13,090 20,958
Investments in joint ventures REEEENIZE - 759 759
Capital expenditure =R 13,601 117,328 130,929
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B ERR M

4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BEEDWBEH(E)

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Residential Commercial Total
*= EES “aEt
Year ended HZE2015%F RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
31 December 2015 12 A31 BILFE ARETT ARETT ARBFT
Segment revenue: AEBRA :
Sales to external customers HINPEFHE 2,379,160 503,986 2,883,146
Intersegment sales HEEIHE 11,245 - 11,245
Sales to external customers IR FHE 2,390,405 503,986 2,894,391
Reconciliation: FHER -
Elimination of intersegment sales 53 B R 8 XY 8 (11,245)
Revenue from continuing operations FHER & B 2,883,146
Segment results PEPFEE (66,841) 1,075,435 1,008,594
Segment assets DEPEE 10,861,577 11,293,164 22,154,741
Reconciliation: A -
Elimination of intersegment 73 B eI
receivables SRIAET 8 (65,334)
Total assets HBEE 22,089,407
Segment liabilities PHEE 8,528,653 6,073,322 14,601,975
Reconciliation: FAE -
Elimination of intersegment payables 5> 2B FE 1
FRIB T 8 (65,334)
Total liabilities HEE 14,536,641
Other segment information: Hith 2 IEH
Share of profits and losses: DI
Joint ventures EEE - 2,208 2,208
Impairment losses recognised in B 7R R HY
the statement of profit or loss BB EE 58,620 - 58,620
Depreciation e 5,154 12,523 17,677
Investments in joint ventures REEEENIZE - 774 774
Capital expenditure BEARRY 6,347 7,203 13,550
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B R R R B &

4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BESWBEHE (])
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Geographical information & R
All of the Group’s revenue is derived from customers based in AEENEHWARERFBEAERR - K
Mainland China and all of the non-current assets of the Group are EE 2 ZIERENE B MU B ARE o

located in Mainland China.

Information about major customers BAREEEFHNER

No sales to a single customer or a group of customers under WEHESE - ERERES TR

common control accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s revenue FHRRHEEBARNEEEZE2016F &

for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015. 201565F12 331 B IEFEHRAEI10%IA | »
5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. ItA - Eftlif A Rk &

GAINS

Revenue represents income from the sale of properties, property WA BFREEDERA - WEHEEWA -

leasing income, property management fee income and hotel MEETBEBWANBESERA (IR LE

operating income during the year, net of business tax and other N E M EEET MIEHEHRE)

sales related taxes and discounts allowed.

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows: WA~ WA RIRER ST ¢
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5.

GAINS (CONTINUED)
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B ERR M

B KMBAR b D

2016 2015
2016 F 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AREET T

Revenue

Sale of properties

Property leasing income

Property management fee income
Hotel operating income

Less: Business tax and surcharges*

WA

HEME
MEEERA
ESL=SEE-UL PN
TG E R

B EERR LM nE

* Pursuant to the VAT reform in the PRC effective from 1 May 2016, all *
pre-sales of properties incurred after 1 May 2016 are subject to VAT.

Accordingly, once the related revenue from these sales of properties is

recognised, more revenue represents the net invoiced value of properties

sold with VAT exclusive. Revenue in connection with the pre-sales incurred

prior to 1 May 2016 is still subject to business tax, and the revenue

represents the net invoiced value of properties sold with business tax

exclusive.

Other income H A

Interest income from a joint venture RE—Ea2EERF S WA
Bank interest income HRITHEWA

Others HAth18 B

Subsidy income* AR A

Gains &

Gain on disposal of investment properties & &Y E R Yz

Gain on disposal of joint ventures HESEEEN K

Foreign exchange gain/(loss) i 5 Wz (E518)

* There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants. &

5,027,694 2,882,015
62,040 90,072
100,652 41,686
46,749 48,107
(229,987) (178,734)
5,007,148 2,883,146

RIE20164 5 A 1 B4 A R BEISERRE © 2016
F5 A1 BREENMANERSHBMNLER
Eit - —BREEYHHENERRAGRIER -
EEZWARREEMHFNERFE(TEELER) -
1201645 A 1 BATE 4 2 AE BB KRA DA R
EED - MBRARKREEVENBEEFE(TBREE
E5) ©

- 115,633
9,139 27,310
8,173 5,818

12,007 476

29,319 149,237

- 1,397

- 125,954

874 (244)
874 127,107
30,193 276,344

B RAf B ER SERC R IR BB 3 = 1
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B SRR M EE
6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. FR¥RATFIE
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): AREBBRBRAMBEDIG, (Gt A) T5&
I8 :
2016 2015
2016 F 20154
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Kzt AR%ET R ARETTT
Cost of properties sold EHEWERAR 21 4,322,573 2,317,028
Depreciation e 12 20,958 17,677
Minimum lease payments REBLCEHER
under operating leases: =IEBE B
— Office premises o /NES 5] 4,771 4,072
Auditors’ remuneration 2% SREM B & 2,720 2,320
Staff costs including directors’ and BTIXRA(BRESRFE
chief executive’s remuneration: THRAEME) : 8
— Salaries and other staff costs —TEREME TKA 177,687 154,505
— Pension scheme contributions —RIREFTEIHE 20,179 19,401
Foreign exchange differences, net FERER  FE 5 (874) 244
Direct operating expenses BEELERY (B
(including repairs and maintenance WEYEEENEER
arising on investment properties) (E3=) 2,807 5,095
Loss/(gain) on disposal of investment HEREYEREE (Ka)
properties 5,684 (1,397)
Fair value (gain)/loss, net: AR EE ), BiE - T8
Fair value gain upon transfer to EREIREYEDN
investment properties R EERE 13 - (796,581)
Changes in fair value of KEMFEAREBE
investment properties L) 13 (123,908) (29,361)
Equity investments at fair value BAnBETEEEEH
through profit or loss STAE SRR E
— held for trading —FHEER 67 257
(Reversal & realise)/write-down (BB REIR) Mm%
of properties under development ZEA[FRFEE
to net realisable value 14 (71,611) 58,620
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Notes to Financial Statements

S e
FINANCE COSTS 7. B¥EEH
An analysis of the Group’s finance costs is as follows: AEENPHEERDTOAT ¢
2016 2015
2016 F 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Interest on bank borrowings IRITIERFE 263,852 359,005
Interest on other borrowings E A ERF S 109,732 188,703
Total interest expense T2 2% 373,584 547,708
Less: Interest capitalised W BAEFEEH
in properties under development 7 E =0 N (361,867) (513,439)
11,717 34,269
DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF 8. EERFETHAEMSE

EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is

BIE_ETARA - HB A FMEHISE 383(1)(a)
) QROEARAB(REEEM=ER)
MOIE2E  FRAEEREETHAEHE
WM

as follows:

2016 2015
2016 ¢ 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Fees we 600 600

Other emoluments: EAETE
Salaries, bonuses and allowances e~ TEALROERL 4,759 4,691
Pension scheme contributions R ETBIHR 17 28
4,776 4,719
5,376 5,319
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s e
8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF 8. ERERFETHARMS
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION (¥8)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Independent non-executive directors (@) BUFHITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during FRENBIYIFATEENEEN
the year were as follows: T
2016 2015
2016 ¢ 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
Fees e AR¥TT ARET T
Mr. Pei Ker Wei BRExRE 200 200
Mr. Zhang Huagiao RALAE S 200 200
Mr. Loke Yu (s Sivta s 200 200
600 600
(b) Executive directors and the chief (b) BITEERETEITHRAE
executive
Pension
Salaries and scheme
allowances Bonuses  contributions Total
Bike
He Rz 4 SR @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARET R AR%ET R ARBTT
2016 2016
Executive drectors HITEE
Mr. Zhang Jiangang REHEE 643 162 7 812
Mr. Lou Yifei* B-REE 501 - - 501
Mr. Jin Jianrong SRRLE 298 - 5 303
Ms. Shen Tiaojuan BT T 721 213 - 934
2,163 375 12 2,550
Chief executive and executive director ~ TZ7THAS
RHTTEE
Mr. Shi Kancheng TP % A 1,801 420 5 2,226
3,964 795 17 4,776
* Retired on 1 September 2016. * R20164F 9 A1 HIRME -

182 Zhong An Real Estate Limited 2016 Annual Report



8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION
(CONTINUED)

(b) Executive directors and the chief

Notes to Financial Statements

B ERR M

8. EERTETHARMS

b) BTEEREETHAER

executive (continued) (%&)
Pension
Salaries and scheme
allowances Bonuses contributions Total
BRE
FoREh T STl @t
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
2015 20154
Executive drectors HITEE
Mr. Zhang Jiangang REHLAE 609 160 23 792
Mr. Lou Yifei B-—REE 668 128 - 796
Ms. Shen Tiaojuan LRER L 727 198 - 925
2,004 486 23 2,513
Chief executive and executive director ~ FZ77HA S
RHiiEE
Mr. Shi Kancheng MRk A 1,796 405 5 2,206
3,800 891 28 4,719

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2015: Nil).

FAMEEEREXFRBRETATH

B 2 Bk (2015 4F

REFEERRAT

D) e
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PR ER R M

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included four (2015:
four) directors, details of whose remuneration are set out in note 8
above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining one (2015: one)
non-director, highest paid employee for the year are as follows:

9. AEEmeEHFAL

FRAABRRSFATABTELS (20154 ¢
MBE)EE - HBlSFBEE R 23k
8 FRNHT—R (20165 : —R)IFEER

ST ALTHBESFBOT
2016 2015
2016 & 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT AREET T

Salaries, bonuses and allowances T - JEAL MoERL
Pension scheme contributions RIKEFT B
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10. INCOME TAX

The Group’s subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong and Canada
are not liable for income tax as they did not have any assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong and Canada during the year (2015: Nil).

The provision for the PRC income tax has been provided at the
applicable income tax rate of 25% (2015: 25%) on the assessable
profits of the Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland China.

LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on
the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from sales
of properties less deductible expenditures including land costs,
borrowing costs and other property development expenditures. The
Group has estimated, made and included in taxation a provision for
LAT according to the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax
laws and regulations. Prior to the actual cash settlement of the LAT
liabilities, the LAT liabilities are subject to the final review/approval by
the tax authorities.

Notes to Financial Statements

BA SRR AL

10. R

HRAEBMRESRINEAK KB A )
AN E A B S RN A 8 22 A FE SR B A
B MW EEL BB RINERFEHEE
(20154 : #&) -

A B AT1S it B B AN S B 72 AR B A BT /B 2 B AY
2T AIE 25% (2015 4F : 25% ) B3 A P
SRR RIEL B o

B ) TR (B R B IR (E BN E Y
PSSR IR0 AT FR B 32 (B i LA - &
ERAREMYERER) BN 0%E
BO%EEER KU - REBERETEA
BRERER - 5T - (EH REBBENG
ALHIEETER - EARSEREE L
BEMREAEZA - DHIRERBERBDE
ERBREER L -

2016 2015
2016 ¢ 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARET T

Current — PRC corporate income BNEATETE — F A
tax for the year RS 52,949 64,819
Current — PRC LAT for the year BNEATRTE — SF R B b 3R (B 23,644 103,927
Deferred (note 19) RIERIA (FHEE19) 11,657 246,546
Total tax charge for the year FRTIELRTE 88,250 415,292
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PR ER R M

10. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax

using the statutory rate for the jurisdiction in which the Company and

the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the

effective tax rate is as follows:

10. Fr 1R (#8)

REBEARBREAZHHE R R RERERE
B8 BSATE B R 5T E R B AT A EE A A B B
ERBERTEARENTAFSERRAOT

2016 2015
2016 & 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Profit before tax BRBE A& A 249,212 1,008,594
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 25% 1% 25% (2015 4F : 25%)
(2015: 25%) EEMEGTERTIE 62,303 252,149
Effect of withholding tax at 10% FEANER [E B B8 2~ F) AT it
on the distributable profits of the 305 M AR 10% TEFNHR
Group’s PRC subsidiaries S 1,025 2,883
Tax losses utilised from previous periods BB E HEIE £ KT IEE B (1,298) (3,231)
Expenses not deductible for tax IR 14,198 26,535
Recognition of tax losses previously TR A AR FER M B B 1B
not recognised (22,298) -
Tax losses not recognised RERTIEEE 16,587 59,011
Provision for LAT T HbIB(E T B 23,644 108,927
Tax effect on LAT TR ER R B (5,911) (25,982)
Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate ~ NEBEREFH RN IBF L 88,250 415,292
Tax payable in the consolidated statement 53 & G B 75 ik it 3= HO FE A B
of financial position represents: THHE
PRC corporate income tax R ZEFTIS R 269,879 294,851
PRC LAT A B i E 399,021 382,833
668,900 677,684
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B SRR M =E
11. EARNINGS PER SHARE M. BAFEBRERERSEA
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY B miEE T
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit FRREARRFERETA R T RRRERE
for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent AFEMRFAFEAREA125,272,0007T(2015
of RMB125,272,000 (2015: RMB420,608,000) and the weighted F: AR#420,608,0007T) ' ARFEAE
average number of ordinary shares of 2,348,582,400 (2015: BEAT B AR B DN AE T 15 81 2,348,582,400 A%
2,348,582,400) in issue during the year, as adjusted to reflect the (20154F : 2,348,582,400/8) 5t & - E 7
rights issued during the year. BUAR M AR EEAT ©
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on: FTESRENZFTIER :
2016 2015
2016 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Earnings &ZF|
Profit attributable to ordinary equity B R EE B E
holders of the parent R ARIEFE 125,272 420,608
Number of shares
R EE
2016 2015
2016 F 20154
Shares R
Weighted average number of ordinary FREBITEER
shares in issue during the year DntEF 2,348,582,400  2,348,582,400
The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares during the RNEBNREZE2016FE KL 2015F 12 31 H
years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015. I FE B A B RS ER B -
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PR ER R M

12. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 12. EER&E
Office Motor Leasehold  Construction
Properties Machinery equipment vehicles  improvements in progress Total
nE B BAZERE & il e HREIR @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTT  ARETR  ARETT  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR ARETR
At 31 December 2014 014124318 R
and 1 January 2015: 015%141A:
Cost A 248,082 1448 35,684 43964 - - 329178
Accumulated depreciation Zihe (78,728) (995) (27.462) (33,925) - - (141,110)
Net carrying amount KEFE 169,354 453 8,202 10,039 - - 188,068
A 1 January 2015, net of 015E1R18
accumulated depreciation ThEsE 169,354 453 8222 10,039 - - 188,068
Addtions Em = 84 4330 3,570 5,566 - 13,560
Disposals i (50) - (1,084) (146) - - (1,280
Depreciation provided EniTE
during the year (11,200 (7 219 (8,082) (114) - (17677)
At 31 December 2015, net of 0155124318
accumulated depreciation TREHHE 158,100 480 9,300 9,379 5452 - 182,711
At 31 December 2015 015E128318
and 1 January 2016: k201651818 :
Cost AR 248,032 1,532 38,980 47,388 5,566 - 341,498
Accumulated depreciation ZitiE (89.932) (1,082 (29,680) (38,009 (114) - (158,787)
Net carying amount FEFE 158,100 480 9,300 9,379 5452 - 182,711
Additions 0 498 352 11,507 24 132 118,066 130,029
Transfer from properties EREFEANE
under development - - - - - 1,074,531 1,074,531
Disposals i3 (3,150) - (1,867) (126) - - (5,143)
Depreciation provided EnifE
during the year (10,215) (112 (6,242) (3,034) (1,355) - (20,058)
At 31 December 2016, net of 016124318 -
accumulated depreciation B 2qE 145,233 720 12,788 6,503 4,229 1,192,597 1,362,070
At 31 December 2016 0165128318 :
Cost HAE 245,380 1,884 48,710 47,546 5,698 1,192,507 1,541,815
Acoumulated depreciation Zithe (100,147) (1,164) (35,022) (41,043) (1,469) - (179,745)
Net carrying amount EmFE 145,233 720 12,788 6,503 4,229 1,192,597 1,362,070

At 31 December 2016, certain items of the Group’s property
and equipment with a net carrying amount of approximately
RMB132,540,000 (2015: RMB144,327,000) were pledged to
secure interest-bearing bank and other borrowings granted to the

Group as disclosed in note 29.
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S e
13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. ST =E
Completed Investment
investment properties under
properties construction Total
EERRENE EEREME et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB?000
ARETT ARETT AR®TT
At 31 December 2014 and 201412 A31 B &
1 January 2015 201591 B 1H 2,565,200 1,239,000 3,804,200
Transfers from properties ERa AR YE
under development (note 14) (PFfaE14) - 616,419 616,419
Transfers from investment HERIREFEE A
properties under construction BRI B
to completed investment
properties 502,000 (602,000) -
Additional #2m - 30,329 30,329
Disposal HE (2,990) - (2,990)
Fair value gain upon transfer EREN AR EEYNE - 796,581 796,581
Changes in fair value of REMERABEES
investment properties 54,690 (25,329 29,361
At 31 December 2015 and 201512 A31 B &
1 January 2016 20161 B 1H 3,118,900 2,155,000 5,273,900
Transfer from investment properties ~ HERIREYEE A
under construction to investment HEYE
properties 2,155,000 (2,155,000) -
Additional 20 60,794 - 60,794
Disposal HE (71,352) - (71,352)
Changes in fair value of REMENS BEZE)
investment properties 123,908 - 123,908
At 31 December 2016 2016412 A31H 5,387,250 - 5,387,250
2016 2015
2016 F 20154
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
KieE AR¥T T ARETTT
Non-current assets JEMBEE 5,129,937 5,244,100
Current assets MEEE @) 257,313 29,800
5,387,250 5,273,900
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BA SRR

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(CONTINUED)

13. WM (#])

(@)

190 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

All investment properties of the Group were revalued at the
end of the year by an independent professionally qualified
valuer, CBRE Limited, at fair value. CBRE Limited is an
industry specialist in investment property valuation. The fair

(@)

AEBEEHREMERFREBILE
EEABRMEMEBRETARAD
RRRARBESEM - HHRECAR
REINBFREREMEMLENTESR

value represents the amount at which the assets could be R AREBEEIEEEAIZANEERE
exchanged between a knowledgeable and willing buyer and a REBERPNEE B SR E R EEEZ
seller in an arm’s length transaction at the date of valuation, in ELNFRGRINEERETE ©

accordance with International Valuation Standards.

The following table gives information about how the fair values
of these investment properties are determined (in particular,
the valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the fair
value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are
categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the
inputs to the fair value measurements are observable.

Investment properties held by the Group in the consolidated
statement of financial position were valued by Fair value

TREJIMABERFREVENR
REBELER AN [BERTR
BB NENURBEAABEFE
BWARERBREZE D AR EER
ENAREBERE(F—EF=4) °

AREBRE HMBARRPRB R
BMED TXMAINE=RAAREE

hierarchy level 3 listed below; the valuation techniques are o ERNTABEELEERIA
direct comparison approach and income approach (term and A(REIRIESE)  TBHABIES
reversion approach), and key inputs are

(1) Term vyield: the higher the term yield, the lower the fair (1) 7HEkER: AHKERE

value;

= RABEBE

(2)  Reversionary vield: the higher the reversionary yield, the @ EHEREE: EHKlaXl
lower the fair value; SRR %@tﬂi

(3)  Market unit rent: the higher the market unit rent, the @ mMBEMNES: MSEMER
higher the fair value; s /L%’fﬁﬁ_ﬁ ;

(4)  Price per square metre: the higher the price, the higher
the fair value.

2016 Annual Report

@) BTHKER: STHKER
WE - AhEERES -



Notes to Financial Statements

SRR MIRE
13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. |EYE (1])
(CONTINUED)
The significant unobservable inputs EAFAEERAYE
Investment properties
held by the Group Significant unobservable inputs
AEERRERENF ERFEERARE

Property 1 — Property in Hangzhou  Term yield, taking into account the yield of 4% for the office portion and 5.5% for the

(Guomao Building) retail portion, generated from comparable properties and adjustment to reflect the
1SR — TN certainty of term income secured and to be received.
(BHEXE) EEt AR EEE NS R RS0 B 4% BT EMD 55.5%) R RETHER K

Y ER R B A ROHEE 1 Y S B 1S L A U B K o

Reversionary yield of 5.5% for the office portion and 6% for the retail portion,
taking into account annual unit market rental income and unit market value of the
comparable properties.

KEFABUMSFEESRARBEYENBELTE  BABHEBREER
5.5% KA HAED 6% ©

Market unit rent of RMB1.7/sq. m./day for the office portion and RMB4.8/sq. m./
day for the retail portion, using direct market comparables and taking into account
the location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of property and
facilities.

R BEEMISLL B ALK ALLE REREEE - WA/ RREE M5 IEE
% MHBEUHES AT T RERAREA.7 T (RAED) REETRERARE
48T (ZEHD) °

Price of RMB9,300/sg. m. for the office portion and RMB16,400/sqg. m. for the retail
portion, using market direct comparables and taking into account of location and
other individual factors such as road frontage, size of property etc.

LR BEEMISLBOEI T R B RGARE - WERESHMERNEER - BT
FHARARK9,300TT (MAFD) REFFITRKARKEA16,4007T (BEES)
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B ISR R =

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. I BEMXR(18)
(CONTINUED)
The significant unobservable inputs BRI ERHARE (F)
(continued)

Investment properties
held by the Group
rEBFAEBREYHE

Property 2 — Property in Shanghai

(La Vie)
25— BB
(3pgtet)

Significant unobservable inputs

EXTABRBARE

Term yield, taking into account of yield of 5%, generated from comparable properties
and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured and to be received.
HEET N RERY) SR EE A Y 5% 2 Weas B R B P AR I ¢ W BR AR BRSO A O B FE 1R ) 8 28
S AT B R 2 o

Reversionary yield of 5.5%, taking into account annual unit market rental income and
unit market value of the comparable properties.
B ABMEFEERTRARREDENELTE  BERWEE[/5.5% °

Market unit rent of RMB7.3/sg. m./day, using direct market comparables and taking
into account of location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of
property and facilities.

EREEMISLLE T AT RALE REREEK - WERNRRESEEMEBERE -
TSBNEERFTFHIRERARK73T -

Price of RMB45,900/sg. m., using market direct comparables and taking into
account of location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of property
etc.

LR BEETISLBOE T R B RRARE - MERESHMENEER - BRAE
EHRAE 45,900 7T ©
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B IS SRR M =E
13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. I BEMXR (18)
(CONTINUED)
The significant unobservable inputs EAFIERR ARE (F)
(continued)

Investment properties

held by the Group Significant unobservable inputs
rEBEEREYHE ERFAEER A

Property 3 — Property in Hangzhou  Term yield, taking into account of yield of 5.5%, generated from comparable

(Integrated Service Center) properties and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured and to be
3R — TN received.
(k5 & RIEH L) BEET AN ERY S EE AR ) 5.5% 2 Wiam B [ FITHE AR B i Y ER AR ER UK A O B E 14 ) 37

BSHHHE SR

Reversionary yield of 6%, taking into account annual unit market rental income and
unit market value of the comparable properties.

BEFABUMSFEHSRA KRR ENSELME - BEREER6% °

Market unit rent of RMB3.9/sg. m./day, using direct market comparables and taking

into account of location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of

property and facilities.

ﬁ%ﬁ%m%m?ﬁiiﬁ&ua&%m B WA/ R S B AR IAE
SEMNESRBTHRERARKIIT

=

Price of RMB13,840/sg. m., using market direct comparables and taking into
account of location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of property

etc.
FREEMSLR AT M EHEBREHRE  UEAESEMARENIEE - B8AT
FHEARAREA13,840 7T ©

zrEESRAF —Z— a4 193



Notes to Financial Statements

B ISR R =

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. I BEMXR(18)
(CONTINUED)
The significant unobservable inputs BRI ERHARE (F)

(continued)

Investment properties
held by the Group
rEBFAEBREYHE

Property 4 — Property in Hangzhou
(Office portion of Highlong
Plaza)

A5 — N

(BEESHARD)

Significant unobservable inputs

EXTABRBARE

Term yield, taking into account of yield of 5%, generated from comparable properties
and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured and to be received.
HEET N RERY) SR EE A Y 5% 2 Weas B R B P AR I ¢ W BR AR BRSO A O B FE 1R ) 8 28
S AT B R 2 o

Reversionary yield of 5.5%, taking into account annual unit market rental income and
unit market value of the comparable properties.
B ABMEFEERTRARREDENELTE  BERWEE[/5.5% °

Market unit rent of RMB1.9/sg. m./day, using direct market comparables and taking
into account of location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of
property and facilities.

EREEMISLLE T AT RALE REREEK - WERNRRESEEMEBERE -
T5BUEERF T RERARK 19T -

Price of RMB11,800/sg. m., using market direct comparables and taking into
account of location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of
property etc.

LR BEETISLBOE T R B RRARE - MERESHMENEER - BRAE
FEHRAER 11,800 7T ©
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B IS SRR M =E
13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. I BEMXR (18)
(CONTINUED)
The significant unobservable inputs EAFIERR ARE (F)
(continued)

Investment properties

held by the Group Significant unobservable inputs
rEBEEREYHE ERFAEER A

Property 5 — Property in Hangzhou  Term yield, taking into account of yield of 5.5%, generated from comparable
(Retail portion of Highlong Plaza)  properties and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured and to be
55 —tN received.
(lEf EmmEiats) BEET AN ERY S EE AR ) 5.5% 2 Wiam B [ FITHE AR B i Y ER AR ER UK A O B E 14 ) 37
BISHA R E -

Reversionary yield of 6%, taking into account annual unit market rental income and
unit market value of the comparable properties.

BEFABUMSFEHSRA KRR ENSELME - BEREER6% °

Market unit rent of RMB6.1/sg. m./day, using direct market comparables and taking
into account of location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of
property and facilities.

ﬁ%ﬁ%m%mfﬁ&lﬁ&ua&%m B MEANNREREEEMBERR
HEMES AT ARBRARKEGITT -

Price of RMB22,000/sg. m., using market direct comparables and taking into

account of location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of

property etc.

EREEMIZLBOA T R B EGERE  WERESHMENEER - BT

FEHARARY 22,0007T ©

ZrEESRAF —Z— 4% 195



Notes to Financial Statements

B R R M =

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. I BEMXR (18)
(CONTINUED)
The significant unobservable inputs BEAFIERRHARE ()

(continued)

Investment properties
held by the Group
rEBAEEREYHE

Property 6 — Property in Hangzhou
(Serviced apartment portion of
Highlong Plaza)

ik /E SV EZES
(EESRBALEED)

Significant unobservable inputs

EXTABRBARE

Term yield, taking into account of yield of 5%, generated from comparable properties
and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured and to be received.
HEET AN RERY) SR EE A Y 5% 2 Weas B R B P AR I ¢ W BR AR ERUC A O B FE 1R ) 8 28
S AT B R = o

Reversionary yield of 5.5%, taking into account annual unit market rental income and
unit market value of the comparable properties.
B ABMEFEETBRARREDENELHE  BERWEE[/5.5% °

Market unit rent of RMB1.9/sg. m./day, using direct market comparables and taking
into account of location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of
property and facilities.

EREEMIS LB AT RAIE RREEK - WERNRRESEEMEBERE -
T5BNEERF T RERARK 19T -

Price of RMB12,300/sg. m., using market direct comparables and taking into
account of location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of
property etc.

LR BEETISLLBOA T R B RGARE - WERESHMENEER - BRAE
FEHRAER 12,300 7T ©
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B IS SRR M =E
13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. I BEMXR (18)
(CONTINUED)
The significant unobservable inputs EAFIERRARE (F)
(continued)

Investment properties

held by the Group Significant unobservable inputs
rEBEBREYHE ERFAEER A

Property 7 — Property in Hangzhou  Term yield, taking into account of yield of 5.75%, generated from comparable

(Landscape Garden) properties and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured and to be
7SR —tN received.
(HL7Kk38) BE AR R E £ 1Y 5.76% 2 Yaam B [ B BT & 4R K té BN AR HA e A\ B9 e R 1 B 5

BISHHHE SR

Reversionary yield of 6.25%, taking into account annual unit market rental income
and unit market value of the comparable properties.

BEFABUMSFERSRARBRYENEMTE - BHEKEX56.25% °

Market unit rent of RMB2.6/sg. m./day, using direct market comparables and taking

into account of location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of

property and facilities.

E%E%m%mfﬁiiﬁ&ua&%m B WA/ N RS B AR IR R
TSBENEERFTIRERARK26T -

=

Price of RMB11,400/sg. m., using market direct comparables and taking into
account of location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of
property etc.

EREEMIZLBOA T R B EGERE  WERESHMENEER - BT
FHRAREA1,4007T ©
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B R R M =

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. I BEMXR (18)
(CONTINUED)
The significant unobservable inputs BEAFIERRHARE ()
(continued)

Investment properties
held by the Group
rEBAEEREYHE

Property 8 — Property in Hangzhou
(Hidden Dragon Bay)
8SRME — N
(Baee)

Significant unobservable inputs

EXTABRBARE

Term yield, taking into account of yield of 5%, generated from comparable properties
and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured and to be received.
HEET N RER Y SR A Y 5% 2 Wees B [ Bt P AR I ¢ W R AR BB A O B FE 1R ) 8 28
S AT B R = o

Reversionary yield of 6%, taking into account of annual unit market rental income and
unit market value of the comparable properties.
BB FEESBARREYENELTE  BEFEREE[/6% °

Market unit rent of RMB4.4/sqg. m./day, using direct market comparables and taking
into account of location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of
property and facilities.

EREEMISLL BT AT RAIE REREEK - WERNRRESEEMEZBERE -
T5BNEERF T RERARK44T -

Price of RMB15,400/sg. m., using market direct comparables and taking into
account of location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of
property etc.

LR BEETISLLBOEI T R E RGARE - MERESHMENEER - BRAE
FEHRAERA15,400 7T ©
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IR R M RE
13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. I (1])

(CONTINUED)
The significant unobservable inputs EAFIERRARE (F)
(continued)
Investment properties
held by the Group Significant unobservable inputs
REBFRFEREYH EXTAERHARE
Property 9 — Property in Huaibei Term yield, taking into account of yield of 5.5%, generated from comparable

(Vancouver City) properties and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured and to be
CEit7E Sabi:sla/ES received.

ORFFER) BEET AR EE A ) 5.5% 2 Wiam B SR T HE AR B i Y ER A ER UK A O B E 14 ) 37

BSHHHE s

Reversionary yield of 6%, taking into account annual unit market rental income and
unit market value of the comparable properties.

BEFAEBUMSFREHSRARFRYENELME - BEREER6% °

Market unit rent of RMB1.1/sg. m./day, using direct market comparables and taking

into account of location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of

property and facilities.

ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%miﬁttfﬁ/ijwr&ua&%ﬂ B WA/ R S B AR IR R
SEMNESRBTHRERARKIAT -

=

Price of RMB6,300/sg. m. per square metre, using market direct comparables and
taking into account of location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size

of property etc.

ERAEEMISLE AT R B RGBS MERAESHMENEER - B8AT

FHARARE 6,300 7T ©
There is only one property — International Office Center, a property RE—EMEMMNIZEBRR AR )RR
in Hangzhou — valued by Fair value hierarchy level 2, the valuation hEEBRE-_RMHE  HERTAREEL
technique is the direct comparison approach, and the key input is X EEHABEBE AT T RER B
price per square metre, the higher the price, the higher the fair value. e AREESS - EXTAHARES
Significant unobservable input is the price from RMB17,000/sg. m. BENTARE17,0007T,/ FHAEAR
to RMB20,000/sq.m., using market direct comparables and taking #20,0007C,F K - BERTSEEA]
into account of location and other individual factors such as road B EER - Wat kAL E HBRERE - Y%
frontage, size of property, etc. RESHMEREZE -
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BARSER R M

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(CONTINUED)

(0)

200 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

The Group’s investment properties situated on the leasehold
land in Mainland China are leased between 30 and 50 years.

Investment properties leased out under operating leases

The Group leases out investment properties under operating
lease arrangements. All leases run for a period of one to
fifteen years, with an option to renew the leases after the
expiry dates, at which time all terms will be renegotiated.
The Group’s total future minimum lease receivables under
non-cancellable operating leases generated from investment
properties are as follows:

13. WM (#])

(b)

AN & EAL A AR B A O AR B 4 B R
EYEHRERAI0FEES0F o

RELEHSCHENREME

AEBEREBLEHE LA LIREY
X -FEHERM—Z=+RHSF XA
BRENFH B REERRER 2 HR IR
THEITEE - AEERBETABUEL
LHEMREYEMSH AR SER
SHIRBEEMNT -

2016 2015

2016 20154

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFTT ARBET T

Within one year —FR 56,513 71,694
In the second to fifth years, inclusive £ _-ZFRF (HEEMFBIEEN) 143,131 164,498
After five years hFE 31,934 49,787
231,578 285,979

At 31 December 2016, certain of the Group’s investment
properties with a carrying amount of RMB2,355,739,000
(2015: RMB3,692,270,000) were pledged to secure interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings granted to the Group as
disclosed in note 29.

2016 Annual Report

#2016 412 A31 B @ 18 & Kf 729
FRE AEEEREAEARARE
2,355,739,0007C (20154 : A R #
3,692,270,000 7T) K& THREMER
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B IS SRR M =E
13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. R EMXE (18)
(CONTINUED)
()  The Group entered into certain sale and purchase agreements e AEBEIYETEEHZE: HEK
to sell certain investment properties with a carrying amount HEA AR 257,313,000 LA & T
of RMB257,313,000. The Group had received deposits of BREWE - REBEDKBHARK
approximately RMB146,935,000 (2015: RMB9,061,000). 146,935,000 THI#E & (20154F « AR
As the transfer of the property title were still under progress, #9,061,0007T) * ARYIZEFTEER
the amount received was recognised as advances from HECEF ENIEEITE - MATIRE AR
customers as at 31 December 2016. IHER AR 2016F 12 A31 BRA &
FHIRZK o
14. PROPERTIES UNDER 14. AERYE
DEVELOPMENT
2016 2015
2016 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AREET T

Carrying amount at 1 January 181 BEREE 9,323,538 9,640,745
Additions 0 2,292,285 2,783,358
Transfer to investment properties BRI B (FIFE13)
(note 13) - (616,419)
Transfer to constructions in progress EREEETRE(ME12)
(note 12) (1,074,531) -
Transfer to completed properties RS REHE
held for sale (note 21) BER M (5E21) (5,322,836) (2,484,146)
Carrying amount at 31 December 12 A 31 HEREE 5,218,456 9,323,538
Write-down of properties under WO A R 5
development to net realisable value EA I HE (1,213) (72,824)
Net carrying amount at 31 December 12 A 31 B ZEREFE 5,217,243 9,250,714
Current assets mEVEE 2,931,314 4,661,802
Non-current assets EMENEE 2,285,929 4,588,912
5,217,243 9,250,714
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BARSER R M

14. PROPERTIES UNDER

14. SR HE (1)

DEVELOPMENT (CONTINUED)

Except for one property located in Canada, the rest of the Group’s

BR—IREMEMNINER  AEBEHRFHES

properties under development are all located in Mainland China. YA AT B A -
2016 2015
2016 F 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBFIT
Canada mEx
Freehold KAFENE 139,937 121,639
The carrying amounts of the properties ARE B R FEE R Y3 (G2
under development situated on AR A AR E ) BY
the leasehold land in Mainland BREMEWT :
China are as follows:
Mainland China REIR it
Leases of over 50 years FHEAHA R 50 F 2,989,474 6,140,875
Leases of between 30 and 50 years FAEAS0F =504 2,089,045 2,988,200
5,078,519 9,129,075
5,218,456 9,250,714
The movements in provision for (realised)/write-down of properties (B3R W 3 B v W 3 2 ] 480 3 S O 2%
under development to net realisable value are as follows: BEEEIT -
2016 2015
2016 F 20154
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
HiaF ARET T ARETTT
At 1 January 1H1H 72,824 14,204
(Reversal & realise)/write-down (PR R 238 ) /MR
of properties under development BRI R
recognised 6 (71,611) 58,620
At 31 December 12 A31 H 1,213 72,824
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14. PROPERTIES UNDER

15

DEVELOPMENT (CONTINUED)

Included in the above provision for the write-down of properties
under development is a provision for one (2015: two) individually
impaired property under development of RMB1,213,000 (2015:
RMB72,824,000) with a carrying amount before provision of
RMB1,454,321,000 (2015: RMB2,712,858,000).

There are positive cash inflows in the future forecast for both of
the projects above. A reversal of provision of RMB280,000 was
recognised and a provision of RMB71,331,000 was recognised in
cost in 2016.

At 31 December 2016, certain of the Group’s properties under
development with a carrying amount of RMB2,599,476,000 (2015:
RMB2,741,732,000) were pledged to secure interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings granted to the Group as disclosed in note 29.

Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

14. B RHE (]R)

AT A Ll 7 B R ) S UR R B B — 18 (2015
F: WIE) @R RENFAERYEARE
1,213,000 T 45 (20154 : AR#72,824,000
7T) - BERIEBREE A AR 1,454,321,0007T
(20154 : AR¥2,712,858,0007T) °

_FR R AE I B 258 50 BT EORI B9 R PR EE A IE
FIR & i E ° 2016 FHER A E A R
280,000 7T + B A KK 71,331,000 TTRARK,
2016412 A31H + RIEMIF29FT#H 5
AEBEREEBEAAR2599,476,000 7T
(20154 : AR¥2,741,732,0007T) 0E T
R YEBEARERSGT ERITERR
H A RAIHER

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE nEtHERSE
INVESTMENTS
2016 2015
2016 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T
Unlisted equity investments, at cost SEETRERIRE - A ANE 28,300 3,300

The available-for-sale investments were the unlisted equity
investments with a carrying amount of RMB28,300,000 (2015:
RMB3,300,000) stated at cost less impairment.

The investments were stated at cost because the investments do
not have a quoted market price in an active market. In the opinion
of the directors, the fair value of these investments cannot be
measured reliably and the underlying fair values of the investments
were not less than the carrying values of the investments as at 31
December 2016.

A ERE ARmEE A AR 28,300,000
Tt(20154F : AR#E 3,300,000 7C)KIFE_ETH
PERIEE » BB ERIER

HRZE NGRS LETIHRE - IR
BRAARR - EERAZERENBEAALE
BB Srt 2 MR SR EN AR EBETD
RZERE R 20164F 12 A 31 HABRE(E °

REFEERRAT
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PSRRI

16. LONG TERM PREPAYMENTS

16. REATAFT#X

2016 2015
2016 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT AREET T

Prepayment for land acquisition TEfTHE B i3I8
Maintenance fund HEER
Construction completion deposits BTER

17. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

315,744 293,320
75,225 43,328
18,989 22,673
409,958 359,321
V.S

17. REELEHRSE
2016 2015
2016 F 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT AREET T

Share of net assets PREEFE

Particulars of the joint ventures are as follows:

759 774

BEMLERNFRNT

Percentage attributable to the Group

Particulars AEEELEDL
of issued Place of Indirectly held Voting Profit Principal
Name shares held registration equity interest power sharing activities
RAECRT BESE
L i L Rz REE BN TEEE
Hangzhou Yinsheng Commercial Registered Zhejiang 26% 40% 40% Property
Management Co., Ltd. capital of PRC management
MMBREXERERAF RMB2,000,000
LM AR BT MERER
AR 2,000,0007C
Hangzhou Zhongxu Real Estate Registered Zhejiang 45% 50% 50% Property
Co., Ltd. capital of PRC management
MMZREXBR AR RMB20,000,000
M ARA BT MEER
AR#20,000,0007C

(1) Established on 16 September 2015

2) Established on 14 April 2016
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17. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES
(CONTINUED)

The movements in the investments in joint ventures during the

reporting period are as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

REELRMHRE (])

RAEECENRERREHANEZNT

2016 2015

2016 ¢ 20154

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥F T ARETTT

At 1 January 1H1H 774 46,228
Newly interest in a joint venture A —HeE D ENER - 800
Share of losses PEEE (15) (2,208)
Disposal of shares of joint ventures HEAEREMRS - (44,046)
At 31 December 12 A31H 759 774

The 40% equity interest in Hangzhou Yinsheng Commercial
Management Co., Ltd. is held through two subsidiaries with 90%

and 73.1% of equity interests respectively attributable to the

Company.

UM R R X BB AR A A A40% M AN
I BARR T D B E(E90% K& 73.1% A& 7N

R mEBARRA -

REFEERRAT

—z—xEFE 205



Notes to Financial Statements

PSRRI

17. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

(CONTINUED)

The following table illustrates the summarised consolidated financial

information of Hangzhou Yinsheng Commercial Management

Co., Ltd. adjusted for any differences in accounting policies and

reconciled to the carrying amount in the financial statements:

17. REERRMHIVNE (])

TREGITMNRRAXREEERARIE
BEMEE - SMER S BERERFEL AR

N BB TSR MO RRE (B FEED -

2016 2015

2016 20154

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARET T

Cash and cash equivalents ReERRESEEBY 697 736

Other current assets HEmeEE 1,200 1,200

Current assets mEEE 1,897 1,936

Net assets, excluding goodwill BEFME (T REmE) 1,897 1,936

Proportion of the Group’s ownership AEEHEEED L 40% 40%
Group’s share of net assets of the AEERELEERE

the joint venture BEFE 759 774

Carrying amount of the investment HERAE 759 774

Total expenses EEE (39) (64)

Loss after tax BR#i1& B 1R (39) (64)

The 50% equity interest in Hangzhou Zhongxu Real Estate Co.,

Ltd. is held through two subsidiaries with 90% equity interests
attributable to the Company. As at 31 December 2016, the paid-
in capital of Hangzhou Zhongxu Real Estate Co., Ltd. is nil and has

not yet commenced operation. There is no Share of net assets and

share of profit of a joint venture.
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74 Hangzhou Zhongxu Real Estate Co., Ltd.
BI50% AR At 2a T 3% M A Al AN 2 A1 FE 15 90%
RAERNIERRFEE - 2016 F12 A
31 H ' Hangzhou Zhongxu Real Estate Co.,
Ltd. HEBEWEARAT - BRRFAREE - 5
EEEPEEEFERDERRARE
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B ER R M

18. LOANS AND RECEIVABLES FROM A 18. k H—[RIAE8 XSS R
JOINT VENTURE EUsRIA

2016 2015

2016 & 20154

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AREET T

Principal: R
Hangzhou Zhongxu Real Estate MMNBRIEE 2
Co., Ltd. BRAF 173,246 -
During the year, the Group’s loan to a joint venture is unsecured and FN - AEEGET - HEECENERAE
interest-bearing which is based on conditional terms determined by EHRREE - DIRBEERENABEZ
the joint venture parties. BIEMHEK ©
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S
19. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND 19. EERATERAR
LIABILITIES
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows: BERIEEERELEH BB EZHIAT ¢
Deferred tax assets BEBARE
Impairment of Losses available
other receivables Unrealised  for offsetting Prepaid
and properties intragroup  against future corporate
under development  profit or loss  taxable profits income tax Total
HihElEE GIfesiRs
RERHE FEREE RIRERS Bt
HE B Gille 3 Frigst &
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETL AREFT ARETT ARETT ARETT
At 1 January 2015 2015%1A18 15,742 28,058 99,566 58,560 201,926
Deferred tax credit/(charged) FERNBRFER /(1K)
to the statement of MR
profit or loss during the year - 1,134 (33,465) 14,663 (17,668)
At 31 December 2015 2015F12 A31H
and 1 January 2016 R2016%1 A1H 15,742 29,192 66,101 73,223 184,258
Pre-paid income tax BFEH - - - (40,639) (40,639)
Deferred tax credit/(charged) ERRNBRRER/(M5)
to the statement of profit MEERTE
orloss during the year 302 (4,711) 29,629 - 25,160
At 31 December 2016 2016%12A31 8 16,044 24,421 95,730 32,584 168,779
In accordance with the PRC laws and regulations, tax losses could IRERBDERRER - BISE R EE R E
be carried forward for five years to offset against its future taxable AR SHE BRI FER TR o BREmARE A
profits. Deferred tax assets relating to unutilised tax losses are MSEBNEERIELE  A2EHERH
recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable fERT A B AME Z EREFTHEERSHA
profit will be available to allow such deferred tax assets to be utilised. R EHER -
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B IS SRR M =E
19. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND 1. EEREEER AR (8)
LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
The Group has no accumulated tax losses arising in Hong Kong REBRBE B R B ESER AUEHES HERE
that are available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable BAR BEMERAER RETTHIEEE
profits of the companies in which the losses arose. The Group ANEE R B A INEE AR R R AT IR 1B
also has accumulated tax losses arising in Mainland China of AR A472,467,0007T (2015 F « AR
RMB472,467,000 (2015: RMB419,730,000) that will expire in one 419,370,0007t) * R —ERFAE|H -
to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred tax AR SH B2 M ERTLAIE - B EMB A
assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses as they RIEEEEE —BRER - BRAWEA L
have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some time A AERR R SRR AR AR -
and it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be available RZEEEERELERIBEE °
against which the tax losses can be utilised.
Deferred tax liabilities EEBARE
Fair value
adjustment of
investment  Withholding
properties tax Others* Total
RENE
AREE
Fiiks BB Httr* @t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RVB'000
ARBTL  ARBTT AREBTR  ARETR

At 1 January 2015 20151 A1H 638,395 32,898 92,382 763,675
Realised during the year FRER (596) - - (596)
Deferred tax charged to the FRRERE

statement of profit or loss MR RIEERIE

during the year 206,486 2,883 19,509 228,878
At 31 December 2015 2015912 A31H

and 1 January 2016 %2016 1 A1H 844,285 35,781 111,891 991,957
Deferred tax charged to the FRRBRRARE

statement of profit or loss EAERTE

during the year 28,676 1,025 7,116 36,817
At 31 December 2016 2016512 A31H 872,961 36,806 119,007 1,028,774
* Others mainly include temporary differences regarding capitalised finance * H = EEEE RIS E FAAEBE TR

costs. E® o
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BARSER R M

19. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND 19. EEMAEER KR ()

LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law (the “New CIT
Law”), a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement has become effective from 1
January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007.
A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors.
For the Group, the applicable rate is 10%. The Group is therefore
liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of earnings
generated from 1 January 2008.

Other than the deferred tax liability in relation to the PRC withholding
income tax provided above, no deferred taxation has been
provided for the distributable retained profits of approximately
RMB1,053,481,000 (2015: RMB989,413,000), which were derived
from the PRC subsidiaries as the Group is able to control the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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BEPBECEMGBE(HEEMSR
D MINE R EETIRRERFE
AKX S ) INE 1B 3 7 IR BB 10% TE A
o BREAMTEE 20081 A1 BfBAER » I
AR 2007 F12 A31 RIEFTEEZ &R °
fisi o B b B SN E 12 & 2 P R AHE IR 2
EABBERHIEBEENB R -
SEZBEALEAR10% - Bt * AEBEER
ZE R B A 7 2 [ A R 5 2008 4 1
A1 BREEZ B IR RS TEH
i e

BrEE SO A) R BTN TS i AR RE AR AT
RIEABN  SHERREFENE R AN
#) AR #1,053,481,000 T (20154F : AR
#5 989,413,000 7T ) R B i A 1E H iR SE % 18
BtE - AAAS BT TR B O A
Br ] B R = R A T8 B SR AT BE N 1
[E] o
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B ERR M

20. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH 20. RSl BRI B E X

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING ERESHEE AT
INTERESTS
Details of the Group’s subsidiary that has material non-controlling A ENEEREENANEB B ARG
interests are set out below: BRI
Percentage of equity interest held by non-controlling interests: JEERE R A RER AL
2016 2015
2016 ¢ 20154

China New City Commercial Development F BIETH M B B AR AR

Limited (“CNC?”) (TR EF T ) 26.85% 26.93%
Accumulated balances of non-controlling interests at the reporting RIRE HHAIEIEARREZS BT 4564 ¢
dates:
2016 2015
2016 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETTT

CNC R Bk T 1,017,088 983,161
Profit for the year allocated to non-controlling interests: FAD I T IR E RS B A

2016 2015

2016 20154

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AREET T

CNC AR BT T 36,802 199,355
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PR ER R M

20. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH

212 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING

INTERESTS (CONTINUE

D)

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information of
the above subsidiary. The amounts disclosed are before any inter-

company eliminations:

20. RER D BEH A B
A%

EXF
HRRME LT ()

TREFIA LB R RNPBEREE - fr
KENSEA/NEA AR HE 2 25

CNC
PR B T3
2016 RMB’000
2016 F AR¥T T
Revenue WA 858,371
Other income and gains E U A R 16,832
Changes in fair value of WEMEDNRBEE
investment properties 124,994
Total expenses M 4a%E (863,132)
Profit for the year F A 137,065
Total comprehensive income for the year FAZE W 4258 128,880
Current assets mENEE 3,016,211
Non-current assets EmBEE 8,272,734
Current liabilities mENEE (2,765,683)
Non-current liabilities FERBBE (3,181,203)
Net cash flows used in operating activites =& EEFEMRR S REFAE (442,626)
Net cash flows generated from KEEBELERSRNEFH
investing activities 251,413
Net cash flows used in financing activities B & GEEFERR S REF58 (465,188)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 33& I8 & Z(E Vi HnF 58 (656,401)
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B ERR M

20. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH 20. RE 9 85 19 B Edc%li

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING ZRIREENEEB AT (18
INTERESTS (CONTINUED)
The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information of TREHA LB ARNMEEREE - A7
the above subsidiary. The amounts disclosed are before any inter- WENSBANEA AT B EI 2S5 -
company eliminations: (continued) (&)
CNC
AR BT 4R T
2015 RMB’000
20154 ARBTFTT
Revenue WA 503,986
Other income and gains = PN S 256,899
Changes in fair value of WEMEDNREBEE
investment properties 825,995
Total expenses sz 4a%E (835,710)
Profit for the year F R 751,170
Total comprehensive income for the year  FRAEMEIREE4258 762,418
Current assets MENEE 2,849,154
Non-current assets ERBEE 8,444,010
Current liabilities mENEE (2,072,248)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (4,001,074)
Net cash flows used in operating activites =& EEFERR SR EFE (393,586)
Net cash flows used in investing activites & & EEFEAE S REFHE 719,427
Net cash flows from financing activities BMEEHEARCREEE (119,395)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 7% KI5 & E(E V)G HNF 58 206,446
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21. COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD

21. FEHEEFRME

FOR SALE
2016 2015
2016 F 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Carrying amount at 1 January 1 A1 HZERHEE 4,506,299 4,339,181
Transfer from properties ERE AP (R 14)
under development (note 14) 5,322,836 2,484,146
Transfer to cost of properties sold (note 6) #E# % & HE Y A AN (FizE6) (4,322,573) (2,317,028)
Carrying amount at 31 December 12 A31 B ZREE 5,506,562 4,506,299

As at 31 December 2016, certain of the Group’s completed
properties held for sale of RMB2,947,345,000 (2015:
RMB2,378,376,000) were pledged to secure interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings granted to the Group as disclosed in note 29.

22. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR

VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

12016 F 12 31 H @ AEEE T #H1EH
EBEKYE A AR KE2947,345,000 7T
(20154 : AR#2,378,376,0007T) * #nH
H2OFTHE - BEEAR TASEG BIRTT
AR R B At fE R AR

22. Ll

2016 2015

2016 ¢ 20154

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ETT AREBFIT

Listed equity investments, at market value iz E @ IEHE 491 558

The above equity investments at 31 December 2016 were classified
as held for trading and were, upon initial recognition, designated by
the Group as financial assets as at fair value through profit or loss.

23. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly lease
receivables on credit. The credit period is generally one month,
extending up to three months for major customers. All balances of
the trade receivables as at the end of the year were neither past due
nor impaired and aged within one to three months.

Trade and bills receivables are non-interest-bearing and unsecured.
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AEEEREEFIIVNESERERAEE
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EXFPMExLERE=(EH - BRE S
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24. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND

25

OTHER RECEIVABLES

Notes to Financial Statements
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24. Bt - ReERHER
®IR

2016 2015

2016 20154

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARBFIT

Due from other related parties JRE LS EL At B B 75 SRR (@) 2,397 2,397
Advance to suppliers TEfHE R SR IE 54,258 29,726
Deposits A 54,800 43,180
Prepaid other tax FafE AR IR 267,822 266,344
Other receivables H fth fE M IR 162,853 259,291
542,130 600,938
Impairment BE (b) (62,966) (62,966)
479,164 537,972

(@  Asat 31 December 2016 and 2015, all of the other receivables due from (@ R2016F %2015 12 A31 B * FiaEIRE

other related parties are due from a non-controlling shareholder.

(b) Included in the above provision for impairment of other receivables is a full
provision for individually impaired other receivables of RMB62,966,000 with
a carrying amount before provision of RMB62,966,000 as at 31 December
2016.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AND RESTRICTED CASH

fBAESE 77 Eoth RIS A M I AR B R AROR

()  FEEmEKRRENRERESERERNE
SRE ) EoAth FEURORE H 80 2 BB B AR
62,966,000 7T * 1M 7k &1 & & Al &) BR B 7
20164 12 A 31 H A AR 62,966,000 7T °

25 HeRBREEFERYVREZR
HR &

2016 2015

2016 20154

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT ARET T

Cash and bank balances e MBI RR 1,245,632 1,458,075
Time deposits TE BATF R 196,508 248,699
1,442,140 1,706,774

Less: Restricted cash B ZBRHIRE (495,489) (252,316)
Cash and cash equivalents HeMREEEY 946,651 1,454,458
Current assets MEEE 354,138 162,216
Non-current assets ERBEE 141,351 90,100
Restricted cash 2R HI3R B 495,489 252,316
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25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2. BaRAEFRMRZR

AND RESTRICTED CASH
(CONTINUED)

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods
of between one day and three months depending on the immediate
cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective
short term time deposit rates. The bank balances and restricted
cash are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

Pursuant to relevant regulations in the PRC, certain property
development companies of the Group are required to place in
designated bank accounts certain amounts of pre-sale proceeds
from properties as guarantee deposits for the construction of the
related properties. The deposits can be used for purchases of
construction materials and payments of the construction fees of
the relevant property projects when approval from relevant local
government authorities is obtained. As at 31 December 2016, such
guarantee deposits amounted to approximately RMB297,838,000
(2015: RMB76,526,000).

As at 31 December 2016, certain of the Group’s current time
deposits of RMB55,005,000 (2015: RMB51,659,000) were pledged
to banks as guarantees to mortgage facilities granted to purchasers
of the Group’s properties and certain of the Group’s non-current
time deposits of RMB1,000,000 (2015: RMB1,000,000) were
pledged to banks as guarantees to mortgage facilities granted to
purchasers of the Group’s properties.

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s non-current time deposits
of RMB140,351,000 (2015: 89,100,000) were pledged to secure
a long-term interest-bearing bank loans and certain of the Group’s
current time deposits of RMB152,000 (2015: RMB940,000) were
pledged to secure short-term interest-bearing bank loans granted to
the Group as disclosed in note 29.

Besides, certain of the Group’s bank accounts of approximately
RMB1,143,000 (2015: RMB33,091,000) were guaranteed to banks
for the timely repayment of the loans as disclosed in note 29.
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R BIREER - AEERE TR
A EIZARFTIRER & T 78 & FTiS IBE R
HEERITIRP - (ERBEYEEZRNBERIZ
& o EEVSIERE IR IPIMRL AR - IR
SR AR IE BB Y 2ETE B RSN R K
SEEER - K2016F12A318 © %
BRIZS 4 A AR 297,838,000 7T (2015
F: AR¥76,526,0007T) °

2016512 A31 8 - AEBRETREE
HE R AR K 55,005,000 7L(20155F « AR
51,659,000 7T) EEMTIRIT - 1EAARE
B EERERLBERAOER - mAKE
#% T 3E BN EA E BRTFE SR A % 1,000,000 7T
(20154 : AR¥1,000,0007T) BT IR
T (ERAE B E R ERIRIBE R E
R o

2016412 A31 8 « AN =29 T 5 -
AEEBNIDBEHAFERARE
140,351,000 7T(2015 4 : 89,100,000) E.1E
R - LIS AEEER R BIRITER
ifn & T 455 B B EA 78 BT SR A R 6 152,000
TL(20154F + AR¥E940,0007T) B {EIRIF -
ARSNGB G HART BAR1TER ©

BN AEENETRITTEREOARE
1,143,0007T (2015 4F : A R # 33,091,000
TO)IRFIRTT « LARLIREFEE B (KT
29HFR) °



26. TRADE PAYABLES

27

28
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An aging analysis of the Group’s trade payables as at the end of the

reporting period, based on the payment due dates, is as follows:

26. BT 5 B IR™®

REEENE SRR IR S PARIRNRE B

HEtERRRE T

2016 2015

2016 20154

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT AREET T

Within six months 7NE AR 1,682,979 2,056,558
Over six months but within one year BENEAE—FR 221,791 206,986
Over one year A —F 34,208 56,935
1,938,978 2,320,479

The above balances are unsecured and interest-free and are

normally settled based on the progress of construction.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

b AR T AR Ko 5 B N — IR EE R

B o

27. HtiEM IR BB

2016 2015

2016 F 20154

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥F T ARET T

Deposits related to construction BRAZENLS 79,076 117,257
Payables for acquisition of subsidiaries FLULEERT B A B R RO IE 21,431 22,024
Interest expenses accrued JEETFI B RS 3,086 20,842
Due to a non-controlling shareholder &I FEIE AR AR R B IE 206,364 276,364
Other payables H b FE (S 5RIE 203,269 346,044
603,226 782,531

Other payables are unsecured and interest-free.

ADVANCES FROM CUSTOMERS

Advances from customers represent sales proceeds received from
buyers in connection with the Group’s pre-sale of properties during
the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015.

HiENRAEERRLE

28. BRI

BEEFEMNRERAIEERE Z=2016F K
20154 12 A 31 H I F[E 5T & ¥ 3 iy SR

BERHHESHA °
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29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND 20. iR RITREMEBER
OTHER BORROWINGS
2016 2015
2016 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AREET T

Group rEE
Current: BER :
Bank loans — secured IRITER — B 1,751,613 1,399,181
Bank loans — unsecured IRITE R — EIKH 80,126 80,000
Other loans — secured HibER—HHEMA 300,000 734,000
2,131,739 2,213,181
Non-current: JERNER :
Bank loans — secured IRITER — HIEH 3,136,609 2,981,662
Other loans — secured HAE R — - 1,000,000
3,136,609 3,981,662
5,268,348 6,194,843
Repayable: AR T EARER
Within one year or on demand —F A E KA 2,131,739 2,213,181
Over one year but within two years Z—FEDRRE 1,439,609 1,745,245
Over two years but within five years ZIMEELRAE 1,247,000 1,756,417
Over five years AFENAE 450,000 480,000
5,268,348 6,194,843
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29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK
AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)

Except for certain short term bank and other borrowings amounting
to RMB889,400,000 (2015: RMB2,104,000,000) that bear interest
at fixed rates, all bank loans bear interest at floating rates.

29. Bt R RITR Bt fE ™k (&)

BRETRHBRITREMERBHEHARE
889,400,0007T(20154F = AR#2,104,000,0007T)
REEF BN - FTERITERIRZSF
KRB o

The Group’s bank and other borrowings bear effective interest rates REEHRTT REMEFRIEA T EE R FR

ranging as follows: FMZE A
2016 2015
2016 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBT T

Effective interest rates

EFIE

The carrying amounts of all the Group’s borrowings during the year
were denominated in RMB, Hong Kong dollars, United States dollars

2.11%-12.00%

2.02%-12.00%

AEERFAMBERNEEEIAAR
¥ BT ELRITEHE - RERE

and Canadian dollars. With the following amounts at the end of the ERFEHESTEAT
reporting periods as follows:

2016 2015
2016 F 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBFIT
RMB loans and borrowings AREEFRRER 4,905,220 5,853,507
CAS$ loans and borrowings ITERRER 15,422 13,929
HK$ loans and borrowings BT E SRR AR 45,097 43,990
US$ loans and borrowings ETLERKER 302,609 283,417
5,268,348 6,194,843
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29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK 20. iR TTREMBR (E)
AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)
At 31 December 2016, the Group’s bank and other borrowings were R2016F 12 A31 B ' NEBMBITER K
secured by: EMfE A A TS IEHE -
2016 2015
2016 F 20154
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HisF AR¥T T ARET T
Carrying value of the Group’s assets: AEBEEEZRAAE :
Investment properties "LEME 13 2,355,739 3,692,270
Properties under development akaask7/ES 14 2,599,476 2,741,732
Property and equipment I EYNE 12 132,540 144,327
Completed properties held for sale RSB EB % 21 2,947,345 2,378,376
Restricted cash SRR HIR G 25 141,646 123,131
100% equity interest in a subsidiary of AEE—EHIBAR
the Group 2 EPRRAE 51,000 6,000
8,227,746 9,085,836
At 31 December 2016, the Group’s borrowings of RMB60,700,000 R20166F12A31H &K &£ B K & &
(2015: RMB946,290,000) were guaranteed by Mr. Shi Kancheng A K ®60,700,0007C (20154 : A R ¥
(note 33(c)). 946,290,000 7T ) A At AT A 5E 4= HE 4R (B 5%

33(c)) °
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30. SHARE CAPITAL 30. B &
Shares 80
2016 2015
2016 20154
’000 ’000
Frx T
Authorised: VETE
4,000,000,000 ordinary shares 4,000,000,000 A =R E
of HK$0.10 each 0108 TRy E B HK$400,000 HK$400,000
Issued and fully paid: BEETRAR :
2,348,582,400 ordinary shares 2,348,582,400 fx Z IR (B
of HK$0.10 each 0108 TRy EBAR RMB220,811 RMB220,811
Number of Share
shares Share premium
in issue capital account Total
BRITRGSAE A R RER #st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB 000
AR®TT ARETr AR¥Tx
At 31 December 2015 and R2015F12 A31 B R
31 December 2016 201612 A 31 H 2,348,582,400 220,811 2,966,252 3,187,063

31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Eligible participants of the Scheme include the directors,
including independent non-executive directors, other employees of
the Group, suppliers of goods or services to the Group, customers
of the Group, the Company’s shareholders, third parties, and any
non-controlling shareholder in the Company’s subsidiaries. The
Scheme became effective on 15 May 2009 and, unless otherwise

cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from the offer

date.

RNABIRN—
M AR EEEREL BERNE B2 H
HIRMHEE R IZE) - ZtEINEEIR2EE
BEREZ(BEBUINTES) RAEE
Higs -
- AEENES - ARRKRE - F=H
AR AN A
AT 2200945 A15H AR + BRIERBTESH
5ET

31. Bk at &

RSB ([Z138)) - A

AASERHE ARG HE

R A A R ERIEERAR © 3%

BRIFAEN B RRTFABR
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 31. FEBR4E R & (#8)

(CONTINUED)

The initial maximum number of shares which may be allotted and
issued upon exercise of all options granted (excluding options which
have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Scheme and other
share option schemes of the Group, if any) under the Scheme and
other share option schemes of the Group (if any) must not exceed
10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at 15 May 2009,
being the date of approval of the Scheme by the shareholders at the
annual general meeting of the Company. Such maximum number
may however be refreshed at a general meeting of the Company
by shareholders. In addition, no options may be granted under the
Scheme or other share option schemes adopted by the Group (if
any) if the grant of such options will result in the maximum number
of shares which may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted but yet to be exercised under the
Scheme and other share option schemes adopted by the Group
(if any) exceeding 30% of the issued share capital of the Company
from time to time. The maximum number of shares issuable under
share options to each eligible participant in the Scheme within any
12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of this
limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are
subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
directors. In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the price of the Company’s shares at the date of
grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are
subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted by the grantee
within 21 days from the date of offer at a consideration of HK$1.00.
The exercise period of the share options granted is determinable by
the directors, and commences after a vesting period of one to five
years and ends on a date which is not later than 10 years from the
date of offer of the share options or the expiry date of the Scheme, if
earlier.
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 31. ISR fERT S (48)
(CONTINUED)
The exercise price of share options is determinable by the directors, BIREZITEEBRESETE - BRAHERA
but may not be less than the highest of: TEREE :
()  the Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on () ARARD R EREZ 4 B BER R
the date of offer of the share options; Tz WmvE ;
(i)  the average Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s (i) ARRROREBZEZHAERIAES
shares for the five trading days immediately preceding the ¥HEBRTZ FHWTHE : &
date of offer; and
(i)~ the nominal value of a share of the Company. (i) AREEFHRBEHBEE -
Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to PR N B, T 358 A A R B SR AR
vote at shareholders’ meetings. e HIRE 7R -
The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme FRNZTEITE N AREITE Z BB T ¢
during the year:
2016 2015
2016 £F 20154
Weighted Weighted
Average average
exercise Number exercise Number
price of options price  of options
InFEFS B R fE NS fEARE
TEE ®A TEE £ gE|
HK$ HK$
per share ’000 per share ‘000
BRBT T4 FiHTT TFn
At 1 January 1H1H 1.84 187,611 1.85 190,473
Cancelled during the year FNEH 1.85 (800) 2.25 (2,862)

At 31 December 12431 H 1.84 186,811 1.84 187,611
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

(CONTINUED)

31. RERx#ERT &I (¥8)

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options

outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2016

Number of options

Exercise price*

RS B W AR TE BB 2 T E K178
B

2016 F

Exercise period

BRERE per share 1TfEHA

’000 TEE>

T4 =1

78,000 HK$1.46 10 July 2013 to 9 July 2023
1.467%87T 20137 A10HE 202347 A9H
69,400 HK$1.85 22 January 2014 to 21 January 2021
1.8587C 2014F1 A22BHE 202141 21 H
39,411 HK$2.58 9 July 2010 to 8 July 2019
2.58 77T 20107 H9HZE201947 A8H

186,811

2015

Number of options

Exercise price*

2015

Exercise period

BRESE per share 1TfEH8

’000 TEE

T3 =T
78,000 HK$1.46 10 July 2013 to 9 July 2023
1.46 /87T 20137 A10BZE2023%7 A9H
70,200 HK$1.85 22 January 2014 to 21 January 2021
1.85/87C 2014F1 A22 HE 202141 A 21 H
39,411 HK$2.58 9 July 2010 to 8 July 2019
2.58 77T 20107 H9BZ= 201947 A8H
187,611

* The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in case of * BRENITEEERRKARETERA T

rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share

capital.
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

(CONTINUED)

The Group recognised no share option expense (2015: Nil) during
the year ended 31 December 2016.

The expected life of the options is the validity of the options upon
the grant date and until expiry. It is not necessarily indicative of
the exercise patterns that may occur. The suboptimal exercise
behaviour multiple is applied to the exercise price, and indicates the
stock price at which the holders of the option may exercise prior to
expiration. The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the
historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not
necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into the
measurement of fair value.

As none of the share options was exercised during the year, there
was no impact on the ordinary shares, share capital and share
premium of the Company.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 186,810,856
share options outstanding under the Scheme. The exercise in full
of the outstanding share options would, under the present capital
structure of the Company, result in the issue of 186,810,856
additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional share
capital of RMB16,710,000 (before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company
had 186,810,856 share options outstanding under the Scheme,
which represented approximately 7.95% of the Company’s shares in
issue as at that date.

32. RESERVES

(@) Share premium

The share premium represents the excess of ordinary shares
paid by the shareholders over their nominal value.

Notes to Financial Statements
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31. RERx#ERT &I (¥8)

KREFBREZ2016F 12 A 31 H ILFEER
BBRER Y BZ (201646 1 &) -

Bl FRAREZ FEZERRE
2 RN - BERVTRRARER A 21T
RN - RBITEITAEIERRITEER
HERBRER B AR R ERAITTEZEE
1% o TRERIM IR SR R R AR SR T FRUR AR 2R
B ETRVESERER

R BRI 2 R A B A A
ZitEm -

BN FALEBRERETTE - RLEHAR
AR - RSB OREERTE

RBmEBHR NAAIRZTETE
186,810,856 17 fE IR #E = R 1T fE - N2 5
B ARAT R RE AR AE 2 BT - BITEAR R A]
WIRARANEET  HBBEBEINET
186,810,856 R AN A Al F BB R EE AR
# 16,710,000 7T 2 BHIMNZ A (FOBRZETTE A
Al)

PHbE ST EHRE 2B - AR ERZE
T4 186,810,856 {0 BE AR AE AT T - S
RARBIRZBEEITIRDE7.95% °

32. i

(a) BHEE

Bt s B CR N 2 BB e R
BEEE -
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32. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

(d)

226 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the
difference between the aggregate of the nominal value of
the paid-up capital of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant
to the reorganisation of the Group from 2006 to 2007 for
the purpose of preparation for the listing of the shares of
the Company on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong, and the nominal value of the Company’s shares
issued in exchange therefor. Prior to the incorporation of the
Company, the contributed surplus represented the aggregate
of the normal values of the paid-up capital of the subsidiaries
of the Group.

Capital reserve

Capital reserve represents the additional contribution made
by the shareholders of the Company’s subsidiaries and, in the
case of acquisition of an additional non-controlling interest of a
subsidiary, the difference between the cost of acquisition and
the book value of the non-controlling interest acquired.

Statutory surplus reserve and statutory
reserve fund

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC and
the respective articles of association of the PRC group
companies, each of the subsidiaries of the Group that is
domiciled in Mainland China is required to allocate 10% of its
profit after tax, as determined in accordance with the PRC
Accounting Regulations, to the statutory surplus reserve
(the “SSR”) until such reserve reaches 50% of its registered
capital.

In addition, certain of the PRC group companies are foreign
investment enterprises which are not subject to the SSR
allocation. According to the relevant PRC regulations
applicable to foreign investment enterprises, each of these
subsidiaries is required to allocate a certain portion (not less
than 10%) of its profit after tax, as determined in accordance
with the PRC Accounting Regulations, to the statutory reserve
fund until such reserve reaches 50% of its registered capital.
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  33. BB 5% 5
In addition to the transactions and balances detailed elsewhere in MRS HRRTIRERR 5 RAEERIN -
these consolidated financial statements, the Group had the following RNEBRNERNEBR HHET T THEKRRZ
material transactions with related parties during the year: 2
(a)  Compensation of key management personnel of the Group @ AEEFEEEAENTHN(EEE
which comprises the remuneration of the directors is EHM) ERMIFES K -
disclosed in note 8.
(b)  As disclosed in note 24 and note 27, the Group had balances (b) AMIEE24 KMzt 27 PR © 722016
due from/to related parties at 31 December 2016 and 2015. FR20156F 12 A31H ' AEBAFE
The balances due from/to related parties arose from non-trade U /RS RABS T 456k - FEUR FEAH RS
activities, unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. BT R IER SR B MEL « JhiE

R 2B RNEREER

(© As disclosed in note 29, the Group’s borrowings of ©  INPIEE29FTHRER - PY2016 412 A 31
RMB60,700,000 (2015: RMB946,290,000) were guaranteed B - AEE SR AR60,700,000
by Mr. Shi Kancheng at 31 December 2016. TL(20154F © ARM946,290,0007T) F
MEALBC ST IR -
34. COMMITMENTS 34. BEXRiE
The Group had the following commitments for property development RERR  NEBEMERES HE
expenditure at the end of the reporting period: AEPET -
2016 2015
2016 F 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AREET T

Contracted, but not provided for: BRIABEREE
Properties under development FEER Y2 1,058,429 1,266,578

35. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 35. & & & i

As lessee fEREBA

The Group leases certain of its office premises under operating AEERBEEHERHEREETHAE
lease arrangements, negotiated for terms of five years with an option M - REEERARRST - WALRERE
for renewal after the expiry dates, at which time all terms will be HRARESHER2BIER TEHE -
renegotiated.
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35. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 35. S E&IE ()

36.

228 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

(CONTINUED)

At 31 December 2016, the Group had total future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling due as
follows:

R2016F 12 A31 H » NEBEIRE Al H44
AR E MmN 7R R A B R R R FER
FEFIAEEZENT ¢

2016 2015
2016 ¢ 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARBFIT
Within one year —FR 7,401 7,961
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_EFERF(EREMEBEEN) 15,688 18,580
After five years hFE 16,781 20,501
39,870 47,042
=
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 36. A AR
2016 2015
2016 ¢ 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBFIT
Guarantees given to banks for: BLLATRIE B 48 TERITHIFELR
Mortgage facilities granted REBEYEE RER
to purchasers
of the Group’s properties IRITHEBER 4,124,435 3,867,074

The Group provided guarantees in respect of the mortgage
facilities granted by certain banks to the purchasers of the Group’s
properties. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantee arrangements,
in case of default on mortgage payments by the purchasers,
the Group is responsible for repaying the outstanding mortgage
loans together with any accrued interest and penalty owed by the
defaulted purchasers to the banks. The Group is then entitled to take
over the legal titles of the related properties. The Group’s guarantee
periods commence from the dates of grant of the relevant mortgage
loans and end after the execution of individual purchasers’ collateral
agreements.

The Group did not incur any material losses during the reporting
period in respect of the guarantees provided for mortgage facilities
granted to the purchasers of the Group’s properties. The directors
consider that in case of default on payments, the net realisable value
of the related properties can cover the repayment of the outstanding
mortgage loans together with any accrued interest and penalty,
and therefore no provision has been made in connection with the
guarantees.
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 37. LIRSS ER T R
CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial BT ANRERROEREERNT -
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
2016 2016
Financial assets SREE
Financial
assets
at fair value
Available- through
for-sale profit or loss
Loans and financial ~ UAREE
receivables assets FTEEHZH
E¥R AfHE FAEHER Total
EFE SREE HEREE gt

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE AR®TR ARMTR  ARET:R

Available-for-sale investments AHHERE - 28,300 - 28,300
Long term deposit REEX 94,214 - - 94,214
Loans and receivables from a joint venture  RE—HASCEEFR M EKTE 173,246 - - 173,246
Trade and bills receivables FEME SRR M g 78,321 - - 78,321
Financial assets included, in prepayments, st ATERTFUE - 124 R EAM

deposits and other receivables FUFEFMEREE 157,084 - - 157,084
Equity investments at fair value NAAEEFEAEZS)

through profit or loss AR HERnEREE - - 491 491
Restricted cash XE IR E 495,489 - - 495,489
Cash and cash equivalents RBeRALEEY 946,651 - - 946,651
At 31 December 2016 201612 A31H 1,945,005 28,300 491 1,973,796
2016 2016 &
Financial liabilities A==k

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

RS A

LRIAE

RMB’000

AR%T T

Trade payables B E SRR 1,938,978

Financial liabilities included in FT AE A FE S SR8 K.

other payables and accruals EAERTHeREE 590,189
Interest-bearing bank STESRITE R R H M ERK

and other borrowings 5,268,348

7,797,515
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 7B smeEmIR

CATEGORY (CONTINUED) ()
2015 2015 F
Financial assets SREE
Financial
assets
at fair value
through
Available-  profit or loss
Loans and forsadle  MRAREE
recelvables financial assets  sTEEH&F)
B R EnE  FAESRER Total
YR SREE  RNEREE @5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT AR®ETR
Available-for-sale investments HHERE - 3,300 - 3,300
Long term deposit REER 66,001 - = 66,001
Loans and receivables from a joint venture  JRE —fHAE M EE T K KA - - - -
Trade and bills receivables BUWE SRR REE 72,198 = - 72,198
Financial assets included, in prepayments,  sF ATERZUE « & R E 4
deposits and other receivables YA S REE 241,902 - - 241,902
Equity investments at fair value AR EEEEEZE)
through profit or loss AR BiERnEREE - - 558 558
Restricted cash XBHERS 252,316 - - 252,316
Cash and cash equivalents RekREEEN 1,454,458 - = 1,454,458
At 31 December 2015 2015% 12 A31H 2,086,875 3,300 558 2,090,733
Financial liabilities THAE

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

REERK AR HY

=N

RMB’000

ARBFIT

Trade payables JEISE SRR 2,320,479

Financial liabilities included in ST AR AT IR K2

other payables and accruals EAERTHEREE 748,707
Interest-bearing bank and FPERITER R EAEK

other borrowings 6,194,843

9,264,029
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 38.
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

-

TRMAARERS
[E3R18

T
]

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s and the
Company’s financial instruments, other than those with carrying
amounts that reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

AEERANGeRTANKREBERARE
BEOT - ERAEEA A BESEEEER
N

Carrying amounts Fair values
IREE AREE
2016 2015 2016 2015
2016 F 20154 2016 F 20154

RMB’000 RMB'0O00  RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AREBTT AR®TR ARETT

Financial liabilities cHMAasE
ST EERIT R
other borrowings HABIEK

Interest-bearing bank and

5,268,348

6,194,843 5,160,875 6,006,316

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, the current portion of restricted cash, trade
and bills receivables, trade payables, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, and financial liabilities
included in other payables and accruals approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments. The non-current portions of restricted cash, long term
deposit and available-for-sale investments approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the insignificant amounts or short
remaining maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were used
to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of the interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
have been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows
using rates currently available for instruments with similar terms,
credit risk and remaining maturities.

BHRREMREEEY - SRR EHORE
B BRESERNFE  RE—HAE
CEERLEWFIE - BNESERHR - FtA
BNFOR - e NEAMRKFIETNERE
ENRFFARMENSUARET BRSPS
BB EREY AERINERRNIE - HE
BEER/RETIAAABEEAREEM
= XREIREHOIERE D - RETFRR
AR EREREREERS - T2AR
ZETENSBRIEARREHNAZE -

ERMEERBENAABENZTARERE
X7 (MIFRAIBRHE)EARS TH)
AR SEBARR ° TIITDERBRII ARG

HRREE:

AERRITERRAMEBERNAABETER
R TARBCURKARONE - FERR
R TEIHAMRBHAKRE REMaT
1
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted
market prices. The fair values of unlisted available-for-sale equity
investments have been estimated using a discounted cash flow
valuation model based on assumptions that are not supported
by observable market prices or rates. The valuation requires the
directors to make estimates about the expected future cash flows
including expected future dividends and proceeds on subsequent
disposal of the shares. The directors believe that the estimated fair
values resulting from the valuation technique, which are recorded
in the consolidated statement of financial position, and the related
changes in fair values, which are recorded in other comprehensive
income, are reasonable, and that they were the most appropriate
values at the end of the reporting period.

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of
the Group’s financial instruments:
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE .EMTANLRABERLY
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL REEZEE (|E)
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
Assets measured at fair value: UAREBEFTENEE :

Fair value measurement using
AREEFERALE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs

EXRTERE BEARRT

SEETERE 2 BEyE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
£—& ot E=MR 5t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®BTRT AR®TRT ARETR

As at 31 December 2016 2016412 A 31 H 491 - - 491

As at 31 December 2015 201512 A31H 558 = = 558
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and cash
equivalents, restricted cash and interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to
raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various
other financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and
trade payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for
trading purposes. The board of directors review and agree policies
for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below:

(a) Interest rate risk

The Group has no significant interest-bearing assets. The
Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s bank and other
borrowings with floating interest rates. The Group has not
used any interest rate swaps to hedge its interest rate risk.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to change
in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, of
the Group’s profit before tax (through the impact on floating
rate borrowings) and the Group’s equity, assuming all the
increases or decreases are deal with in profit or loss account,
without consideration of interest capitalisation.
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 0. MEREEEEERBER
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (8,)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Interest rate risk (continued) (@) FIZ=mE B (&)
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in in profit (decrease)
basis points before tax in equity
Eahem BRA A1 F LM,
Om2) #hn, G Om2)
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AR¥T T
2016 2016 &
RMB ARE 50 (24,526) (18,395)
uss$ ET 50 (1,513) (1,135)
HK$ BIT 50 (225) (169)
CA$ ot 50 (77) (58)
RMB ARE (50) 24,526 18,395
uss$ X (50) 1,513 1,135
HK$ BIT (50) 225 169
CA$ ot (50) 77 58
2015 20154
RMB AR 50 (29,268) (21,951)
us$ £ 50 (1,417) (1,063)
HK$ BIT 50 (220) (165)
CA$ hnc 50 (70) (52)
RMB AR (50) 29,268 21,951
uss$ £ (50) 1,417 1,063
HK$ BIT (50) 220 165
CA$ ot (50) 70 52
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(b) Foreign currency risk

The Group’s businesses are located in Mainland China and
all transactions are conducted in RMB. Most of the Group’s
assets and liabilities are denominated in RMB, except for
certain bank balances and bank loans denominated in US$

and HK$.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the
US$ and HK$ exchange rates, with all other variables hold
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax and the Group’s

30. HERREEEMRBE

=

(b)

S bR

ZRER B By 26 7% 2 R A P B A AEE AT
FIBRZERAARE - REBKE
DEERBBEUAREE  &TMN
ETRETAHERSRITESRKLRITE

RSN

TRIVRAE BERR T AT FE R A K E
RaERREPREETRBTEERS
R RE R BN BURE - MEPTA B AR AT

BRERETE -

equity.
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease) Increase/
foreign in profit (decrease)
currency rate before tax in equity
HEER BRBL A0 A R
#hn,/ i) #in,/ CRd) #in,/ ORd)
% RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT
2016 2016 F
If HK$ weakens against US$ (VB v AL 5 (10,309) (7,732)
If HK$ strengthens against US$ WL ETTAE (5) 10,309 7,732
If RMB weakens against US$ WARKHETRE 5 2,030 1,522
If RMB strengthens against US$ HWARERETHE (5) (2,030) (1,522)
2015 20154
If HK$ weakens against US$ (VB v AL 5 (16,480) (11,970)
If HK$ strengthens against US$ /BT R T HE (5) 16,480 11,970
If RMB weakens against US$ WARBHETRE 5 7,215 5,411
If RMB strengthens against US$ HARERETHE () (7,215) (5,411)
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

Credit risk

The Group has no concentration of credit risk. The Group’s
cash and cash equivalents are mainly deposited with overseas
banks and state-owned banks in Mainland China. The
carrying amounts of the other receivables, restricted cash
and cash and cash equivalents included in the consolidated
statement of financial position represent the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial
assets. The Group has no other financial assets which carry
significant exposure to credit risk. The Group has arranged
bank financing for certain purchasers of its property units and
has provided guarantees to secure the obligations of such
purchasers for repayments. Detailed disclosures of these
guarantees are included in note 34.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial assets
(e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash flows from
operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank and
other borrowings.

(c)

(d)
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 0. MEREEEEHERBEK
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)
(d) Liquidity risk (continued) (d) KEBELER (&)
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at BEFTARERNR - AEEERA
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual ERRERROBIEBHEMRAT ¢

undiscounted payments, is as follows:

2016
2016 F
Less than 3 to less than 1to5 Over
On demand 3months 12 months years 5 years Total
3EAZ
REX  SR3ER  HR12M8A 125% 5ENE st

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARMTR ARBTT ARBTR ARMTR AR®T:n

Interest-bearing bank FTERTER

and other borrowings REMIER 440,950 283,000 1,407,789 2,686,609 450,000 5,268,348
Interest payable in BERTREMER

relation to bank and HIERIAE

other borrowings - 79,580 201,198 314,475 36,829 632,082
Trade payables EREZER 1,938,978 - - - - 1,938,978
Guarantees given to PR TAEEYE

banks in connection BEXNEBER

with mortgage BT RITHER

facilities granted to

purchasers of the

Group’s properties - 4,124,435 - - - 4,124,435
Other payables HAERTUE

and accruals RIEGHER 590,189 - - - - 590,189

2,970,117 4,487,015 1,608,987 3,001,084 486,829 12,554,032
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 0. MBERBEEREERERBEK
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (¥8)
(CONTINUED)
(d) Liquidity risk (continued) (d) REBELER (&)
2015
20154
Lessthan 310 less than 1105 Over
On demand 3months 12 months years 5 years Total
3MEAZE
BER  DPRIEA LR120EA 1E5%F 5FLAE st

RMB'000O ~ RMB000 ~ RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARRTR ARMTR ARRTR ARMTR ARRTR ARETR

Interest-bearing bank FTERTER

and other borrowings REMER - 233219 1979962 3,501,662 480000 6,194,843
Interest payable in BRRTREMER

relation to bank and RIS

other borrowings — 104,347 268,187 499,087 50,800 912,421
Trade payables ERESER 2,320,479 - - - - 2320479
Guarantees given to FETAEEYE

banks in connection BEXNEBER

with mortgage BTHRITMER

facilities granted to

purchasers of the

Group’s properties - 2,606,012 - 1,361,062 - 3,867,074
Other payables HE(IFE

and accruals REEGHER 450,319 - - 298,388 - 748,707

2,770,798 2,843,578 2,238,149 5,660,199 530,800 14,043,524
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

240 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

(e) Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
net debt divided by capital plus net debt. Net debt includes
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, trade payables,
other payables and the accruals, less cash and cash
equivalents. Capital represents equity attributable to owners
of the parent. The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting
periods were as follows:

0. HERBEEERRKE

18

(e)

EXEE

AEBEAEENTIEBENEERE
AEBREHHELEREREFNE
AR - UXFHERBRERRER
RAE °

REBMEBHEERNER - WIRBCE
AR5 B 2 B R AR B A EE ) BB R R
HHEIELAE - RERNARERNE
& AEERRERAES N FREAR
B BERRETRESRFITHR
15 BZE2016F & 2015F 12 431 H
IEFE - AEEREREREENE
2 - BURSIRFFIEH EEE -

AEBEREEABHLRETER
ZEBEERBLERAFERRAZEAM
FEE - FHERBEBERITERK
HipfE5k - A E SRR EMER
FRREEER  BRASRASEFE
W o BARTIBARBIREGER - X
BREMRNEERBLENAT ¢

2016 2015
2016 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARET T
Interest-bearing bank and FTRIRITTE R R E AL SR
other borrowings 5,268,348 6,194,843
Trade payables FERTE SRR 1,938,978 2,320,479
Other payables and accruals E o (S 5E K e AT & A 603,226 782,531
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B RERRESEEY (946,651) (1,454,458)
Net debt R EIE 6,863,901 7,843,395
Equity attributable to B RRHEA AELER
owners of the parent 6,541,100 6,410,223
Capital and net debt BEARNINFEIR 13,405,001 14,253,618
Gearing ratio BEAMELR 51% 55%
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40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company

at the end of the reporting period is as follows:
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40. FLFM BRI TR

BRAARRRRE®E AR A BT E R

N

2016 2015
2016 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries YK E 2,697,307 2,427,069
Property and equipment EENEE 1,505 1,927
Total non-current assets IERBEERE 2,698,812 2,428,996
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEURBTE A BIZRIE 100,000 340,188
Prepayments, deposits and TERER - HRE REAFRIR
other receivables 13,186 12,335
Equity investments at fair AR EEZ A &)
value through profit or loss FTAE HiEmmERRE 491 558
Cash and cash equivalents HeMIREEEY 6,640 1,860
Total current assets RENEERE 120,317 354,941
Current liabilities REBEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries RN EPNGIE S 331,931 278,317
Other payables and accruals HAb e FRIBE R IERTE A 1,085 1,016
Total current liabilities mENBEATE 333,016 279,333
Net current (liabilities)/assets wE(BE) BEEFE (212,699) 75,608
Total assets less current liabilities #AEERREBERZ 2,486,113 2,504,604
Net assets BEE 2,486,113 2,504,604
Equity i
Share capital A& 220,811 220,811
Reserves (G 2,265,302 2,283,793
Total equity MR 2,486,113 2,504,604
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR ER R M

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

40. F LT MFBRR T (&)

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: ARATEEE R T
Retained
Share Exchange profits/ Share
premium fluctuation (accumulated option
account reserve losses) reserve Total
3) EX REE/ fR IR
BBk EBREE  (REER) 1] st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETR ARETR AREKTE ARETR
At 1 January 2015 2015F1A1H 2,966,252 (631,040 (261,042) 156,325 2,330,495
Total comprehensive loss for the year  FRZEBRARE - (35,869) (10,833) - (46,702)
Transfer of share option reserve PERAER I
upon the forfeiture or expiry o E e A
of share options ARG - - 3,572 (3,572) -
At 31 December 2015 2015%12 A31H
and 1 January 2016 %2016 1 A1H 2,966,252 (566,909) (268,303) 152,753 2,283,793
Total comprehensive loss for the year  FERZ EE LR - (8,334) (10,157) - (18,491)
Transfer of share option reserve RERERZ I
upon the forfeiture or expiry o R
of share options BRERE - - 842 (842) -
At 31 December 2016 201612 A31H 2,966,252 (575,243) (277,618) 151,911 2,265,302

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share options
granted which are yet to be exercised, as further explained in the
accounting policy for share-based payments in note 30 to the
financial statements. The amount will either be transferred to the
share premium account when the related options are exercised, or
be transferred to retained profits should the related options expire or
be forfeited.
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41. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING

42

PERIOD

On 11 January 2017, Zhejiang Zhongan Shenglong Commercial
Co., Ltd. (“Zhong An Shenglong”), an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of China New City Commercial Development Limited
(“China New City”) (which is a subsidiary of the Company listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited(“Stock Exchange”)),
entered into a memorandum of understanding (“MOU”) with
Hangzhou Oriental Culture Tourism Group Co., Ltd (“Hangzhou
Oriental”) in relation to the proposed acquisition by Zhong An
Shenglong of 42.5% of the entire equity interests in Zhejiang
Xinnongdou Industrial Co., Ltd (“Zhejiang Xinnongdou”) from
Hangzhou Oriental (“Proposed Acquisition”). The proposed
consideration for the Proposed Acquisition is expected to be about
RMB700 million, which will be settled partly by cash and partly
by the issue of new shares in China New City. The consideration
for the Proposed Acquisition will be further negotiated, which is
to be determined by reference to the net asset value of Zhejiang
Xinnongdou as shown in its audited consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 (subject to
adjustment by the parties based on the results of the due diligence
review). Under the MOU, Zhong An Shenglong has paid a refundable
earmnest deposit in the amount of RMB127 million to Hangzhou
Oriental. Details of the Proposed Acquisition are set out in the
announcement of the Company jointly issued with China New City
dated 11 January 2017.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the board of directors on 27 March 2017.

Notes to Financial Statements
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(AN 5N

R20179F1 B11 8 » AREREBEBHAER
SEERAR ([BRFT]) EmekE AR
A B 3Tk T s SR R R A BR A & ([ BT
)2 EEEREWE A BT R RER
XARAA([REERE ] B EIMER X
{tRREEBER AR (MRS L) ETL
RERETS ([ RERERE]) - NABBRE
BRI S A MU BR 5 AT = AT ([T
HEH ) 2BBREZ425% ([BEKES
B  EHERWBEEERNERNA
AR HE 700,000,000 7 + EEHMA AR & KB
DB BEATRBEFIR T RRD 2 7 AT ©
ERWBEEFE2REB2EMINEIE
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Properties Held for Investment

FIERENYE

As at 31 December 2016 742016412 431 H

Percentage
of interest
Existing use at GFA attributable to Lease term
31 December 2016 (sg.- m.) the Group of land
Address 12016 F BEEER AKEEEN TiEHE
ok 1231 BWREAZE (FHK) EZHNEIEE HHR
1. Basement 1 to Level 15, Guomao Building, Shops and portion 12,225 59.2% Medium (Note)
No. 93 Shixin Road, Chengxiang Town, of it is vacant, and
Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang serviced apartments
Province, the PRC
PRI EMMmmILERNFEET /O3 AEMHBN=ERR 12,225 59.2% R AR (Bt EE)
FEEA B E 1 EEE 158 BROE
2. A retail shop unit on L1, Shanghai La Vie, Shop 341 65.8% Medium
No. 433 Chang Le Road, Xuhui District,
Shanghai, the PRC
B EgTIRER REIKA33TE R E i 341 65.8% Gl
F1Er 1 ErH
3 Portion of Level 1, the whole of Level 2 to Shops and portion of 5,913 65.8% Medium
Level 4, Integrated Service Center, East it is vacant
Xiaoran Road and Jinjiagiao Road, Xiaoshan
District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province,
the PRC
HENT AN TR LREARE R SR PSR E {22 5913  65.8% HEA
BEEERETOFE1BHIME2EE 4
=
4, Retail shop units of Level 1 to Level 5 Shops and portion of 60,014 65.8% Medium
in Block 2 to Block 5 of Highlong Plaza, it is vacant
Shanyin Road and Gongren Road, Xiaoshan
District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, the
PRC
Fh BT A& A T AR L L R B RN AR AN EE 60,014  65.8% Gl
BEESE2REESRCE1EESEN
Sk
5.  Office units in Block 2 of Highlong Plaza, Office and portion of 24,491 65.8% Medium
Shanyin Road, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, it is vacant
Zhejiang Province, the PRC
R BT A MU AR 2 1L R B 1B 2 55 HNEFEHZEE 24,491 65.8% rh HA
BRI NEENL
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Properties Held for Investment

FERENMR

As at 31 December 2016 72016412 A 31 H

Percentage
of interest
Existing use at GFA attributable to Lease term
31 December 2016 (sg- m.) the Group of land
Address 2016 F EEEE AKEENG ok if: ok |
3 12A BNREAR (FHK) EENEIL QOHR
0. Serviced apartment units in Block 3 and 4 of ~ Serviced apartments 21,094 65.8% Medium

Highlong Plaza, Shanyin Road and Gongren

Road, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou,

Zhejiang Province, the PRC

A BT & B T AR LU L R B RN A BR REAAE 21,094  65.8% R
BEESEIREEIRZBREALE

7. Retail shop units of Level 1 to Level 2 Shops and portion of 10,154 65.8% Medium
(Phase 1) and the whole block of No.43 it is vacant
commercial building (Phase 2), Landscape
Garden, Shushan Road and Panshui Road,
Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang
Province, the PRC

R BT S TR LU R & L B A K R PSRRI = E 10,154 65.8% ]
WKZEEA BB EFE 2 B R E 2 %
1R 43 57 1Z

8. Retail shop units of Hidden Dragon Bay, Shops and portion of 24,211 67.6% Medium
Wenxing Village, Wenyan Town Xiaoshan it is vacant
District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, the
PRC
R BT A A T AL [ R A e A EHME R EE 24,211 67.6% Fh g

9. Blocks 1, 2, 3, 4, and 6 of Hangzhou Office and shops and 148,961 73.1% Medium
International Office Centre, Ningwei Town, portion of it is vacant

Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang
Province, the PRC

R BT A T AL [ 22 SR N B B MBS R 148,961 73.1% HER
HAHRMNT 23 4R6HR =B

10. Retail shop units of Level 1 to Level 2 in Shops and portion of it 3,099 100% Medium
Phase | of Vancouver City, Jinhua Yuan, is vacant
Remin Road, Huaibei, Anhui Province, the
PRC
B E L T A REOR ST ZE I —AAER SEERIE = 3,099 100% Hh AA

EEIEFE2EEH

Note: Medium is defined as the term of land use rights granted remaining unexpired at the ~ Ffiak : FHIER AR MISFEERE - Bt H T AR

end of the financial year is less than 50 years but not less than 10 years. Al E A E R A NR 50 F - BT/ NR 104 »
L\ Investment property classified as held for sale i DERFHIEHENREYZE
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale

FERER SHHEENYE

% of
Land Cost interest
per sq.m. attributable
(RMB)  Land Cost to the Group Site Area
BEME  (RMB'000) A5H (squm,)
Project City/District Location Project Type (ARERL/  LfRE Pt R HEER  Project GFA*
=R i/ & EER NERENE ¥iK)  (AR¥TT) R (Fhx) BRAREER"
Zhejiang Province
-
1 Landscape Bay Xiaoshan, Hangzhou ~ Centre of new district in Residential 485 145,367 92.7% 215,334 300,012
S UM /2L Tier 2 cty frz
AR
2 Hidden Dragon Bay Xiaoshan, Hangzhou  Centre of new district in Residential/retailoffice 1,491 360,360 67.6% 89,178 241,695
BiiL /@ Tier 2 city £/ 58/ H g
-
3 Huifeng Plaza (A) Xiaoshan, Hangzhou  Town centre of Tier 2cy  Residential retal 4107 280,671 90.0% 21,497 68,345
ELEA () il /& ZHERD e/ h
4 Huifeng Plaza (B) Xiaoshan, Hangzhou  Town centre of Tier 2city ~ Commercial 679 8,600 90.0% 11,340 12,620
E2E5 (A% fill/ &l IR i
5 Phase A, International Office  Xiaoshan, Hangzhou ~ Tier 2 city with high growth  Commercial 269 215,246 73.1% 92,610 798,795
Centre /&l potential i
ERRAT LA T
6 Phase B & C, International Xiaoshan, Hangzhou  Tier 2 city with high growth ~ Commercal 458 502,512 73.1% 207,390 1,098,065
Office Centre UM/ &L potential i
ERHATLBCH ZBEER
7 White Horse Manor Xiaoheshan, Tier 2 city with high growth ~ Residential 2,269 550,000 90.0% 145,265 243,497
BEWE Hangzhou potential frz
/ML T
8 Hangzhou Qiandao Lake Run ~ Qiandao Lake, Tier 2 city with high growth ~ Residential/hotel 4,728 220,747 73.1% 119,398 46,691
Zhou Resort Hotel Hangzhou potenta fre/ R
IITSHENEREE Wi/ TE8 —GRER
9 [deal Bay Yuhang, Hangzhou ~ Town centre of Tier 2cy  Residential retal 1,548 834,000 459% 168,743 538,806
B full/ & R e/ Ed
10 Chaoyang No. 8 Kiaoshan, Hengzhou  Town centre of Tier 2city  Residential/retai 3,696 736,390 90%/65.79% 46,708 199,224
585 full/Ril ZHEERD fr /i
11 College Sauare Yuhang, Hangzhou  Tier 2 city with high growth ~ Residential retal 1,328 269,380 90.00% 52,359 195,293
B2g M/ i potentia /g
ZheER
12 Jiangeun Xihu District, Town centre of Tier2 ity Gommercial 4720 261,100 73.10% 39,708 59,69
Eiits Hangzhou ZEHERL 1!
M/ BE
13 Liang Cang Xaoshan, Hangzhou  Town centre of Tier 2cy  Residential 5,863 673,000 21.60% 57,394 114,788
REMH A& ZHERD fig
Subtotal for Hangzhou 1,294 5,067,273 1,262,909 3,917,337
st
14 Dragon Bay Yuyao, Ningbo Town centre of Tier 2 ¢ty Residential 8,892 1,750,013 90.0% 330,135 196,809
i3] B /i ZHEERD =z
15 Jade Mansion Yuyao, Ningbo Town centre of Tier 2 ¢ty Residential 3,804 1,113,754 93.0% 271,458 292,807
FRRE B/ ZHEERD 2
16 Zhong An Times Square Yuyao, Ningbo Town centre of Tier 2city  Commercial/hotel 1,154 362,640 65.8% 65,159 305,473
(Phase 2 /i ZEHERL Y
RRERES 4
17 Zhong An Times Sauare Yuyao, Ningbo Town centre of Tier2clty  Residential/office/hotel 1,030 332,760 93.0/68.0% 71519 322,912
Phase ) ER/ ZIRHERD 2/ H0e/BE
RRRRES -8
18 Zhong An Landscape Garden,  Cixi, Ningbo Tier 2 city with high growth  Residential/office/ 467 238,080 90.0% 197,655 510,125
Cix ER/ %% potenta comrmercial
BERZINGE —GRiER FE/H0e/mE
Subtotal for Ningbo 2,326 3,187,248 935,926 1,628,126
BR:t
Subtotal for Zhejiang 1,597 8,854,520 2,198,835 5,545,463
M
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale

HERRR NHENWE

Land Bank (sq.m.)
TGE(TRR)
Development Phases Types
Including RRES REME
Total GFA** investment Hold for
(sq.m,) properties  Completed for Under future  Residential & Commercial &

Address aREmEe s sale® development®  development® Facilties | Hotel ll Office Il
it (F5K)  REDE  MISE RS0 BEREER  GRREE BEI BEREAN
Ningwei Town, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang 67,693 67,5693 61,937 5,606
Province
FLaTRlIEEEE
Wenxing Road, Wenyan Town, Xiaoshan District, 132,545 24,328 132,545 105,337 27,208
Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province
HramimmLeREERER
Yucai Road, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang 68,345 52,086 16,260 68,345
Province
AN TRLES T
Yucai Road, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang 12,520 11,320 12,520 12,520
Province
FIANTRLESTH
Qianjiang Gentury Town, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, 725,933 513,231 265,134 470,799 230,013 101,500 393,920
Zhejiang Province
HIERAmRLESTE Y
Qianjiang Century Town, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, 1,098,065 998,015 1,098,065 1,098,065
Zhejiang Province
HIEMATRLRETHEN
Liuhe Road, Xianiin Town, Yuhang District, Hangzhou, 119,825 119,625 113,826 5,999
Zhejiang Province
AN D AMERIERNE
Southwest of Qiandachu Town, Chunan, Hangzhou, 46,691 23,801 46,691 22,890 23,801
Zhejiang Province
HIamimzz TENERE
Yuhang Economic Development Zone, Hangzhou, 340,156 340,156 326,797 14,359
Zhejiang Province
FLATNHANEERER
Shushan Town, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang 199,224 199,224 146,192 53,033
Province
FIAATRLESLEE
Future Hi-Tech City, Yuhang District, Hangzhou, Znhejiang 196,298 195,298 181,662 13,631
Province
AN HANERRR
Xihu District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province 59,555 59,556 59,555
HIamMmENE
Chengxiang Unit, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhefiang 114,788 114,788 114,788
Province
FLaATRLEARET

3,180,534 1,570,694 915,253 493,204 1,771,987 2,469,352 125,301 585,881
Xinjian North Road, Yuyao, Zhejiang Province 38,940 38,940 38,940
LA AR
Xinjian North Road, Yuyao, Zhejiang Province 145,163 124,634 20,529 145,163
LA AkmATRL R
Xinjian North Road, Yuyao, Zhejiang Province 305,473 132,886 305,473 114,671 20,624 170,178
LA AR
Xinjian North Road, Yuyao, Zhejiang Province 265,960 265,960 139,896 71,706 44348
IARRMATRLHS
Longshan New Town, Binghai District, Cidong, Cixi, 435,826 159,510 40,081 395,745 276,316 159,510

Zhejiang Province

FIAREERERRE LI

1,181,352 292,396 459,605 721,748 714,987 92,330 374,085

4,361,886 1,863,090 1,374,858 1,215,041 1,771,987 3,184,339 217,631 959,916
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale

HERERSHEENWE

% of
Land Cost interest
per sq.m. attributable

(RMB)  Land Cost to the Group Site Area
BEME  (RMB'000) A5H (squm,)

Project City/District Location Project Type (ARERL/  LfRE Pt R HEER  Project GFA*
BRER fim/B EER NERAME ¥r%)  (ARETR) MEA (Frk) BEAREER"
Anhui Province
7HE
19 Phase 1B, Green Harbour Hefei, Anhui Centre of new district in Residential 266 11,645 84.2% 64,376 43718
BEBEZ1BE ZH/ A Tier 2 city £z
A
20 Phase 1C, Green Harbour Hefei, Anhui Centre of new district in Residential 302 27,356 84.2% 58,723 90,453
BEEESICH /AR Tier 2 city =
TR
21 Phase 2, Green Harbour Hefei, Anhui Centre of new district in Residential 376 40,708 84.2% 269,000 108,200
EE L %/ AR Tier 2 cty fr
AL
22 Phases 3-6, Green Harbour ~ Hefel, Anhui Centre of new district in Residential 532 298,100 84.2% 1,395,000 560,300
HEEEEE6H ZH/ A Tier 2 city =z
ki T
iuﬂtﬁtjn;l for Hefei 4n 317,809 1,787,099 802,671
RICN
28 Phase 1, Vancouver City Huaiei, Anhi Centre of new district in Residential 35 5809 100.0% 197,000 168,088
RFENE 28/ Tier 3 city fr
=R
24 Phase 2 South, Vancouver City - Huaibel, Anhui Gentre of new district in Residential 3 3,483 100.0% 161,247 100,771
BTEN S8 2/ Tier 3 iy =
=AD
2 Phase 2 North, Vancouver City  Huaibei, Anhui Centre of new district in Residential 34 2,504 100.0% 84,330 75,027
prEERE ) R/ Tier 3 oty frz
=BT
26 Phase 3A, Vancouver Gty Hualoei, Anhui Centre of new district in Residential 3 4974 100.0% 139,383 143,941
AT E A T/ Tier 3 iy frz
SR
21 Phase 3B-3D, Vancouver ity Huaibei, Anhui Centre of new district in Residential 35 10,708 100.0% 214,217 309,712
BIFENEBEDS 28/l Tier 3 cly %
=AY
28 Phase 4 North, Vancouver City  Huaibe, Anhui Centre of new district in Residential 3 10,286 100.0% 296,704 297,636
BFEE 4B 2/ Tier 3 iy =
=AD
29 Phase 4 South, Vancouver City - Huaibel, Anhui Centre of new district in Residential 35 3,863 100.0% 82,540 111,787
BTERE4EE R/ Tier 3 oty frz
SR
30 Phase 5 North, Vancouver City - Huaibei, Anhui Centre of new district in Residential 3 2,336 100.0% 265,310 67,607
BEEA S 28/ Tier 3 ciy =z
SHaTR D
31 Phase 5 South, Vancouver City - Huaibei, Anhui Centre of new district in Residential 35 1,228 100.0% 81,511 35,021
BEEAE R 28/l Tier 3 clty fz
=AY
32 Phase 6, Vancouver City Huaibei, Anhui Centre of new district in Residential 2 1,952 100.0% 36,386 60.708
TS0 2/ Tier 3 iy =
=AD
33 Phase 6D, Vancouver City Huaioei, Anhui Centre of new district in Hotel 30 2,025 100.0% 60,768 67,061
preE=E): R/ Tier 3 oty il
SR
34 Phase 7, Vancouver City Hualoei, Anhui Centre of new district in Residential 3 4721 100.0% 80,201 136,772
BFENETH 28/ Tier 3 city =z
=BT
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale

HERRR NHENWE

Land Bank (sq.m.)
T (FAR)
Development Phases Types
Including LEGE REtR
Total GFA* investment Hold for
(sq.m,) properties  Completed for Under future  Residential & Commercial &

Address aRgmEe HEhaf sale” development ®  development® Facilties | Hotel ll Office ll
it (FA%) ReEnx BRIRHEC BER? RBHARERY  HEREE EEI BERBAN
Landu Road, Baohe Qistrict, Hefei, Anhui Province 8,385 8,385 368 8,027
ZRASETEARRER
Landu Road, Baohe District, Hefei, Anhui Province 23,542 23,542 23,542
ZHAAETRTRHEE
Landu Road, Baohe stmct, Hefei, Anhui Province 108,200 108,200 108,200
ZHASETRTRRER
Landu Road, Baohe I}lsmct, Hefei, Anhui Province 560,300 560,300 560,300
THE AT ETRRER

700,427 31,921 668,500 692,400 8,027
Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Huaibei, Anhui Province 3,099 3,099 3,099 3,099
RRAELTALEARE
Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Huaibei, Anhui Province 6,916 6,916 6,916
ZHAEL MR AR
Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Huaibei, Anhui Province 9,760 9,760 9,760
ZHERLTRLEARS
Renmin Road, Xiengshen District, Huaibe, Anfui Province 6,173 6,173 6,173
RHAEL AL ARE
Renmin Road, Xiangshan Distrct, Huaibe, Anhui Province 214,739 91,365 0 183,374 267,088 7,651
RRAELTALEARE
Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Huaibei, Anhui Province 17121 17,121 17,121
ZHERITELEARS
Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Huaibei, Anhui Province 11,787 111,787 11,787
ZHERLTRLEARS
Renmin Road, Xiengshen District, Huaibe, Anfui Province 53,024 53,024 53,024
RHAELMRLEARE
Renmin Road, Xiangshan Distrct, Huaibe, Anhui Province 35,021 35,521 36,521
RRAELTALEARE
Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Huaibei, Anhui Province 33,061 33,061 2,642 30419
ZHERITRLEARS
Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Huaibei, Anhui Province 67,061 67,061 67,061 67,061
ZHERLTRLEARS
Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Huaibei, Anhui Province 136,772 136,772 136,772

ZREELTALEARS
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale

HERERSHEENWE

% of
Land Cost interest
per sq.m. attributable

(RMB)  Land Cost to the Group Site Area
BEME  (RMB'000) A5H (squm,)

Project City/District Location Project Type (ARERL/  LfRE Pt R HEER  Project GFA*
=R fim/B EER NERAME ¥iK)  (AR¥TT) MEA (Frk) BEAREER"
35 Southwest of Times Square,  Huaibel, Anhui Centre of new district in Residential
Vancouver Cit 28/ Tier 3.ty frg
RFEN (RREAEE) =AD
36 Northeast of Times Square, ~ Huaibel, Anhui Centre of new district in Residential 35 2,862 100.0% 87,072 82,815
Vancouver Cit 2/ Tier 3 iy frE
RFE (BRERRL) SR
Subtotal of Huaibei 4 56,802 1,835,759 1,657,446
N
Subtotal of Anhui 177 434,611 3,622,858 2,460,117
RENG
37 Tianjin Tianjin Centre of Tier 1 Cty Residential 125,000 17,282
R RE —BmRL fiz
Overseas
B *
3 AmberRise ABTRE/ATE —HETH Residentia 11,20 86,497 100.0% 16,715 7,719
fr
Total 1,183 9,500,628 5,854,689 8,030,581
&5t
* including those with land use right and contractual interests
. including those with construction being completed but not sold and delivered
i Total GFA= D+ @+® =1+ Il + Il
2 under renovation

“ allocated land

* BIEERS T EREARER S RS < i)
** BEERITERHERRTHRERS

& HEEEE=0+Q+O =+l +1I

e RETRETH

a b bl
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale

HERRR NHENWE

Land Bank (sq.m.)
T (FAR)
Development Phases Types
Including LEGE REtR
Total GFA* investment Hold for
(sq.m,) properties  Completed for Under future  Residential & Commercial &
Address aRgmEe HEhaf sale” development ®  development® Facilties | Hotel ll Office ll
it (FA%) ReEnx BRIRHEC RERC HUARERS  HERER BEN  EERBAN
Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Huaibei, Anhui Province
ZHEELTRLEARE
Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Huaibei, Anhui Province 82815 82,815 82,815 82,815
RHAELMALEARE
837,849 152,975 220,519 67,061 550,269 633,715 67,061 137,073
1,538,276 152,975 252,446 67,061 1,218,769 1,326,115 67,061 145,100
17,282 17,282 17,282
2185 Union Avenue, West Vancouver, 7,719 7,719 7,719
British Columbia, Canada
NEARBHRLEEE
RAETHAE2186%
5,925,163 2,016,066 1,627,304 1,280,821 3,008,038 4,535,455 284,692 1,105,016
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Summary of Financial Information

MBENHE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the

AEERFEEAMNERRYBRRNTIA
ERBEEFRENEE  BEIFHERESOH

published audited financial statements. BEWT :
Results E
Year ended 31 December
HZE12A31BLLEE
2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
2016 & 20154 20144 20134 20124
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Revenue A 5,007,148 2,883,146 1,550,105 2,437,605 2,395,625
Profit before tax BRA% AT FE 249,212 1,008,594 639,413 824,174 696,831
Income Tax FriS#i (88,250) (415,292) (237,657) (366,160) (306,778)
Profit for the year FRFE 160,962 593,302 401,756 458,014 390,053
Attributable to: AR A -
Owners of the parent SFARIER A 125,272 420,608 319,725 420,539 336,228
Non-controlling interests EEaliig 35,690 172,694 82,031 37,475 53,825
160,962 593,302 401,756 458,014 390,053
Assets, Liabilities and Non-controlling Interests ¥E - & RFZRER
31 December
128318
2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
2016 & 20154 20144 20134 20124
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Total Assets BEE 20,270,441 22,089,407 20,760,707 17,143,648 14,885,603
Total Liabilities weE (12,559,306) (14,536,641) (13,767,310) (10,954,046)  (9,184,457)
Non-controlling Interests IR AR 2 (1,172,233) (1,142,543 (990,849) (302,700) (303,925)
6,538,902 6,410,223 6,002,548 5,886,902 5,397,221
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